EFELEL NN
KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESFSEMA L 2BRAT)
Stock Code IR 1X55% : 148

ANNUAL REPORT EE£3 2023

_ LEADING
% glﬁ I%E;%TURE




CONTENTS
B &%

B~ NO

2
49
/3
81

Corporate Information
AEEH

Financial Highlights
HBEE

Chairman’s Statement

ESE

Directors’ and Senior Management’s

Biographies
EERSREBABZER
Directors’ Report

ExeRs

Corporate Governance Report
hEERBRE

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYREERE

Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss

meERER

3
3
8
3
O

201
204

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

FeBEBERAMEEKRER

Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

mE BRI R

Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

RERRBER

Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

FERSRER

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

REMBRERME

Information on the Group’s Properties

SEYEER

Financial Summary

PEHE



O

CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

Ms. Ho Kin Fan

Mr. Chen Maosheng

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Ming Man
Dr. Chong Kin Ki

Mr. Chan Wing Kee
Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lo Ka Leong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

=g

BITES

REVRSEE (L)

BB MRS (B FAATIE)
RS

AR St

RRMSEE

st

BRI R SE

BUFHTES
REAGSEE
ArERmEs
BRI S
ERE k.

/

BME

4l

>

i
g

H

FEERRIT

BARITARAR
BITIRIT(FE)BR AR
EELBELRITARAR

D

=% o R GRTENTT
HEE AT A
AR s B RE R BUAD



O

CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEHR

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISERS

Allen & Overy

REGISTERED OFFICE

Whitehall House

238 North Church Street
P.O. Box 1043

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE

OF BUSINESS

23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun

Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A,

Block 3, Building D,

P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1100, Cayman Island

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR IN
HONG KONG

Tricor Secretaries Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

BEHEERRAA

BRAEER

g lEilURE T E S

AR SR

Whitehall House

238 North Church Street
P.O. Box 1043

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

RNSERETEEF MR

&

AL H

AP RHE3R
fEiE KN E2318
BB EE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A,

Block 3, Building D,

P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1100, Cayman Island

RINECEEEBTE

BEMEEKER AR
6

EBIE165%
BRSSP LTE

B FFR



O

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FY 2023 FY 2022 Change
—EB-=F T —F
HBEE WmER b=
HK$'million BE#&t HK$'milion HEETT
Revenue EEH 39,712.5 49,375.9 -20%
EBITDA* RIRFNE ~ B\ -
B T M 8 B B R 6,139.0 9,445.3 -35%
Profit before tax* R A 3R> 3,025.2 7,050.0 -57%
Net profit attributable to owners  ZxA T35 A FE{L 4 F|
of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — E ARG R 2,274.3 3,882.7 -41%
— Reported net profit —AREAEF 2,063.0 3,655.2 -44%
Basic earnings per share BEREXRF
- Based on underlying net profit* — ARG FIETE HK$2.052 HK$3.502 1%
2.052%8 7T 3.502/8 7T
- Based on reported net profit —UABREALRMEE HK$1.861 HK$3.297 _44%
1.861% T 3.2977# 7T
Dividend per share for the year BEREERE HK102 cents HK105 cents 3%
10278l 1057811l
— Interim dividend per share — TR EARR & HK16 cents HK30 cents 47%
16581l 3074811l
— Special Interim dividend per share  — &% 4RI HAR% 2. HK50 cents -
5038l - VA
— Proposed final dividend per share  — 2% SR K A% 2 HK36 cents HK75 cents .
36381 757l o2
Net asset value per share BREERE HK$53.9 HK$54.2 1%
53.98 T 54.27%7T
Net gearing FEELE 29% 20%
* Excluding: . TeiE

(1)

In 2023, net loss on fair value changes of investment properties with gross
amount of HK$113.4 million, net amount of HK$100.1 million after share by
non-controlling shareholders and deferred tax (2022: Net loss on fair value
changes of investment properties with gross amount of HK$147.6 million,
net amount of HK$114.8 million after share by non-controlling shareholders
and deferred tax).

In 2023, share-based payments with gross amount of HK$124 million, net
amount of HK$111.2 million after share of non-controlling shareholders
(2022: Share-based payments with gross amount of HK$125.3 million, net
amount of HK$112.7 million after share of non-controlling shareholders).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am delighted to report
the full-year results of Kingboard Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Period”). During the Period, geopolitical conflicts persisted while inflation
and interest rates remained high, leading to weak consumer confidence
that impacted various industries. Despite facing complex market challenges,
the Kingboard team persevered and achieved satisfactory results against
a backdrop of weak market conditions and a high-cost environment. This
was made possible by leveraging the competitive advantages of the Group’s
vertically integrated supply chain and a diversified business portfolio. After
deducting allowances for credit loss of a loan to Country Garden Holdings
Company Limited made by the Group, in the amount of HK$893.9 million,
and that for impairment loss (net of deferred tax) for the unsold residential
properties in eastern China held by the Group, in the amount of HK$414.8
million, the Group reported an underlying net profit of over HK$2,200 million.
The Period saw the majority of printed circuit board factories on the Chinese
Mainland recording low utilisation rates. However, the Group’s Printed Circuit
Boards (“PCBs”) Division, with its balanced market segment portfolio and
continuous expansion, defied this trend and achieved near-full utilisation
rates in its factories, resulting in increased segment earnings. The Property
Division’s rental portfolio also delivered a stable cash inflow, attributable to a
rise in occupancy rates, the consecutive expiration of rent-free periods, and
the contribution of Two London Wall Place, a commercial tower acquired by
the Group in June 2022. As a result, the Property Division experienced steady
growth in rental income.

The Group’s revenue decreased 20% compared with the same period last
year, to HK$39,712.5 million for the Period. The revenue drop was attributable
to declines in the selling prices of laminates and chemical products, as well
as a decrease in the handover of residential properties. Underlying net profit
attributable to the owners of the Company (excluding non-recurring items)
decreased by 41% to HK$2,274.3 million.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The Group maintained a robust financial position. The Board has therefore
proposed a final dividend of HK36 cents, subject to approval by the
shareholders’ meeting of the Company.

Turnover Breakdown by Products ZE & £ % 20
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PERFORMANCE

Laminates Division: During the period, the decline in electronics industry
demand, coupled with the overall expansion in laminates production capacity
over the previous two years, has led to excess capacity in the industry.
Despite the resulting intense market competition, the Group has successfully
leveraged its vertically integrated supply chain, continuous technological
enhancements, and stringent cost control, to strengthen its competitive
position. Together with active new business development and end customer
certification, the Group now commands a broader and more diversified
clientele network, enabling the division to achieve an annual sales volume of
100 million sheets, representing a 3% increase from 2022. Furthermore, the
Laminates Division has actively expanded into new market areas, optimizing
its product portfolio with significant growth in the sales of high-end, high-
value-added products. However, segment revenue (including inter-segment
sales) was adversely affected by the general decline in laminate selling prices,
and recorded a decrease of 14% to HK$17,182.7 million. Fierce competition
in the industry during the Period, with selling prices dropping more steeply
than production costs, resulted in a year-on-year decrease in gross
profit margin, leading many industry participants to incur losses in 2023.
Nevertheless, with its experienced management team’s continuous efforts
to raise efficiency and reduce energy consumption through technological
enhancements, and to achieve labour cost savings by increasing automation
at its facilities, the Group has effectively buffered the pressure brought by the
decline in gross profit margin. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation (“EBITDA”) were down 20% to HK$2,486 million.

PCBs Division: The division continually seeks to expand its sales in various
market segments, including the automobile, telecommunications and
consumer electronics sectors. At the same time, the division has continued
to recruit high-quality management and professional technical talents, and
to invest in advanced equipment to set up highly automated production
lines at its facilities. As a result, the division has achieved solid progress in
the development of high-end PCBs, building a higher-value-added product
portfolio. Making the market and efficiency top priority, the division has
adopted a modern manufacturing execution system (MES) and implemented
full-process precise quality traceability and analysis, to further improve
production efficiency and product quality. The PCBs Division benefited from
lower costs of its core raw material, as laminate prices dropped as compared
to 2022. This, coupled with the management’s continued efforts in driving
technological enhancement and production automation to raise efficiency and
reduce costs, has helped deliver a 17% increase in EBITDA to HK$2,027.7
million despite a 12% decrease in segment revenue to HK$11,647.8 million.

Chemicals Division: The drop of selling prices of chemical products in 2023
as compared to 2022 had an adverse impact on the overall performance
of the Chemicals Division. Segment revenue (including inter-segment sales)
reported a 19% decrease to HK$11,198.9 million. EBITDA was down by 68%
to HK$896.4 million.
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PERFORMANCE (continued)

Property Division: The Property Division recorded a 74% decline in
revenue from property sales to HK$1,281.7 million due to reduced delivery of
residential properties. Rental income increased 14% to HK$1,470.5 million,
on the back of higher occupancy rates and the expiration of rent-free periods,
as well as the contribution from Two London Wall Place, a commercial tower
acquired by the Group in June 2022. The segment revenue of the Property
Division decreased 56% to HK$2,752.2 million, with EBITDA also decreasing
by 62% to HK$1,161.3 million.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial position remained robust. As at 31 December 2023,
Group net current assets and current ratio (i.e. current assets divided
by current liabilities) were HK$25,252.7 million (31 December 2022:
HK$28,108.6 million) and 2.33 (31 December 2022: 2.64) respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased to 65 days as at 31 December 2023
from 50 days as at 31 December 2022 on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, were 43 days (31
December 2022: 35 days).

- Trade receivables, in terms of debtor turnover days, were 60 days (31
December 2022: 50 days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for properties, plant
and equipment), in terms of creditor turnover days, were 38 days (31
December 2022: 35 days).
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of bank borrowings net of bank balances
and cash to total equity) was approximately 29% (31 December 2022:
20%). The proportion of short-term to long-term bank borrowings stood at
36%:64% (31 December 2022: 27%:73%). During the Period, the Group
invested approximately HK$4,200 million on new production capacity and
approximately HK$840 million on property construction expenses. Leveraging
on the management team’s ample professional experience, the Group
strongly believes these investments will create stable and solid returns for
shareholders in the long run. During the Period, the Group continued to adopt
a prudent financial management policy, and did not enter into any material
derivative financial instruments, nor did the Group have any material foreign
exchange exposure. The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars, was fairly matched with the currency
requirements of its operating expenses. The Group maintains adequate
financial resources in reserve to meet future market expansion needs. During
the Period, the Group successfully signed a 5-year sustainability-linked loan
facility agreement with more than 10 major international and local banks. The
syndicated facility received an overwhelming response from the market and
was significantly oversubscribed. The final size of the loan came to HK$7
billion, reflecting the Group’s efforts towards its sustainability goals, as well as
the banking industry’s trust and support of the Group’s environmental, social
and governance (ESG) work.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a global workforce of
approximately 34,000 (31 December 2022: 35,000). Acknowledging the
importance of staff members, the Group continues to prioritize sound human
resources management and planning, which in turn drives satisfactory
financial performance. In addition to offering competitive salary packages, the
Group grants share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible employees
based on the Group’s overall financial achievements and employees’
individual performance. Kingboard Management Academy, established by
the Group, has actively nurtured mid-rank and senior management personnel
over the years. Furthermore, the Group recruits and nurtures several hundred
promising university graduates from the Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and
Taiwan every year. The Group will continue to implement talent development
programmes to inject new vitality into future long-term growth, maximizing its
potential and reach.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

@

The Group provided guarantees amounting to HK$322,266,000 (2022:
HK$556,851,000) as at 31 December 2023 to facilitate mortgage
bank loans applications of purchasers of the properties that were
developed by the Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of registration of the relevant
mortgage properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017, Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the KLHL.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

(continued)

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial was originally listed for a five-day hearing from 16 January
to 20 January 2023. On 7 December 2022, the Petitioner made an
application for a letter of request to be issued by the Supreme Court
of Bermuda and addressed to the Supreme Court of Singapore
(the “Singapore Letter of Request”) for its assistance in the ordering
against two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents
in their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period at least two months. Further to a hearing on 14
December 2022, the issue of the Singapore Letter of Request and
the adjournment were order by the Court. Despite the adjournment,
expert reports were exchanged in 16 November 2022, and a joint
expert report has been filed on or around 22 December 2022.

On 27 July 20283, the Petitioner made another application for a Letter
of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 24 August
2023, the issue of the Hong Kong Letter of Request was ordered by
the Court on 7 September 2023.

On 18 September 2023, the Petitioner filled a Notice to Admit Facts
requiring the Group to admit several facts related to and/or referred to
in the evidence in support of the Hong Kong Letter of Request. On 28
September 2023, the Group filed a Notice of Non-Admission. The trial
of this matter is to be relisted.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the Board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with the claim.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

PROSPECTS

Echoing the state’s aim for peak carbon dioxide by 2030 and
carbon neutrality by 2060, the Group is adopting a professional and
systematic approach to establish distributed solar photovoltaic
power projects in all buildable area within the facilities in stages. As
of 31 December 2023, the project has received a total investment of
HK$480 million, generating 100 million kWh of green electricity per
year, equivalent to annual energy saving of 27,000 tons of standard
coal, reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 60,000 tons, and saving
HK$90 million of electricity expenses when calculated according to
the market price. As of 31 December 2024, the project will receive
an estimated total investment of approximately HK$900 million,
expecting to generate 200 million kWh of green electricity per year,
equivalent to annual energy saving of 54,000 tons of standard coal,
reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 120,000 tons, and saving
HK$180 million of electricity expenses when calculated according
to the market price. Besides, with about HK$130 million invested in
thermal energy recovery equipment to reduce 44,000 tons of carbon
dioxide emissions annually, equivalent to annual energy saving of
18,000 tons of standard coal, the Group saves about HK$140 million in
expenses annually, totally saving more than HK$300 million, bringing
long-term benefits. Making use of the advanced and low-energy-
consuming carbon capture technology developed by the School
of Environment, Tsinghua University, the Hebei acetic acid project
is designed to capture 200,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide to use at
the production for acetic acid per year, equivalent to annual energy
saving of 81,000 tons of standard coal, moving forward the Group’s
pledge of being a green corporation. These efforts reflect the Group’s
dedication to achieving the sustainable development goals under its
ESG mission. Stepping into 2024, with consumer sentiment and business
confidence gradually improving, it is expected that the Group’s business
segments will demonstrate a positive development trend. The Group will
continue to strengthen cash flow management, and tightly control fixed
asset investments and operating costs. Building on its solid performance,
the Group will carry through its strategy of maintaining a diversified and
synergistic business portfolio, while deriving competitive advantage from its
vertical production model. Strict cost control measures will be in place as the
Group works to boost technological impetus and proactively deploy big data
management to enhance operational efficiency. The Group will also continue
to focus on research and development upgrades, safe production, and
improving environmental performance, promoting new-quality productivity in
order to achieve high-quality sustainable development.
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P ROS P ECTS (continued)

Laminates Division: Inventories of PCBs makers and end-user customers
have substantially been cleared up after a downward cycle of nearly two
years. Export orders are gradually picking up, with rapid growth in demand
for new energy vehicles and peripheral products such as charging stations,
the popularization of photovoltaics and other clean energy sources, and
widespread application of artificial intelligence (Al) and big data technologies.
It is expected that the laminates market will gradually stabilise and rebound.
The Group has completed the development of low dielectric constant/low
thermal expansion coefficient products for Al computing applications. These
products have a high proportion of domestic materials and are currently
undergoing comprehensive testing with customers. In line with the demands
of the Group’s PCBs production and the industry, the products are actively
being introduced to the market. Furthermore, raw material prices have
been consistently dropping during this market downturn. While this trend
has put tremendous price pressure on the Group’s inventory materials, it
is worth noting that almost all raw materials used in laminates production,
save for copper, have now reached extremely low price points. This is
set to improve the Group’s gross profit margin in 2024. All business units
remain steadfast in their commitment to upholding high quality standards
while maintaining effective cost controls. It is also anticipated that the years
of research and development invested in by the Group will gradually yield
positive results. Moving forward, the division will continue to collaborate with
premium customers, working together towards the certification of high-end
products by end customers. The Group has plans to expand its laminates
monthly capacities in Thailand in 2024 by 400,000 sheets to cope with the
development pace.

PCBs Division: The Group possesses multifaceted advantages that
target segments such as automotive, telecommunications, and consumer
electronics. These include supreme craftsmanship, comprehensive
certification and excellent quality. Currently, the division has a robust
order pipeline, with a notable demand for PCBs in new energy vehicle and
photovoltaic applications. The division is continuously evolving towards
higher technical content, focusing on areas like high aspect ratio and high
precision alignment. These ongoing efforts aim to build a portfolio of higher-
value-added products whilst forging a closer collaborative ecosystem
with customers. In order to embrace the explosive development of Al, we
have increased investment and technical reserves in high-aspect-ratio
electroplating technology, advanced back-drilling technology, heavy copper
PCBs manufacturing capability, and the use of ultra-high-speed materials. The
Group is also actively investing in new technologies, particularly in the areas
of 6G mobile telecommunications, high-speed servo, 4D imaging mmwave
radar for vehicles, and high-voltage fast charging. The division is committed
to strengthening the core competitiveness of its various PCB brands, namely
Elec & Eltek, Techwise Circuits and Express Electronics. In order to increase
the industry penetration of Kingboard’s PCBs, the division plans to bring in an
additional 200,000 square feet of monthly capacity for multi-layered PCBs in
Thailand in 2024.
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P ROS P ECTS (continued)

Chemicals Division: The state continues to prioritise a development mode
that emphasizes ecological protection and green transition in 2024. The
Chemicals Division will take part in this national effort by actively promoting
production safety and meeting emission standards. Additionally, the division
will strive to enhance production efficiency and optimise resources utilisation
to reduce energy consumption. The majority of the division’s phenol acetone
and Bisphenol A output is driven by the demand for engineering-grade plastic
materials used to lower the weight of new energy vehicles, photovoltaic film
applied to solar power generators, and electric cables and wing paddles
in wind turbines. To meet this growing demand, the annual 450,000-tonne
phenol acetone project in Daya Bay, Huizhou, Guangdong Province, was
commissioned in the second half of 2023, while the annual 240,000-tonne
Bisphenol A project also went into production in the first half of 2024. Acetic
acid is another major chemical that has a wide range of applications. As
the downstream market grows, there has been a corresponding increase in
demand for acetic acid. To this end, plans are underway to build an acetic
acid project in Xingtai City, Hebei Province, with an annual capacity of
800,000 tonnes. The project will also adopt the advanced and energy-efficient
carbon capture technology developed by the School of Environment, Tsinghua
University. This new project will enable the Group to expand its presence in
the chemicals industry. The Chemicals Division is dedicated to leveraging
innovation and technology, while promoting enterprise-wide transformation
towards a high-quality, green and low-carbon trajectory.

Property Division: With a portfolio of development properties invested
in and mainly funded internally by the Group over the past few years, and
the sales of completed residential properties primarily with no project loans
attached currently, the division was therefore able to successfully mitigate
the challenges in the Mainland property market. Adhering to the division’s
cautious business strategy, there has been no acquisition of new land bank
in the past five years. Instead, priority has been given to the scheduled sales
of residential projects in eastern China, aiming to expedite capital recycling.
In parallel, the division is recording steady growth in rental income, which is
estimated to exceed HK$1,400 million for the full year of 2024. The Group
has strategically balanced its investment property portfolio across the United
Kingdom, Hong Kong, and eastern and southern China, contributing to risk
diversification and ensuring a continuous influx of stable cash flow for the
Group.
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APPRECIATION i

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to all AAERRESSHEHASURE - BF - R
our shareholders, clients, banks, management, and employees for their T BREAEBEREIBE TFHEBEZERY
unwavering support to the Group over the past year. B S #5 A RODRE o

Cheung Kwok Wing TE

Chairman REQS

Hong Kong, 18 March 2024 A ZTZWFE=A+//\H
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEAEBZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wing, aged 68, GBS, JP, is the chairman and a co-
founder of the Group. He was the chairman and a non-executive director of
Elec & Eltek International Company Limited (“EEIC”), which is a subsidiary of
the Company listed on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”)
and dual-listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) until delisted on 25 September 2020 up to 1 August 2019. Mr.
Cheung was the chairman and director of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings
Limited which is the subsidiary of the Company (listed on the SGX until
delisted on 10 June 2019) up to 3 January 2012. Mr. Cheung is a director
of Hallgain Management Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is the uncle of Ms. Ho Kin Fan, the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong
Kwan, the brother-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang
and the father of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. Mr. Cheung had over 13 years’
experience in the sales and distribution of electronic components including
laminates prior to the establishment of the Group. Mr. Cheung is responsible
for the overall strategic planning of the Group and sets the general direction
and goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung won the Young Industrialist Award of
Hong Kong 1993, which was organized by the Federation of Hong Kong
Industries (“FHKI”) and was described as “far-sighted, enterprising, and
having insight in the business”. Mr. Cheung was the winner of the DHL/SCMP
Hong Kong Business Award, accredited with the Owner-Operator Award in
2006. In 2011, Mr. Cheung was awarded the Honorary University Fellowships
of The University of Hong Kong. Since 2013, Mr. Cheung was appointed
as a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of The People’s Republic of China. In 2017, Mr.
Cheung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. In 2021, Mr. Cheung was awarded the
2021 Industrialist of the Year Award by FHKI and the Leader of the year 2020,
winner of category of “Commence & Industry/Finance” by Singtao Post. In
2023, Mr. Cheung was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the Government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. CHANG Wing Yiu, aged 57, is the managing director of the Group. He is
the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the uncle-in-law of Ms. Ho Kin
Fan and Mr. Cheung Ka Shing. He joined the Group in 1989 and has over
34 years’ experience in laminates production. Mr. Chang graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in marine electronics.
He is responsible for the Group’s phenol/acetone plant in Yangzhou, Jiangsu
province and in Huizhou, Guangdong province. He was re-designated from
a non-executive director to an executive director of EEIC with effect from 1
August 2014.
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EERGREBABZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Kwong Kwan, aged 59, J.P., is an executive director of KHL
and the president of South China Chemical Department. is the cousin of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing and the uncle of Ms. Ho Kin Fan and Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing. He joined the Group in 1988 and has been working in the PCB industry
since 1984 with particularly extensive experience in marketing components
and materials required for PCB production. Mr. Cheung is responsible for
the Group’s chemical business operations and property developments in
southern China. He obtained the 16th World Outstanding Chinese Award in
August 2018. He was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in 2020 and was honored as a member of
the Standing Committee and the deputy director of the Hong Kong, Macao
and Taiwan Commission of the 13th Guangdong Provincial Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2023, and
was appointed as the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangzhou
Community Organisations in March 2024,

Mr. HO Yin Sang, aged 69, is the father of Ms. Ho Kin Fan, the brother-in-
law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and the uncle-in-law of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.
He joined the Group in 1989 and is responsible for the Group’s chemical
business operations in Hebei province and the rental business of the
properties in southern China.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Shing, aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 1 August 2014. He joined the Group in 2009 and is
responsible for the property development business of the Group in eastern
China. Mr. Cheung obtained his Bachelor of Science degree in the study of
Management with International Business at the University of London in 2009.
Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, the cousin of Ms. Ho Kin
Fan and the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and nephew-in-law of Mr.
Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.

Ms. Ho Kin Fan, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director on 1
October 2021. She joined the Group in 2006 and she is responsible for
the Group’s PCB plants in Huizhou, Qingyuan and Dongguan, Guangdong
province and has over 12 years’ experience in PCB business. She is the
daughter of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, niece of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang
Wing Yiu and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the cousin of Mr. Cheung Ka
Shing.

Mr. CHEN Maosheng, aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director
on 11 January 2011. He joined the Group in 1996 and is currently the chief
financial controller of the Group in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
He is responsible for the management of the finance and tax matters of the
Group in the PRC and the Group’s PCB plants in eastern China. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked with the finance and economics department of
the government of the PRC for 12 years. Mr. Chen graduated from Jiangxi
Finance and Economics University (formerly known as Jiangxi Finance and
Economics Institution) in 1990. He is an accountant certified by the finance
department of the government of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERGREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Man, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 November 2015. Mr.
Cheung is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company,
and a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience in the performance
and cultural sector. Mr. Cheung participated in a number of community
associations, including the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association (Vice Honorary Secretary); The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Election Committee (First, Second and Third Election Committee
Member); Deputy of the National People’s Congress of PRC Election
Committee (Ninth, Tenth and Eleventh Election Committee Member) and
was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2010. Mr. Cheung was elected as
the Hong Kong deputy to the 12th National People’s Congress in December
2012. Mr. Cheung was an independent non-executive director of Mei Ah
Entertainment Group Limited (stock code: 00391), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. CHONG Kin Ki, aged 68, was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 July 2016. Dr. Chong is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Dr. Chong obtained
a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from the University of
Hong Kong in 1980. He became a Fellow of the Royal College of Surgeons
of Edinburgh in 1984, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine in 1993, a Foundation Fellow of the Hong Kong College of Surgeons
in 1993. Dr. Chong has been a private medical practitioner since 1989 and
become a Registered Specialist in General Surgery since 1993.

Mr. CHAN Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 77, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 1 July, 2017. He received a
Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and he has over 50
years of experience in the textiles and garment manufacturing industry. Mr.
Chan joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294), a garment
manufacturer, in 1970 as was appointed as a managing director in 1987
and has been an executive director of which since then. He is an executive
director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375), a marketer and builder
of international apparel brands in Asia. He is a Standing Committee Member
of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of Ching;
Member of the Selection Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau
Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of the Hong Kong Textile Advisory
Board; Committee Ex-Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong, aged 54, was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 31 October 2020. Mr. Chung is
also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and a member of
the nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Chung graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce Degree from the University
of Melbourne in 1993. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is a certified practicing accountant of CPA
Australia. Mr. Chung possesses over 27 years’ experience in accounting
and financial management. He had also served as the financial controller for
a number of listed companies in Hong Kong between 1997 and 2010, and
as the Chief Financial Officer in Asia for both private and public multinational
companies over the past decade. Mr. Chung was appointed as the financial
controller and company secretary of the Company from 1997 to 2001, and as
an independent non-executive director of Elec & Eltek International Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, from 2011 to 12 October 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 50, the company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”), joined the Group in May 1999. Prior to that, he was
an accountant at an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is in charge of the company secretarial work of the Group. He is
a non-executive director of KLHL, a 73.76% owned subsidiary listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lo has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December 2023 in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures are set out in Notes 45, 19 and
20 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Product defects

The products of the Group may contain defects that can only be detected
when the electronics systems into which they are incorporated are in use.
The Group could be exposed to significant liability claims in the event that its
products are found to be defective. While the Group has implemented sound
systems to monitor its products at various stages of its production processes,
no assurance can be given that the Group’s products are free of defects.
Any significant liability claims could have an adverse impact on the results of
operations and reputation of the Group.

Customer contracts

The Group typically enters into one-off purchase orders with its customers. As
such, the amount of purchase orders may vary significantly from time to time,
and it is difficult to forecast the amount of orders to be received by the Group
in the future. No assurance can be given that the Group’s customers will
continue to place purchase orders with it in the future in similar amounts to
prior periods, if at all. As a result, the results of operations of the Group may
vary significantly in the future.

Competitive industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained
in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report is available on our website on the same
date of publishment of this annual report. The English and Chinese
versions of the ESG Report are available on the Company’s website
at http://www.kingboard.com and the HKEX news’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk. You may access the ESG Report by clicking “Investor”
on the home page of our website, then selecting “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” under “Reports” and viewing them requires Adobe®
Reader® or browsing through the HKEX new’s website.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular
basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that have a significant impact on the Group.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with the
market standard. The Group reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living environment to
the employees regularly. The Group organises various recreational activities
for its staff to participate to maintain a close relationship with its employees.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
of products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 81.

An interim dividend of HK16 cents per ordinary share amounting to
HK$177,330,000 and a special interim dividend of HK50 cents per ordinary
share amounting to HK$554,155,000 were declared to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) during the year. The directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK36 cents per ordinary share to the
Shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 18 June 2024,
being the record date for determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to
the proposed final dividend, amounting to HK$398,992,000 in aggregate,
and the retention of the remaining profit in the Company.

For the final dividend in respect of year ended 31 December 2023 proposed
by the Directors and subject to the approval by the Shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting, please refer to Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held in aggregate HK$11,987 million
(2022: HK$7,171 million) investments in securities instruments, representing
approximately 12% (2022: 7%) of the total assets of the Group as at 31
December 2023. These securities investment consist of mostly shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and bonds issued mainly
by companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group
acquired these securities instruments through on-market purchases.
The Group will from time to time monitor the price movement of prices in
securities and bonds and may adjust its investment portfolio as and when
appropriate.
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The following table sets out the securities investments held by the Group
in respect of the same issuer which the Group considers to be relatively
important as at 31 December 2023. None of the value of the following (or
any other) securities investments of the Company, on a standalone or (where
applicable) aggregate basis reached 5% or more of the total assets of the
Company as of the end of the reporting period:
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*Accumulated
Fair value fair value
as at % to the loss up to
Number of % of Investment 31 December  Group’stotal 31 December
Name of investments bond held bonds held cost 2023 assets 2023
WE-RCZE
\Z82= tZB=1-A
KBS KBS E+ZB=t-8 HAEE ES
REER HE] BAl RENA MATE  AEERMM ATERER
'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th Tén Tén TEn
Bond listed on Singapore Exchange Securties =l EhERGERAT
Tradingv Limited ("SGX") by Guangzhou R&F (R m fo/ R o777)
Properties Co., Ltd. (HK stock code: 2777): R EE R ()
Sri R
() fived coupon rate of 6.5% cash/7.5% () EBEEEEL65E/ BN
payment-in-kind (*PIK’) per annum and ([BYZR)75EZERES
maturity ate in July 2025 (‘Group A Notes”) HBAA-E-RELA
([AEZE]) 103,881 75% 787,129 39,815 004 (747914)
(i) fixed couponrate of 6.5% cash/7.5% PK (i) AEEEE465E/EMf
per annum and maturiy date in July 2027 15EZERRE  JHAA
(‘Group B Notes') “EtECR(BERE)) 139,065 9.0% 1,026,572 49,130 0.05 (077,442
(i) fixed coupon rate of 6.5% cash/7.5% PK  (i] AEEEE465E/EMft
per annum and maturiy date in July 2028 T5EZEEES HIERA
(‘Group C Notes”) 2o \ELA(CEZE]) 65,560 469,140 27,42 0.03 (441,728)
2,283,441 116,357 0.12 (2,167,084)
* Including the impairment loss recognised in profit or loss with gross amount of * BIERSHRAB R BT ER 2 REERERE

HK$2,283,000 during the reporting period, and the accumulated impairment loss
recognised in profit or loss with gross amount of HK$1,581,283,000.

In terms of bond investments, the Group retained a certain number of listed
bonds in order to generate stable and fixed interest income as the investment
strategy. The Group’s bond portfolio (including those as set out in the above
table) totalled a fair value of approximately HK$862 million as at 31 December
2023 (and the corresponding total investment cost was approximately
HK$2,982 million). During the year, interest income from bond investments
amounted to approximately HK$39 million representing a decrease of
approximately 54% compared to approximately HK$84 million in 2022.
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Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) is principally
engaged in the properties sector.

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022,
11 July 2022 and 14 July 2022, GRFP conducted the Consent Solicitations
in June 2022 to seek waivers of existing and potential consequential Defaults
or Events of Default under the Notes and to extend its debt maturity profile.
GRFP offered Eligible Holders of each Series of the Notes an opportunity to
consent to, among others, the extension of the maturity date of such Series
of the Notes, which will allow GRFP to improve its overall financial condition
and maintain a sustainable capital structure. In July 2022, GRFP completed
the above debt restructuring scheme.

According to above announcements, GRFP were not able to pay the bond
interests due to its adverse financial condition. The Group had performed
an impairment assessment on the debt instruments held under the lifetime
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default
and loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default),
with the assessment of the probability of default and loss given default being
based on historical data and forward-looking information. The estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights, and also with
reference to the time value of money. In determining ECL on the Group’s
debt instruments for the period, the management had taken into accounts
factors including the downgrading of credit rating of the debt instruments by
the credit rating agencies, the defaults of the bond issuer in making payments
of interest and principal for its indebtedness, and forward-looking information
including the future macroeconomic conditions at places where the bond
issuer is operating.
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The Group recognised impairment loss in profit or loss under ECL model of
HK$2,283,000 for the year and accumulated ECL of HK$1,581,283,000 on
the above GRFP debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income by reference to exposures at default, recovery rate and adjustments
for forward-looking information.

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022
and 11 July 2022: () The Group A Notes consisting of the 2022 Notes, the
July 2022 Notes and the November 2022 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5%
PIK senior notes due 2025”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in
July 2025. The GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2025 are listed
on the SGX and carry an interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5%
cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2025 were mainly for refinancing medium to
long-term debt that will be due within one year and offshore refinancing; (ii)
The Group B Notes consisting of the 2023 Notes, the February 2023 Notes
and the August 2023 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due
2027”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in July 2027. The GRFP
6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2027 are listed on SGX and carry an
interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and interests are payable semi-
annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior
notes due 2027 were mainly for refinancing debt and for general corporate
purposes of GRFP and offshore refinancing; (i) The Group C Notes consisting
of the February 2024 Notes, the March 2024 Notes, the July 2024 Notes and
the September 2024 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due
2028”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in July 2028. The GRFP
6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2028 are listed on SGX and carry an
interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and interests are payable semi-
annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes
due 2028 were mainly for refinancing medium to long-term debt that will be
due within one year and offshore refinancing.

According to the 2023 annual results announcement of GRFP, the net debt
to total equity ratio of GRFP increased to 262% at 31 December 2023 from
171% at 31 December 2022.
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

For further information of the business and financial performance of the above
company, please refer to the report and announcements referred in the above
paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of the above
company from time to time for updates on their prospects and performances.
The report and announcements referred above do not form part of this annual
report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or any opinion, advice
or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Company’s equity instruments consist primarily of listed shares of a
cluster of wide-ranging primarily blue-chip listed issuers as at 31 December
2023. During the Period, the dividend income from equity instrument at fair
value through profit or loss is HK$491,349,000, and the amount of gain on
fair value changes of equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss
is HK$310,844,000. The Company’s investment strategy of these equity
investment is to make mid- to long-term investments in the prospects of
primarily reputable sizeable issuers on recognisable stock exchange for
creating values for the Group and its shareholders, with the risks involved
balanced and moderated by the diversity of the portfolio and the corporate
governance and disclosures of such issuers. There was no equities securities
investment in an investee company with a value of 5 per cent. or more of the
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments

Our investment portfolio is comprised mainly of listed securities of a variety
of blue-chip listed companies and debt securities issued by creditable
listed companies in Hong Kong. Our investment objective is to generate
stable interest and dividend income and create value of the Group and its
shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company repurchased
500,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of
HK$11,926,075 before expenses pursuant to the share buy-back mandate
approved by our shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 23
May 2022. All of the repurchased Shares were subsequently cancelled. The
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R ERRBABEBRMDARE - NA AR
RFTLA#EA(E 11,926,075 7T (KT ) BB Al
500,000 f& 0 - PTBBEEIR I (5D K 1% B Wt

repurchase was effected by the Board for the enhancement of shareholder Mo EEeHTRESARRIESREEE -
value in the long term. Details of the Shares repurchased are as follows: O G 2 sEBEHY T -
Purchase consideration
per share
SREERE
Highest Lowest No. of shares Aggregate
Date of repurchase price paid price paid repurchased consideration
BEE A ENESER ENREE BERHHA RiELE
HKS HKS HK$
BT BT BT
20 April 2023 “T-=FMA=+H 24.35 24,05 50,000 1,210,775
21 April 2023 —TZ=FMA=Z+—H 24.45 24.45 50,000 1,222,500
24 April 2023 T =FMAZ+IA 24.60 24.35 50,000 1,221,975
25 April 2023 “T-=FNmA=-+AA 2410 23.90 50,000 1,201,900
26 April 2023 “E-=FWA=+RH 23.20 22.95 50,000 1,151,800
27 April 2023 “E-=FNA=++tH 23.45 23.15 50,000 1,167,000
28 April 2023 Ut s AN =) 24.05 23.75 50,000 1,192,600
2 May 2023 “T-=FHACH 23.65 23.50 50,000 1,181,250
3 May 2023 “T-=FHA=H 23.70 23.40 50,000 1,179,325
4 May 2023 T =FHANA 2415 23.80 50,000 1,196,950
Total 5t 500,000 11,926,075
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has bR EXHTEZREN BE_ZT=_=F+=A

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders as at
31 December 2023 comprised the retained profits of HK$109,158,000 (2022:
retained profits of HK$55,653,000).

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium of the
Company are also available for distribution to the Shareholders provided
that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2023, the sum of the retained profits and the share premium
of the Company amounted to HK$6,728,675,000 (2022: HK$6,686,612,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing

Ms. Ho Kin Fan

Mr. Chen Maosheng

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Cheung Ming Man

Dr. Chong Kin Ki

Mr. Chan Wing Kee

Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, each of Mr.
Cheung Kwong Kwan and Mr. Cheung Ka Shing, being executive directors
and Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Stanley, Chung Wai Cheong, being
independent non-executive directors, will retire from directorship by rotation
and will be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with Article 82 and Article 92 of the Company’s
articles of association. Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and Mr. Cheung Ka Shing,
being executive directors, and Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Stanley, Chung
Wai Cheong, being independent non-executive directors, will offer themselves
for re-election.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section “Directors’
and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

ESZROER

MN-ZE-—=F+-"fF=+—H B=ERFS2
BB ATRARAR REREEZE(EERESF K
HAE &0 ([ 5 R EAEIE0I ]) SEXVER) 2 Bt »
R M EREST - BERARIRIEES R
EGHIE35215F B 2 B Fracsk 2 ek - ok
BIE EMETAEBRITESFR ZNIZETH|
EAIg AN R R T2 AT

RrA
(@) ZFAASKREEABTZLBER(R
%)

Name of Director

EEHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Note 1)
SR B9 8 S A (B EE)

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2)
BB S A (M E2)

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REBLE

Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3)

A A 5 A (FFRES)

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing
REM L

Mr. Cheung Ming Man
SREAGUE A

Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Note 4)
HEEREHE A (MHT4)

Mr. Chan Wing Kee
BROKILSE A4

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
issued share capital of
Capacity Shares held the Company
BT GEALRBRT
ERME ROBE BREAZBNEIL
Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 6,939,405 0.6261%
EnlEAA TR
Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 9,670,228 0.8635%
EnlEAA TR
Beneficial owner 5,136,500 0.4635%
BnEBA
Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 1,008,200 0.0905%
EnlEAA TR
Beneficial owner 1,085,500 0.0979%
BnEBA
Beneficial owner 35,000 0.0032%
BnEBA
Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 110,000 0.0099%
EnlEAA TR
Beneficial owner 285,000 0.0257%

BEmEAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company (“Shares”)
(continued)

Notes:

(1) Out of the 6,939,405 Shares, 6,653,905 Shares were held by Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing and 285,500 Shares were held by his spouse.

) QOut of the 9,570,228 Shares, 8,899,488 Shares were held by Mr. Chang Wing Yiu
and 670,740 Shares were held by his spouse.

©)) Out of the 1,003,200 Shares, 655,000 Shares were held by Mr. Ho Yin Sang and
348,200 Shares were held by his spouse.

(4) Out of the 110,000 Shares, 90,000 Shares were held by Dr. Chong Kin Ki and

20,000 Shares were held by his spouse.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)
(b) Share options of the Company (“Share Options™)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEZROER e

REW®)
(b)  ADFEERE(ERE])

Interest in
underlying Approximate
Shares percentage of
pursuant the issued
to the Share  share capital of
Name of Director Capacity Options the Company
REBERE EARRAH
REBRS ERITREZ
EEpR ERtE W= BMABDT
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.3609%
SREIES S BnEBA
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.3609%
ERK RS A BnEBA
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.3609%
REFLE BalEBA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note) Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 7,350,000 0.6632%
fa e A 5 A (B EE) EnlEAAN/ Bk
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.3609%
REK A BnEBA
Ms. Ho Kin Fan Beneficial owner 3,440,000 0.3104%
25+ BaEBA
Mr. Chen Maosheng Beneficial owner 660,000 0.0596%
PRIX A e BnEBA
Mr. Cheung Ming Man Beneficial owner 300,000 0.0271%
SREABI A& BanEBA
Dr. Chong Kin Ki Beneficial owner 300,000 0.0271%
GTERIHEE A BnlEBA
Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong Beneficial owner 300,000 0.0271%
EREERE BalEBA
Mr. Chan Wing Kee Beneficial owner 300,000 0.0271%
PR SE A BnEBA

Note: Out of the 7,350,000 Share Options, 4,000,000 were held by Mr. Ho Yin
Sang and 3,350,000 Share Options were held by his spouse.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)

(c)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (“KLHL Shares”) in KLHL, a

non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director

EspR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing
SREIER

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu
kBt

Mr. Ho Yin Sang
Al e A

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan
REE A

Mr. Cheung Ka Shing
SRR EE

Ms. Ho Kin Fan
25+

Dr. Chong Kin Ki

o
HERpHER

Capacity

e

Beneficial owner
EmEAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
E=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Beneficial owner
Em=EAA
Interest of spouse
iRt

BEHKEERRA A

EEZROER e

REW®)

() ADRFZEHBHMELARBEREER
EREECIBIZEER((EEEE

R )

Number of
issued KLHL
Shares held
e #17
EEERENR
ROEE

1,441,500
11,820,000
809,000
5,000,000
379,000
200,000

50,000

Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital
of KLHL
HEEERER
ERITREAZ
BHEDH
0.0462%
0.3788%
0.0259%
0.1603%
0.0121%
0.0064%

0.0016%

B =FFR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

(continued)

Long position (continued)

(d) Share options of the KLHL (“KLHL Share Options”)
Name of Director Capacity
Esng ERtE
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Interest of spouse
fa] A e A iRt s
(e) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in the share

capital of Kingboard Laminates Limited, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director Capacity
EEpA ERMEE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner
SREER BEmBEAA
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner
ERSKR S A EmEA A
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner
REELE BEmlEAA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Beneficial owner
fa] A e A BmlEAA

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited are

held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as at 31 December 20283. Further details of the share options of the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Directors’ interests in them are
available in the section headed “Share Options” in and note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of this Report.
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10,800,000
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Approximate
percentage of
the issued
share capital
of KLHL
IEEEERER
ERITREZ
BHED T

0.3462%
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Number of
non-voting
deferred
shares held
(Note)

s EIRERE
ELERGOEE
(MF=%)

1,904,400
423,200
846,400
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company and KLHL (including
their vesting and exercise period) are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Share Options under the
Scheme during the year:
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ARBRBREERBRE SIS (REER
BEARATES) SR ERA MBS IRRMES2 ©

TRETEZTEBTBRENFERANZE

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised as at
1 January during during 31 December
2023 the year the year 2023
R-B-=F R-ZB-=f
—A—H t=A=+-H
e RATHE RERRH RERTTRE iel RATHE

Category 1: Directors F1EER
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing REIREAE 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 4,000,000
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu S 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 4,000,000
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan REERE 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 4,000,000
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note) AT A s A (PR EE) 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 4,000,000
Mr. Cheung Ka Shing KRR AE 2,020,000 2,000,000 (20,000) 4,000,000
Ms. Ho Kin Fan B2 1,720,000 1,720,000 - 3,440,000
Mr. Chen Maosheng BRI S 330,000 330,000 - 660,000
Mr. Cheung Ming Man REABLAE 150,000 150,000 - 300,000
Dr. Chong Kin Ki HEHEA 150,000 150,000 - 300,000
Mr. Chan Wing Kee BRoK S A& 150,000 150,000 - 300,000
Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong EREXE 150,000 150,000 - 300,000
12,670,000 12,650,000 (20,000) 25,300,000
Category 2: Employees (Note) $288 - BE(FHFE) 3,720,000 3,390,000 - 7,110,000
16,390,000 16,040,000 (20,000) 32,410,000

Note:  On 28 July 2023, the Company granted 2,000,000 share options to Mr. Ho Yin Sang Mz RZTZ=FtA=+/\B KREMMAHFKE

(an executive director of the Company) and 1,510,000 share options to his spouse,
namely Ms. Cheung Wai Kam (an employee of the Group). Ms. Cheung Wai Kam is
an associate of Director by virtue of her relationship with several executive Directors
of the Company. In addition to being the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, she is also
the mother of Ms. Ho Kin Fan and the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing. Save as
disclosed above, these 3,390,000 share options were granted to employees during
the year ended 31 December 2023 who are neither a Director, chief executive nor
substantial shareholder of the Company nor their respective associates.

S (AR BIFNITE F) X H 2,000,000 f i
ERMERGBREsZT (AEERE)RE
1,510,00017 FE AR #E - REES X THBEARAE
TFHRITEFNEEMAESOHEA - RAEM
HAEXENRBIN  BAHRANESFLLTHOER
RARBILK S E M BREK o Br EXXETHBEE N - R
BE"Z-=F+_A=+—BILFE %%
3,390,000 BERRIE TR F U FEARNAES « &
FITBABSEEZRRE L EESHRESACHE
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SHAR E O PT'O N S (continued)

The following table discloses movements in the KLHL Share Options during
the year:

Outstanding
as at

1 January
2023
R-E==%
—A—H

e RATHE

EEERREELEE
GES

Directors and employees of KLHL 36,900,000

(Note)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B )

TREFEZEEERBRENFAN2EE

Outstanding

Granted Exercised atas
during during 31 December

the year the year 2023
R-B=-=F

t=A=+-H

RERRH RERTTHRE e RATHE
35,900,000 - 72,800,000

Note: Including the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a Director of the Company, in respect of
10,800,000 KLHL Share Options. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang is an employee of
KLHL.

Save as disclosed, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or had
lapsed under the Company’s or its subsidiaries share option schemes during
the year under review.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the options as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significant subsisting during or at the
end of 31 December 2023 in which a Director or a an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Mid: BEARARESAHRAEALEZEEBREEZ
10,800,00017 32 E & [E R M A AE o (I AL/
REAEEEERES -

BREREEN  ARRREMB AR 2 BkE
AHEETREEFEAL B - 176# - £
BRI AR RN -

BEROIES22H

B EX BRI - ARRSEEMHER
AIRFEAREARERES2 BT ERZT - &
EEEAHBARRRHEMEMEAEE
Bfn sk ES M -

EXXREG » ZHHEN

BAREBER S | —BRNGEEMERERME
AAFTRBEES (I BEREBEE_T_=F+—
A=t —ALFEARFRIDALERMEEK
HEEEHEC EREXYAMEBEREA MR
ZEARRS - RHRAH  (0)ARRIHEEM
=PI R RN R SRR Bl = PN ko
R ETSLERAH) ¢ (C)A R Bl E (A B
REZ BB RBETLEREH  LAARR
Al EEAATP B A RER AR -



O

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2023, the register of substantial Shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the following
Shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests or short positions
in the issued share capital of the Company.

Name of shareholder Capacity

BREREMH EEtE

Hallgain Management Limited (“Hallgain”) Beneficial owner

(Note) (Kf&E) BmEAA
FMR LLC Investment manager
WEKE
Fidelity Puritan Trust Investment manager
WEKE

(] The letter “L” denotes a long position.

Note:  As at 31 December 2023: (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors were not accustomed to
act in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing,
being a Director, was also a director of Hallgain.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2023 which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted and complied
with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 December
2023.

For further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during
the year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual
report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2023, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase certain materials for the production of PCBs such as
copper balls and drill bits from Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the
“Hallgain Group”) from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into new
purchase framework agreement (the “KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement”) to which the Group agreed to purchase
certain materials for the production of PCBs such as copper balls and
drill bits from the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December
2023. Under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement,
the amount of materials to be purchased is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the materials under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Group with the Hallgain Group. The proposed annual cap for
the three years ending 31 December 2023 are HK$1,000,000,000,
HK$1,070,000,000 and HK$1,150,000,000, respectively. Please refer
to the Company'’s joint announcement dated 19 July 2021 for further
information.

The transactions contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the
table below.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@

(b)

KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

(continued)

In anticipation of the expiry of the KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement by the end of 2023, on 31 October 2023, the Company
entered into purchase framework agreement with Hallgain (“the
2024 KHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement”) in relation to
the purchase of certain material for the production of PCBs such
as copper balls and drill bits from Hallgain Group by the Group for
a term of three years from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026.
The annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 2026 are
HK$884 million, HK$911 million and HK$938 million, respectively.
Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement dated 31 October
2023 for information.

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a supply
framework agreement pursuant to which the KLHL and its subsidiaries
(the “KLHL Group”) agreed to supply copper and laminates to the
Hallgain Group from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into new
supply framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to supply
copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to
31 December 2023. Under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement the amount to be supplied is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement will be subject to the individual orders placed
by the Hallgain Group with the KLHL Group. The proposed annual cap
for the three years ending 31 December 2023 are HK$625,000,000,
HK$687,000,000 and HK$755,000,000, respectively. Please refer to
the Company’s joint announcement dated 19 July 2021 for further
information.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(©

KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement (continued)

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the table below.

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework
Agreement by the end of 2023, on 31 October 2023, the Company
entered into a supply framework agreement with Hallgain (“the 2024
KLHL/Hallgain Supply Framework Agreement”) in relation to the
supply of copper and laminates by the KLHL Group to the Hallgain
Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2026. The annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 2026
are HK$563 million, HK$580 million and HK$597 million, respectively.
Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement dated 31 October
2023.

KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

On 25 October 2019, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a purchase
framework agreement pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed
to purchase materials for production of laminates such as drill bits
and machineries from the Hallgain Group from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

(continued)

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, KLHL and Hallgain entered into a new purchase
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement”) pursuant to which the KLHL Group agreed to purchase
machineries for production of laminates from the Hallgain Group
from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023. Under the KLHL/Hallgain
Purchase Framework Agreement, the amount to be purchased is
not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the parties
from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with
reference to the prevailing market price) of machineries under the
KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement will be subject to the
individual orders placed by the KLHL Group with the Hallgain Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$570,000,000, HK$610,000,000 and HK$653,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase
Framework Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions
for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on
the basis that Hallgain is a substantial Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, and KLHL
is a subsidiary of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the
table below.

In anticipation of the expiry of the KLHL/Hallgain Purchase Framework
Agreement by the end of 2023, the Company entered into a purchase
framework agreement with Hallgain (the “2024 KLHL/Hallgain
Purchase Framework Agreement”) in relation to the purchase of
machineries from the Hallgain Group by the KLHL Group for a term of
three years from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. The annual
caps for the three years ending 31 December 2026 are HK$249
million, HK$256 million and HK$264 million, respectively. Please refer
to the Company’s joint announcement dated 31 October 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the table below.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
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the KLHL Group under the KLHL/ BB

Hallgain Purchase Framework Agreement

The amounts of the above transactions did not exceed the corresponding
annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 as announced
by the Group.

The independent non-executive directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on
normal commercial terms and that the terms thereof and the relevant annual
caps thereto are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholder as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December
2023 disclosed by the Group from pages 40 to 44 of this annual report in
accordance with Listing Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The auditors has
confirmed that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
the continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023:

(@) have not been approved by the board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration paid to a senior management (excluding the directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2023 was within the following band:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Bands management
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there was a sufficient
public float of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
agent, auditor, secretary or other officer for the time being and from time to
time of the Company (and the personal representatives of those persons, as
the case may be) shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and funds of the Company against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges,
expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by him in or
about the conduct of the Company’s business or affairs or in the execution or
discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including, without
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any costs, expenses, losses or
liabilities incurred by him in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any
civil proceedings concerning the Company or its affairs in any court whether
in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s
liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales or purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers combined or suppliers combined were less than 30%
of the Group’s sales or purchases respectively.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year under review.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wing
CHAIRMAN

18 March 2024
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance practice of a
listed company. It is in the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for
a listed company to operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of
various self-regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.

The Company has adopted and complied with the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(the “CG Code”) under Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

In addition to applying the principles in the CG Code, which is mandatory
in nature, the Board also observes certain recommended best practices
(“Recommended Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and has adopted certain Recommended Best Practices which are
suitable to the Company’s current situation. The Board will continuously
enhance the corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to
the Recommended Best Practices whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the*Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, each director has confirmed that
he or she has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board'’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanation
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he or his
associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in the quorum
of the meeting. Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meetings and
are kept by the Company Secretary.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

During the year under review, the Board had held four meetings
and the Company held an annual general meeting. The Directors’
attendance at Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and the
general meeting was as follows:

Board

Meeting

£33

]

Number of Meeting R EE 4

Executive Directors BITES

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) RER(FE) 4

Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) OkR(EEEE) 4

Cheung Kwong Kwan REE 4

Ho Yin Sang fRAE 4

Cheung Ka Shing RHRK 4

Ho Kin Fan fEE 4

Chen Maosheng Rk 4
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTES

Cheung Ming Man R 4

Chong Kin Ki e 4

Chan Wing Kee Bkt 4

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong ERE 4

Note:

General meeting refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held on 29 May
2023.

Audit
Committee
Meeting
EVZES
&3

BEHEERRAA

T

BEEgmn)

REEFERN  BERTTHARE
RARBERTT —RREAFEAS - &
ENEELRE BTSSR

BAGZHERENT :
Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting
REZEE ¥MzES BR
R 6 A&
(Note)
(M)
1 3 1
- - 1
- - 1
- - 1
- - 1
- - 1
- - 1
- - 1
1 3 1
1 3 1
- - 1
1 3 1
BT
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B =FFR



O

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

DI RECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and no less than four times
in the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Model Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

During the year under review, the Board was headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of the Company.
The roles of the Chairman and Managing Director were segregated
and are not exercised by the same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

° preparing meeting agenda after consultation with the
Managing Director;

° exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between Management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director was mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition

The Board currently comprises eleven members, seven of whom are
executive Directors and four of whom are independent non-executive
Directors who are expressly identified in all corporate communications
that disclose the names of the Directors. One of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses appropriate professional qualifications
(or accounting or related financial management expertise) as required
by the Listing Rules. The composition of the Board as of the report
date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwong Kwan

Ho Yin Sang

Cheung Ka Shing

Ho Kin Fan

Chen Maosheng

Independent non-executive Directors
Cheung Ming Man

Chong Kin Ki

Chan Wing Kee

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan is a cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing.
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang are brothers-in-law of
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing. Mr. Cheung Ka Shing is the son of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing, the nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and
the nephew-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang. Ms.
Ho Kin Fan is the daughter of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, niece of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and
the cousin of Mr. Cheung Ka Shing.

Save as disclosed, no member of the Board shares any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships) with another member of the Board.

All directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meetings of the Company.

During the year under review, the independent non-executive
Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are subject to
retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Board composition (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates, printed circuit boards, property developments
and chemical products, administration and management experience
in the PRC factories, financial and accounting skills. The Company
believes that the current Board with a balance of skills and experience
is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into account the
nature and scope of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board, shall retire and be eligible for
re-appointment at the next following general meeting (in the case
of filing a casual vacancy) or annual general meeting (in the case of
an additions to the Board) after appointment. The appointment of
Directors are not fixed for a specified term, but at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors, including the Chairman, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-appointment by Shareholders.
The Directors appointed by the Board who are subject to retirement
and re-appointment as mentioned above shall be taken into account
in calculating the total number of Directors for the time being but shall
not be taken into account in calculating the number of Directors who
are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible for re-appointment shall
have their biographical details made available to the Shareholders to
enable them to make an informed decision on their re-appointment.
Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-designation of Director
shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by announcement and
the reasons given by the Director for his resignation shall be included
in the announcement.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with such degree of care and due diligence given his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’” and officers’ liability has been arranged against possibility of
legal action to be taken against the Directors and the management.

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the
following trainings:

Name of Directors EENE
Executive Directors HITEE
Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) REIR(F/E)
Chang Wing Yiu (Managing Director) oK (EF )
Cheung Kwong Kwan REE

Ho Yin Sang A

Cheung Ka Shing RE

Ho Kin Fan 2%

Chen Maosheng 55321
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Cheung Ming Man REAH

Chong Kin Ki e

Chan Wing Kee BRoKIE

Stanley Chung Wai Cheong ERE

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the CG
Code on Directors’ training for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. All the Directors are
given separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

Board independence

The Board reviewed and considered that the following key features or
mechanisms under Company’s governance structure are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

Board and committees’ °
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ESERERERE

Independent non-executive
Directors’ tenure

BYFHTESEY

Independent non-executive
Directors’ remuneration

ByYBTESHE
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The Company has been steered by a Board comprising more than one-
third of independent non-executive Directors. The Board comprises seven
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.
AARBEBUIIRTESE=9 22— U LNEEZEEE - EEFHEBHNT
EEROEFEIIENTESTEX -

Members of all board committees are independent non-executive Directors.

EESZBENBHRBIIFRITES

The directors’ nomination policy of the Company sets a maximum tenure of
nine consecutive years for independent non-executive Directors unless the
Board determines that such Director is still independent.
RATINEFRBBERTE - BN TESNTNERAREENTF - RIE
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Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for their role as
members of the Board and Board committee(s) as appropriate.
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Board independence (continued)

Appointment of independent
non-executive Directors

ZEEBIFHITES

Annual review of independent
non-executive Directors’
independence

BUFHITESB UM 2 FERH

Conflict management

BRER

Professional advice

BEHKEERRA A

A. EE
EEEenNBIME)

In assessing suitability of the candidates, the Nomination Committee will
review their profiles, including their qualification and time commitment, having
regard to the Board’s composition, the Directors’ skill matrix, the list of
selection criteria approved by the Board, its nomination policy and the board
diversity policy.

FERMHIRE AN G BN REZESHREBESSNENX  ESMREE
B EERIENTERERNEE  HREEBEREFEXNEZTBR - &
ERENERE  BRERENERERIRANRH -

The Board assessed the annual independence confirmation received from
each independent non-executives Director, having regard to the criteria under
Rule 3.13 of the Main Board Listing Rules.
EZGRAEEMEMRAEIASGNEL - FHESBEIIFNTEZNFE
B MHERE -

The Articles of Association of the Company and internal guidelines of the
Company provide guidance to the Directors on avoiding conflicts of interest
and on the circumstances under which appropriate action(s) shall be taken by
the director in conflict.
RATHEEMERBRIRA QR ORI HE o= B R EERD
BER T ESEEIUEETEMESRMEIES

To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all Directors are entitled to seek
advice from the company secretary or the in-house legal team as well as from
independent professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
RESRITERE  2REFHARMARWER NI EZEHIARB IR
¥EMSRkER  BRBARQRIRE

o

The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board meetings are assessed
during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Chong Kin Ki (Chairman), Mr. Stanley Chung
Wai Cheong and Mr. Cheung Ming Man as at the date of the report.
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate policies
and procedures for determining the remuneration of Directors and
senior management and other remuneration related matters. The
Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of reference
which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by the Board,
including the following duties:

o formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (ontinueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

° recommend specific remuneration packages including, where
appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive
payments, and share options, if any, for each executive
Director and the Managing Director and such other members
of senior management as it is designated to consider;

° recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors (including non-executive Directors,
if any), taking into account factors such as effort, time spent
and responsibilities.

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to
him by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for
similar position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year under review is set out on pages 156 to 160 in Note
11 to the financial statements. Review and comparison in terms of
Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened three meetings during which the Remuneration Committee,
among other things, assessed the performance, determined the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has also approved
the grant of share options under the Scheme to its directors and
employees of the Group on 28 July 2023. Taking into account the
performance and contributions of such directors and employees
during the year, the Remuneration Committee considered appropriate
to grant such options as a reward for their services and an incentive
for them to continue to contribute to the growth of the Group’s
business.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

Grant of share options on 28 July 2023

The Scheme does not provide for any minimum vesting period. In
relation to the grant of share options on 28 July 2023, the Board
and the Remuneration Committee are of the view that a vesting
period shorter than 12 months is appropriate considering that the
grants of the share options serve as a recognition of the grantee’s
past contribution to the Group or outstanding performance in the
preceding financial year and incentivise the grantee to continuously
contribute to the operation, development and long-term growth of the
Group. The share options are exercisable at a fixed exercise price,
which aligns the grantees’ interests with that of the Company, as
they will benefit more from the share options if the Company’s share
price increases. The Board and the Remuneration Committee believe
that such arrangement will motivate the grantees to strive for higher
productivity and financial results of the Company.

There is no performance target attached to the share options. The
grants above are not subject to any clawback mechanism for the
Company to recover, but the options granted shall lapse automatically
if the grantee ceases to be an employee or director of the Group.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

The purpose of the grant of share options is to provide the participants
with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company, and
motivate the grantees to optimize their performance and efficiency,
having considered the grantees’ experience, length of service to the
Group and contribution to the Group’s overall business performance.
The Remuneration Committee is of the view that performance targets
are not necessary as (i) the value of the share options is subject
to the market price of the shares, which, in turn, depends on the
business performance of the Group, to which the Grantees would
directly contribute, and the grantees will benefit more from the Share
Options if the Company’s share price increases; (ii) the number of
share options granted to each grantee was determined after taking
into account their contribution for the past financial periods, such
that relevant performance targets have already been met before any
grant is decided to be made. The share options are also subject
to the terms of the Scheme which provides that the share options
will lapse automatically if the grantee ceases to be an employee or
director of the Group. In addition, the Remuneration Committee is of
the view that a clawback mechanism is not necessary considering the
lapse of share options upon cessation or termination of employment
already been provided for under the Scheme, which could adequately
safeguard the Company’s interests. Notwithstanding the absence
of the performance target and clawback mechanism to recover,
the Board and the Remuneration Committee believe that without
additional performance target and clawback mechanism, the grant
of the share options could align the interests of the grantees with
that of the Company and its shareholders, provide the grantees with
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company, incentivize
the grantees to contribute to the future continuous competitiveness,
results of operation and growth of the Company, reinforce their
commitment to long term services of the Company, and motivate the
grantees to optimize their performance and efficiency, which is in line
with the purpose of the Scheme.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial performance
and operations of the Company to the Audit Committee and the
Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit
Committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 73 to 80 of this annual report.

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the systems
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessment, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

. monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board (continued)

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2023, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets are properly safeguarded. The
Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied, coupled
with its own observations and with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
systems are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct the senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the following:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope, results and effectiveness of the internal
audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the adequacy

of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems is
embedded within our business processes so that it functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clearly defined
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which includes establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identification to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit
services to the Company, the Committee will keep the nature and
extent of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services RIEME
Audit services ZEPRTS
Non-audit services FERZERTS

()  Tax services () WBRS
(i)  Other services (comprising compliance review, (i)

internal control review and ESG report)

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audited services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in their opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditor as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
o to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

° to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report,
namely Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong (Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki
and Mr. Cheung Ming Man.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

° review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

° discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened four
meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. The Board delegates
day-to-day activities to the management with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business. Clear instructions
are given to the management as to the matters which should bring
to the attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the
Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Ming Man
(Chairman), Dr. Chong Kin Ki and Mr. Stanley Chung Wai Cheong as
at the date of this report. According to the written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee include:

. regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

o review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

o identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise;

o assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of
the Board; and

o re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

When recommending suitable candidates to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will take merits of the candidates into
consideration, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee had convened one meetings during which,
among other things, considered which should retire by rotation
pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung Kwan
Kwong and Mr. Cheung Ka Shing, being executive Directors and
Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Stanley, Chung Wai Cheong, being
independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and offer themselves for re-election. During the meetings
of the Nomination Committee, it had considered the policy for the
nomination of Directors, and the process and criteria adopted by
the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship.

It had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors. All the above-named Directors were nominated by the
Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the CG Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of
the Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises ten male Directors
and one female Director. The Board considers that the composition
of the requirements of Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. To ensure
gender diversity of the Board in a long run, the Group will seek to
identify and select several female individuals with a diverse range of
skills, experience and knowledge in the field of the Group’s business
from time to time, and maintain a list of such female individuals who
possess qualities to become the Board members in order to develop
a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to promote gender
diversity of the Board.

The workforce of the Group (including its senior management)
comprised approximately 63% male employees and 37% female
employees as at 31 December 2023. Due to the nature of work in the
industries which the Group conducts its business, the Group mainly
considers factors such as the candidates’ ability and experience,
rather than their gender, in recruiting employees.

The Company remains steadfast in its commitment to fostering
workplace diversity. This commitment is reflected in our ongoing
recruitment strategies, which are designed to attract a broad
spectrum of candidates. By prioritizing diversity in our hiring practices,
we aim to build a team that brings a wide range of perspectives,
experiences, and skills to our organization.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications. The notices are also published on the Company’s
website at www.kingboard.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. Each Shareholder is
permitted to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.

The Board has also established a written shareholders’ communication
policy setting out the multiple channels for communications with its
shareholders as disclosed in this section. The Board has conducted
a review of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2023. To
promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.kingboard.com, where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access. Investors may write directly to the
Company or via email to enquiry@kingboard.com for any inquiries.
Having considered the multiple channels of communication in place,
it is satisfied that the shareholders’ communication policy has been
properly implemented during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address:  23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street

Shek Mun

Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2691 0445/2691 5245
Email: enquiry@kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

On 29 May 2023, the Company adopted the new memorandum
and articles of association by way of shareholders’ approval at its
annual general meeting in order to (i) bring the existing memorandum
and articles of association up to date and in line with the revised
requirements under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws
of Cayman Islands; and (ii) incorporate certain housekeeping
amendments. Details of these amendments are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 25 April 2023.

An up to date version of the Company’s articles of association is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website. Shareholders may refer to the Company’s articles of
association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will
be posted on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.kingboard.com)
immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 81 to 260, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Key audit matter

HARETER

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FREETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFNAHRARETERETERE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

AHEFRRME(FRRYE D WITE2RFE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of
PHD as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
amount and estimation uncertainty involved in determining
their net realisable values.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to
HK$15.4 billion as at 31 December 2023. The Group’s PHD
are all situated in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, the net realisable values of the PHD
are determined by reference to the estimated future selling
prices less estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. The future selling prices are
estimated by reference to the recent selling prices of similar
properties in the same project or relevant locations. In
addition, the management estimates the future costs to
complete the PHD and costs necessary to make the sale
by reference to the actual development costs and selling
expenses incurred and the completion status.

BPHFESERDENAIER FEIRNSRRETSF
B TR EE E A #IRHEY RERSE R

RIZ-=F+-HA=+—H0  &EEEEATEERVER
HER—BRETHERT - BEEENGFERDEZHL
REERTEARKMBE(THE])

MINERE MR TAR26PTIRE - FRRYENER
FENSE M AREBERG TR A FIERHENTE
MR ARETE - RREE2ER IR A RAEHHELY
FepRMEEME o WO ERELZEELENERER
FRAMIEER AR TEE - AEFF RS ERYENR
B N RE B TR IR o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
values of PHD included:

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from independent qualified surveyors in
respect of the costs incurred and the completion status;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by comparing
them to recent transaction prices of similar properties
in the same project or relevant locations, based on
our knowledge of the property markets of the relevant
locations;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD and costs necessary to
make the sale, on a sample basis, based on the actual
development costs and selling expenses incurred and the
completion status of the properties of the Group with the
adjustments, taking into account the current market data
and the past history of the similar projects.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) Eﬁﬁi%ﬁ'%lﬁ(ﬁ)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RN BT NAHERETEHETRE

Key audit matter

MREER

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”) (continued)

AEFRRNE(FRRYEDNTSRFEE)

When assessing the net realisable value of the properties
held for development, the management will also make
reference to the valuations carries out by an independent
qualified valuer.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, write-down
of HK$553 million on PHD has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Understanding management’s process over the valuation
of PHD, including the involvement of the Valuer, the
valuation methodologies and key inputs applied on
selected PHD by holding discussion with the management
and the Valuer;

Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of
the Valuer, the appropriateness of the Valuer’s valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of valuation
methodologies and key inputs applied on selected PHD
underpinning the valuation, based on available market
data; and

Involving our internal valuation specialists, on a sample
basis, to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of the
valuation methodologies and key inputs of selected PHD
underpinning the valuation.

FRREEEMMLEMRREN®  TREEBHSERY
FETHENRE - BEGEMN2E - BEFERME
FERVMERANIEH AL

REBEATERNTISER - FHEEENER  ENEE
1B - AEMGETENEE A REETERATRF#
EYERANEI2HABIENAENE + &

BIMBEELESHMOAEEEZR BB M EE BT
PSR EMMETDE N AR E ABIR AR -

B =FFR



O

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Key audit matter

MREER

Valuation of investment properties

REMEME

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and estimation uncertainty involved required in
determining the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located in
Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which was
stated at fair value of HK$23.8 billion as at 31 December
2023 with a net loss on fair value change of HK$113 million
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year then ended.

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair
value based on valuations performed by an independent
qualified valuer (the “Valuer”). The valuation committee of
the Group work closely with the Valuer to determine the
appropriate valuation methodologies and inputs for fair
value measurements. The valuation was determined based
on direct comparison by reference to market transactions
of similar properties taking into consideration of timing of
reference transactions and property-specific adjustment
factors. Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs
used in the valuations are disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RN BT NAHERETEHETRE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

° Understanding management’s process over the valuation
of investment properties, including the involvement of the
Valuer;

o Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of
the Valuer;

. Understanding the valuation methodologies and key inputs

applied on selected investment properties by holding
discussion with the management and the Valuer;

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the Valuer’s valuation
methodologies;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
methodologies and key inputs of selected investment
properties underpinning the valuation, based on available
market data; and

° Involving our internal valuation specialists, on a sample
basis, to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of
the valuation methodologies and key inputs of selected
investment properties underpinning the valuation.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2024
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@ BEHKEERRA A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —Z - =F+_-_HA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-fF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ihEEs FEx FET
Revenue e 5 39,712,499 49,375,901
Cost of sales and services rendered SHE AR RIS A AR (32,120,334) (37,002,817)
Gross profit FEF 7,592,165 12,373,084
Other income, gains and losses Hﬂﬂuﬁz)\ W5 N B 7 318,934 222,718
Distribution expenses baki=b-gun (1,268,398) (1,407,916)
Administrative expenses TEE (2,237,760) (2,334,871)
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of EBEATERABEZ
equity instruments at fair value R I AEZNFEED
through profit or loss Wrzs (E518) 310,844 (222,507)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERNFETA
at fair value through other HivzmElE s
comprehensive income BEBIAZKE 30,009 114,266
Impairment losses under expected credit ~ FEEMZEEIEERTE
loss model on debt instruments at BAFERA
fair value through other Hit2mim o EBIAZ
comprehensive income REEE (2,283) (1,579,000)
Impairment loss under expected credit loss FEERZEEIEHER T 23
model on loan receivable FEWE R R E R E (893,907) -
Net loss on fair value changes of WEMEN T EES 2 14
investment properties iR FER (113,434) (147,559)
Finance costs BhE A AN 8 (1,124,463) (504,272)
Share of results of joint ventures N NCI 85,626 81,481
Share of result of an associate iy NI 90,378 181,648
Profit before taxation MR R VA 2,787,711 6,777,072
Income tax expense FriSEifsz 9 (443,609) (2,588,518)
Profit for the year AN F 10 2,344,102 4,188,554
Profit for the year attributable to: AE R T B {58
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE=Y =N 2,062,971 3,655,220
Non-controlling interests IR RE RS 281,131 533,334
2,344,102 4,188,554
Earnings per share FRREA 13
- Basic — 5K HK$1.861& 7t  HK$3.297/ 87T
— Diluted —#E HK$1.8617%& T HK$3.2977%8 7T
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2B

Hit 2wl R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —Z - =F+_-_HA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Profit for the year AE A 2,344,102 4,188,554
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year ZN4E 8 B 2 H (FI ) iz
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEWEN D EL B EA -
Translation reserve: P 3 RE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation to AFTEEE2REBMEE L
presentation currency P A AR (536,964) (5,344,412
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEREEWER TS
profit or loss: B HE -
Investment revaluation reserve: WEEGHEE
Fair value loss on debt instruments BATERAEAM
at fair value through 1@4& s EBTIEZ
other comprehensive income AFEEIE (375,471) (240,488)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of A &SR AT EFA
debt instruments at fair value through HEmemls s EBTAEMm
other comprehensive income BB EER (30,009) (114,266)
Impairment losses under expected credit BHEEBERAET
loss model on debt instruments at BAFERA
fair value through other comprehensive HipzmkazEHETAZ
income included in profit or loss BEBEF ABR 2,283 1,579,000
Translation reserve: b 5 &
Exchange differences arising from A E /M EMEE 2
translation of foreign operations [ =58 - (11,046)
(403,197) 1,213,200
Other comprehensive expense for the year REFHEMEEFAR (940,161) (4,131,212)
Total comprehensive income for the year REEE2EPEARE 1,403,941 57,342
Total comprehensive income AEE 2SR
for the year attributable to: FEIE1DEE -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEEYEDN 1,182,747 1,272
Non-controlling interests IR AR RE S 221,194 56,070
1,403,941 57,342
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@ BEHKEERRA A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ll‘/_\ézﬁ\yjﬁ%ﬂﬁ)ﬂv%

At 31 December 2023 A—Z-=F+—-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-fF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ihEEs FHET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties WEYE 14 23,801,788 23,449,630
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 15 19,404,999 17,085,297
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 1,951,478 1,910,795
Goodwiill [GES 17 2,670,528 2,670,528
Intangible assets mEE 18 34,920 41,400
Interests in an associate REEE RN T2 B 19 445,132 532,059
Interests in joint ventures I WNCI s £ 20 2,473,378 2,369,699
Equity instruments at fair AT EFABTZZ 21
value through profit or loss EmITAE 2,219,727 1,855,832
Debt instruments at fair value through BAFEGFAEMEEmRZEZ 22
other comprehensive income BEXEITA 861,970 607,631
Entrusted loans ZHER 27(a) 181,352 238,863
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEVE BEMEREZ
plant and equipment =N 744,378 1,313,750
Deferred tax assets RETHIEE E 24 3,068 2,577
54,792,718 52,048,061
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 25 3,775,589 3,511,514
Properties held for development FEREYE 26 15,419,688 16,896,546
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R EH M FEWER 27(a)
prepayments TafRIAE 7,975,716 8,221,655
Bills receivables EWREE 27(b) 3,247,158 3,128,233
Loan receivable FEWE R 23 721,591 1,880,000
Equity instruments at fair value through BAFEFAERZ 21
profit or loss EmT A 8,905,029 4,685,245
Debt instruments at fair value through BAFEFAREMEEREZ 22
other comprehensive income BRI A - 22,302
Taxation recoverable Al R IR 32,626 76,159
Restricted bank deposits SRR ITIER 27(c) 10,089 130,100
Cash and cash equivalents Be MR EEIER 27(c) 4,088,322 6,693,336
44,175,808 45,245,090
“ECFFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI K

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ihEs FHET FHT
Current liabilities mEaRE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b EERR 28 6,311,534 6,473,651
Bills payables FERT 28 661,797 650,061
Contract liabilities SHEE 28 1,668,243 2,601,532
Dividends payable FERRE 780,607 455,422
Taxation payable FEGFLTE 1,352,201 1,682,177
Bank borrowings RITEE 29
— amount due within one year ——FREHZ F0E 8,145,695 5,269,171
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 3,044 4,478
18,923,121 17,136,492
Net current assets BB EFE 25,252,687 28,108,598
Total assets less current liabilities BEREBERRDAEE 80,045,405 80,156,659
Non-current liabilities JEREAaE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIBEEE 24 831,828 978,126
Bank borrowings RITIEE 29
— amount due after one year ——F1B B E A 14,776,988 14,477,991
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 1,967 4,711
15,610,783 15,460,828
Net assets BEFE 64,434,622 64,695,831
Capital and reserves A& A 2 GE
Share capital i 31 110,831 110,879
Reserves [Ex 59,630,530 59,946,776
Equity attributable to owners RARFEEA
of the Company B 59,741,361 60,057,655
Non-controlling interests FEIZERR A A 33 4,693,261 4,638,176
Total equity EN ] 64,434,622 64,695,831

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 260 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 March 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Kwok Wing

IRESR

DIRECTOR

EE
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Chang Wing Yiu
BRIk R
DIRECTOR
£
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERBRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &&=

=F+-A=+-HLFE

BEHEERRAA

Attrbutable to owners of the Company
KRAREARLER
Share-
Captal based Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share  redemption  payments suplus  Statutory  revaluation ~ Goodwil  revaluation  Translaion  Retained controling Total
captal  premium Tesenve reseve  account Tesene Tesenve resene fesene esenve profts  Sub-totel  interests equity
iR 5l g #4
Ry RVAE RABEGE GREE  BNEE  ivHE  EREE  BERE  EMBE  EXRE  REMA WGt kERER  ATGE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HK000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
Tén TR TEr Tin TEn TR TER Tin TEn  TEn Tédn TR TEr Tin
(Notea) ~ (Notebj ~ (Notec)  (Noted)
(k) (Wib)  (Wke)  (Wika)
Balance at 1 January 2022 i
—-f-Rzis 110879 6,630959 1,911 0 10594 2578494 280,981 773838 (1,501,009 3869474 50261361 63017,172 5,666,121 68,683,293
Proft for the year TEEET - - - - - - - - - 365200 385220 53333 4188554
Fair valug loss on debt instruments—— RATERF A Ef
at fair vaue through other PAlEERIEY
comprehensive income LFEEE - - - - - - - - (230279 - - 0208 (10212 (240489)
Reclassify to proft o loss upon disposal  RAERAFEFA
of debt instruments at fair vaue A2 MR EHIA
through other comprehensive income - I HEZ R - - - - - - - - (14,266) - - (1426) - (114266)
Impaiment losses under expected credt B EEESEEART
loss mods on deot instruments at far -~ AT B3 ALf:
value though other comprehensie KB ERTAY
income included n proft o loss HEEBEH BR - - - - - - - - 1530137 - - 1530137 18863 1579000
Bxchange dffeences aisng fom T EZ2RERTEL L
ranslaton to presentation curency 3 EE - - - - - - - - - (4831569 - (4831868 (p1254) (3412
Bxchange dffeences aiingfiom - R BB AR Z
ranglation of foreign operations EiER - - - - - - - - - (7.679) - (7,679) 3371 (11,046)
Tote comprehensive income TEERANE
[expense) fortheyear (B%)eg - - - - - - - S 118555 (054 3BB0 12 WO 5T
Recogniton of equity-settied B S
share-based payments (Note 32) FaRR(HHR) - - - T30 - - - - - - - TIA0 48000 125300
Final dhvidend for the year ended I —
31 December 2021 =t-ALFEz
oz 12 FERa (D) - - - - - - - - - - 054 RT05 ) - R4
Interim dhidend forthe yearended ~ EE-E--£+2R
31 December 2022 “H-ALEEZ
Note 12) HERE (i) - - - - - - - - - - (32637 (332637) - [369)
Dividends paid to non-controling HTHBARL
shareholders of subsidiaries HIRREZ RS - - - - - - - - - - - - (1115218 (1,115,215)
Capital contributon from non-controling - B R3EERHRE
shareholders of a subsidiary it - - - - - - - - - - - - (16800 (16,800
Transfers to resene ERTER - - - - - T007 - - - - (199007 - - -
- - - 77300 - 799,097 - - - - (3837,186) (2960,789) (1,084,015 (4,044,804
Balance at 31 December 2022 S
TZR=+-RuEs 110879 6630959 1,911 77390 10594 3377591 280,581 713838 (315414 (970,069 50079395 60,057,655 4,638,176 64,695,831




@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTREAEEES
Share-
Capital based  Special Property Investment Non-
Share Share redemption payments  surplus  Statutory revaluation  Goodwill revaluation Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve profits  Sub-fotal interests equity
Rt KAl % R&

kx  REEE RAREGRE GREE  BBEE  teBR  EGEE  BERE  EMRRE ENRE  REE Nt kERER  EAEE
HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
£ N v T v v R o A o /A o /N /AN v/ N v/ A v /A v v 7
(Notea)  (Noteh)  (Notec)  (Noted)
(Wia)  (Wab)  (fde)  (Kid)

Balance at 1 January 2023 ittt

—-A-BE% 110879 6,630,959 1911 77300 10594 3377591 280581 773838 (315414 (970069 50,079,305 60,057,655 4,636,176 64,695,831
Proftfor the year KEERH - - - - - - - - 5 - 20607 20620M  2BAMH 234102
Fairvalue loss on debtinstuments TS AEH
at fa value trough other 2EMEZERIAL
comprehensive income ATEER - - - - - - - - (363787) - - (6377 (1714 (3154T1)

Reclassfy to proft or loss upon disposal  EHERATEA

of debtinstuments at fairvaue through - A2 BN Z BT A

other comprehensive income &N EZER - - - - - - - - (2684 = - (68 (8167 (30009
Impaiment losses under expected credit BHEE

loss mods on deot instruments at far -~ AT B3 ALf:
value through other compretensive  2ENEZERIEL

ncome included n proft or loss BEEETABR - - - - - - - - 2212 - - 2212 il 2283
Bxchange difierences arising from RITEZ2HERmEL,

ranslafionto presentation curency  EYEE - - - - - - - - - (491830) - (dof8r) (5127 (936964)
Total comprehensive (expense) TEERAFR)

income for e yer et - . . - 5 = = -3 (918N 20201 11874 2114 1403041
Issue of new shares BfiFgRiER

from exercising options ki 2 434 - (90) - - - - - - - 346 - 346
Repurchase and canoelation of shares Wl (50)  (11,876) - - - - - - - - - (1,92) - (11,9%)
Recognion of equty-settled U EREENRD

share-based payments (Note 32) FaRRHER) - - - 1528 - - - - - - - T58 48750 124,008
Finaldvidend for the year ended HE-E-CECR

31 December 2022 =t-BItFEY

(Note 12) FER ) - - - - - - - - - - (831,234 (831,234) - (831,234
Interim and specialinterim didend for ~ EZ=%=

the year ended 31 December 2023 =+—RILEEZMHR

(Note 12) RIS (ik2) - - = = = = = = = - (131485 (731489) - (131489
Dividends paid to non-controling THTHERTZ

shareholders of subsidries HERREZRE - - - - - - - = = = = - (214859 (214859)
Translers to reserve EETHE - - - - - 4005 - = = - (M4005) = = S

W e - 75068 - s - - - - 00T (LA90H) (166109 (1665150

Balance at 31 Decerber 2023 W-E-=f

TZAZT-HeER 110831 6,619,517 1911 162558 10594 3821506 280581 778838  (703801) (1461,906) 50,135,642 59,741,361 4,693,261 64,434,622
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Notes:

Special surplus account represents the difference between the nominal amount of
the shares issued by the Company and the nominal amount of the issued share
capitals of the subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company under the Group
reorganisation in 1993.

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, represents
capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries and funds
shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production operations.

The property revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on revaluation of
certain properties of the Group for own use as a result of transfer of those properties
from property, plant and equipment to investment properties.

Goodwill reserve represents the effects of changes in ownership in certain
subsidiaries when there is no change in control.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZE—=4+_A=+—HILFE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

2023 2022
—E=E —E-F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
b FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETTE
Profit before taxation BRI AE T 2,787,711 6,777,072
Adjustments for: P
Share of results of joint ventures RN (85,626) (81,481)
Share of result of an associate FEIREGE N RS (90,378) (181,648)
Depreciation of property, W - WE R
plant and equipment RIBZITE 1,930,070 1,838,625
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 52,786 45,892
Amortisation of intangible assets | A EHE 6,480 6,480
(Reversal of impairment) impairment FEHEEEEEXATE B
loss under expected credit loss model R CRERE D) REEE
on trade receivables, net of reversal ER B[ (45,977) 32,753
Finance costs ELESND®IN 1,124,463 504,272
Interest income on bank balances RITREBR RN -
and deposits, entrusted loans and ZHERMEWRERZ
loan receivable FEYA (268,657) (239,866)
Impairment loss under expected TEEEEEEERIET
credit loss model on debt instruments BEATFERFAREMEZERE
at fair value through other B IAZ
comprehensive income BUEEE 2,283 1,579,000
Impairment loss on under expected FEHEEREEERAT
credit loss model on loan receivable FEWE R BRI EEE 893,907 -
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of EATHER AEEZ
equity instruments at fair value ERTAZANFESE
through profit or loss (W) 18 (310,844) 222,507
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HEZRAFERTA
at fair value through other Emezmim s @B IR
comprehensive income Wiz (30,009) (114,266)
Net loss on fair value changes WEWENTFEES 2
of investment properties B8 F5E 113,434 147,559
Loss on disposal and written off HERIMEDE - BER
of property, plant and equipment REEE 30,479 127,406
Share-based payments BB R AR 124,008 125,300
Write-down of properties held WO R Y2
for development 553,032 -
(Reversal of write-down) write-down (HoR R MR T &
of inventories (140,926) 423,141
Operating cash flows before EEESEHHZ
movements in working capital KEHERE 6,646,236 11,212,746
Increase in inventories FEEN (168,623) (817,561)
Decrease in properties held FEBRMERD
for development 218,759 838,405
Decrease (increase) in restricted ZRHERITIER
bank deposits B (g ) 120,011 (130,100)
Decrease in trade and B 5 N H U AR T K
other receivables and prepayments TR FRIE R 148,015 2,566,242
(Increase) decrease in bills receivables FEW =4 (42 h0) 5 4 (159,436) 1,589,218
Decrease (increase) in equity instruments 1R AT(EET A2
at fair value through profit or loss Mz T AR (1 h0) 609,698 (154,364)
(Increase) decrease in debt instruments BN ERT AEAM
at fair value through other PENEEBIA
comprehensive income (3 hn)RE A (16,114) 48,742
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 & H M ERBRFOR D (270,216) (25,597)
Decrease in bills payables ENEERL (56,492) (25,048)
Decrease in contract liabilities AHaERD (899,599) (2,325,764)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



@ BEHKEERRA A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERETRER
2023 2022
—EC-=F T —F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
b FET FAT
Cash generated from operations IR EETRATSIN S 6,172,239 13,276,919
Other income taxes paid EMBEHFEH (87,958) (32,836)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) paid EHFBEEEH
(T{EEEH ) (455,536) (1,450,271)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid B8R B i ER
(M +3hsBER ) (152,741) (605,056)
PRC withholding tax paid 2P BN (158,841) (333,729)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BB EFEH (6,340) (270,116)
NET CASH FROM RETHRBRETHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,310,823 10,584,915
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE % - = L& E (3,275,249) (3,729,656)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition i SR EENEIEY 34
of a subsidiary RE M58 = (2,797,468)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property,  HEBY% - BERBE
plant and equipment [EANHES (744,378) (1,313,750)
Purchase of debt investments at fair value & B 12 A F(EEH A E A
through other comprehensive income PENE 2 BEBRE (698,402) (476,210)
Payments for right-of-use assets EREEEMNK (116,057) (251,129)
Net (purchase) disposal of (BE)HEZRATE
equity instruments at fair value through FFAEECEETA
profit or loss Fri5 558 (4,882,533) 1,932,876
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of &R AT EEF AL
debt instruments at fair value through EEWE 2 EFTE(KEIE)
other comprehensive income P88 107,008 591,502
Interest received [RE &IPS, 263,026 251,733
Dividend received from an associate B —MEEE A RIRE 174,202 168,222
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - BEKE
plant and equipment REPTSIRIE 340,120 108,296
Dividend received from a joint venture BER—EEEARIRE 91,448 71,932
Repayment received on entrusted loans ZEEREBEER 76,952 70,147
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREMERSRIE
properties 140,456 42,155
Repayment received on loan receivable ENE R E WBEER 282,000 -
—E-FFIR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HERERER
2023 2022
—EC-=F T —F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
b FET FAET
NET CASH USED IN RETBHFMARESTE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (8,241,407) (5,331,350)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank borrowings raised HRITEE 20,779,552 17,726,583
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTER (17,577,941) (16,380,933)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares B BRI S (1,163,871) (3,326,376)
Dividends paid to non-controlling XNTHEARZ
shareholders of subsidiaries FEFEARARER 2 IR B (288,522) (1,238,275)
Interest paid EEREAPS) (1,110,903) (526,903)
Capital contribution from non-controling  Fff B &) FEFE AR AR 5
shareholders of a subsidiary HE - (16,800)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREaE (4,453) (4,393)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRRAD AT 5508 346 -
Payment on repurchase and cancellation of &% [a] K 7+ $5A% 17 15 50
shares (11,926) -
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REFBMEA)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BE S 622,282 (3,767,097)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN REPRESZEEER (RD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EmFEE (2,308,302) 1,486,468
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHAZRERALEMEER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,693,336 5,612,357
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERSEHT
RATE CHANGES (296,712) (305,489)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZESRELEEEE
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 4,088,322 6,693,336
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BEHEERRAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZE—=4+_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kingboard Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 45.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and
sales of laminates, printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), chemicals,
magnetic products, property development and investments and
investment business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the Company’s functional
currency of Renminbi (‘RMB”), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates. Because the
Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of
its investors are located in Hong Kong, therefore the directors of the
Company (“Directors”) considered it is more convenient for the users
of the consolidated financial statements to present the consolidated
financial statement in HKS.
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@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR MY

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 Income
Taxes International Tax Reform - Pillar Two model Rules

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 12 is amended to add the exception to recognising and
disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities that are
related to tax law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (the “Pillar Two legislation”). The
amendments require that entities apply the amendments immediately
upon issuance and retrospectively. The amendments also require that
entities to disclose separately its current tax expense/income related
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods which the Pillar Two legislation
is in effect, and the qualitative and quantitative information about its
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the Pillar Two
legislation is enacted or substantially enacted but not yet in effect in
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The Group has applied the temporary exception immediately upon
issue of these amendments and retrospectively, i.e. applying the
exception from the date the Pillar Two legislation is enacted or
substantially enacted.

As at 31 December 2023, the government of the United Kingdom,
where the group entities are incorporated or registered, enacted the
Pillar Two income tax legislation effective on or after 1 January 2024.
There is no impact on profit and tax expense of the Group as at and
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Under the legislation, the
Group will be required to pay top-up tax on profits of subsidiaries
that are taxed at an effective tax rate of less than 15 per cent
calculated based on the specific adjustments envisaged in the Pillar
Two legislation, which may give rise to different effective tax rates
compared to those calculated based on accounting profit.

The Group is continuing to assess the impact of the Pillar Two income
taxes legislation on its future financial performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR MY

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR MY

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR MY

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or
non-current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been
modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify
that only covenants with which an entity is required to comply with
on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with only
after the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ HKF RSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if the entity
classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current
when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject
to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the

reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the
2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 amendments for an earlier period after the issue
of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022

Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2023,
the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result in

reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUSs”) (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUSs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

The Group policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments in an associate and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of an associate and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue from property investment will be accounted for
accordance with HKFRS 16, whereas dividend income and
interest income from investments will be accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods, properties or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods, properties or services
in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the
period between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of leased properties that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
or inventory are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties held for development” respectively.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #&A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REXRSFTHEER =
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2 EXEFEEERE

Leases (continued) HE(E)

The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBIERFATANA (B)

Lease liabilities (continued) HEBEB(E)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a R TER » AEEEERN

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) FEHEAEOQTEEMEME

whenever: AEFHEERE)

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in o HHBEMEEITER
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in BEEERNIEEEY
which case the related lease liability is remeasured b EUIERT - 18
by discounting the revised lease payments using a HEAGEEATREN
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment. aTh B HAM A S ET AL ER

KBS TR EN R
MEHETE -

. the lease payments change due to changes in market J HEMNRAERT miEHE
rental rates following a market rent review, in which SEMBHeEREHM
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by MRS - ERER
discounting the revised lease payments using the T HEHEEEER
initial discount rate. {2 A )45 AL 3R AL IR A4

B HENRMEHNT
£

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on REERERE VAR R B B

the consolidated statement of financial position. BHEZIHEARE -

The Group as a lessor REBERL A

Classification and measurement of leases HMEMNSBERTZ

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as REBEREHEANEESBA

finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease BESREETE - WHEEKRTE

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to EREERAREMTHBRID

ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is [E\ b Ko 1 ¥R EEE T AN - &4

classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as DERRMEEE - IAHMEE

operating leases. B ERKEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (continued)

Rental income from operating leases are recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair values,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the year in which the property is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

The Group transfers properties held for development to
investment properties when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the inception of an operating
lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value
at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than freehold lands
and property, plant and equipment under construction as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost
less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes, are
carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by the management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Sale proceeds of items that are produced while bringing an
item of property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management (such as samples produced
when testing whether the asset is functioning properly), and
the related costs of producing those items are recognised
in the profit or loss. The cost of those items are measured in
accordance with the measurement requirements of HKAS
2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual
values of not less than their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than freehold lands, artwork and property, plant and
equipment under construction) less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits arising from pre-sale
of properties that are held for meeting short-term
cash commitments. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When
a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development for which revenue recognised over time, the
Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the
properties are ready for the Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”) are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

For Long Service Payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to
be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to Directors and
employees and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in share-based payments reserve.

For share options that are vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payments reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary difference.
In addition, the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arisen from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold lands,
which is always presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by the same taxation
authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue. Interest
income from bank balances and deposits, entrusted loans
and loan receivable are included in other income, gains and

losses.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #&A
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REXRSFTHEER =
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 32 EXRSHEERER®
Financial instruments (continued) ERMITAGE)
Financial assets (continued) 2HEE(E)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets CRBENDEREENE(E)
(continued)
(ii) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI (i DEABEAFETAR
b2 EMEMEH TR
Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt EREBERMNEESE
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of HIMEWAZHH D
interest income calculated using the effective interest RN FERARME
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses ¥ =mHESTARE
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes BEREBEEZPRER
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments BaREERER - 25
are recognised in other comprehensive income B T AEREEENAR
and accumulated under the heading of investment BEMESHNEMEE
revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are WEHER  WRIEES
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding i T RE o BUER
adjustment to other comprehensive income HREBRER - WHHE
without reducing the carrying amounts of these fth 2 T 4 25 1 AR FE A
debt instruments. When these debt instruments B PRAZEEBT
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses BEMEREE EZ5E
previously recognised in other comprehensive income BLAEKILERE 2
are reclassified to profit or loss. AT E 2 W= 3R
B Rt B E
DIEEIRE -
(iil Financial assets at FVTPL (iii BERATEFAERNS
BMEE
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being TRIEE NN RS
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated AR A FEERA
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Hith 2 H Wz 5t 2048
EREAFET AHAM

2EAEENEE - Al
ATET AREHE -

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value RATEFAEZNS
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value MEER SRS BREK
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net RNEEFE  FRAFE
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any B EERER R
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and R RIERER R
is included in the “gain (loss) on fair value changes of LEEFETBIENZ
equity instruments at FVTPL”. ©RE EREL 2 E AR

BIFIE - WHATER
TIEABR BT
87 AT ESBUGE (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, bills receivables, entrusted
loans, loan receivable, debt instruments at FVTOCI, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee
contracts which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and loan receivable. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually and/or collectively based on appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #&r

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2 EXEFEEERE
Financial instruments (continued) eMIAE)
Financial assets (continued) cHEEE)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to IRIR 7 B 15 B R AR RIS 055 5

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

TTREMMEN SR EE R H IR
BZREE)

(i)

EERRAE L
FERHE B R ER LR
ERRRTBREEMN
B AEESSBTA
RERABERZONRA
B H S F T BRI mHE
RAHMBEEONRR
HEITHLE » EEH AR
b AEBEZEERE
WA e E 8 MEN
BF - BRBERLRLK
EFNE T BEOERIN
XA % ) B ] 1S 1
AIEMEER -

ARmME £ EEE
BB T REIRINEE
BIATEE -

. an actual or expected significant deterioration o @ T AN
in the financial instrument’s external (if (#0E)skmEB(E
available) or internal credit rating; BEFMNER S

EEHHEES
=

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

. B o N:l
Rzt ok
Z WEEEE
RIELEF - EH
AEEENEN
EREE LT

. existing or forecast adverse changes in . BB ERER
business, financial or economic conditions ABITEHEGES
that are expected to cause a significant B NBEET
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its PEEER - BT
debt obligations; AL AR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk of financial
assets has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR AR MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #&E
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REAESTBERER®
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2 EXEFEEERE
Financial instruments (continued) eMIAE)
Financial assets (continued) cHEEE)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to RIBB B ISR RAER F o5
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued) TREN NS REERHEMIE
BZREE)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (iii ZERESREE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more ERE—BAZEES
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated BEEMTARARERR
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. EENMNEEZEMH
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired B emMAEHRREER
includes observable data about the following events: WA eREEREFEER
BzERBEULTAIE
REMH:
(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the @ BT ARERA
borrower; BEERNTB
g
(o) a breach of contract, such as a default or past (o) EREH - wWE
due event; BB E
(© the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (© BRANERA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s HH A B SR B
financial difficulty, having granted to the TSR E AR A A
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) B AL REAM
would not otherwise consider; MERARTE
RATERITE
RRESE
(@ it is becoming probable that the borrower @ CEVNCZEDIEZ
will enter bankruptcy or other financial MR ESETT
reorganisation; or Hab s ER
%
@) the disappearance of an active market for that () 7 B BUR B
financial asset because of financial difficulties. BEHEHMEERKR

EERTS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR AR MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

PR AR MY

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI and financial guarantee
contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments. Such
amount represents the changes in the investment
revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills
payables, dividends payable and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the Directors
have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios as at 31
December 2023, and concluded that the investment properties
located in the PRC with carrying amount of HK$13,347,994,000
(2022: HK$12,952,960,000) are held under a business model which
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, the Directors have determined the presumption that
the carrying amounts of such investment properties are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group has not
recognised deferred taxes on LAT in respect of changes in fair value
of such investment properties but has recognised deferred tax on EIT
on the assumption that these investment properties will be recovered
through use.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 24)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the investment properties located
in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts
of HK$4,076,290,000 (2022: HK$4,082,190,000) and
HK$6,377,504,000 (2022: HK$6,414,480,000), respectively are
not held under a business model which objective is to recover the
economic benefits of the investment properties entirely through use.
No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair value changes in
such investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The group
is subject to capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in
the United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the
fair value changes in such investment properties located in the United
Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Allowances for inventories (Note 25)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the fluctuations in price, the balance on hand
relative to sales prospect and the condition of the inventories and
estimate the net realisable value of inventories based on estimated
selling prices and market condition to the extent that such condition
exists at the end of reporting period, less the estimated cost of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Where the net
realisable value is less than the carrying amount, impairment loss
will arise. Reversal of write-down of HK$140,926,000 (2022: write-
down of HK$423,141,000) on inventories has been recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023,
the carrying amount of inventories was HK$3,775,589,000 (2022:
HK$3,511,514,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U NCERTA'NTY continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for

development (Note 26)

In determining whether write-down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group determined the net
realisable values of the properties held for development by reference
to the estimated selling price less estimated costs to completion
of the properties and costs necessary to make the sale. The future
selling prices are estimated by reference to the recent selling prices
of similar properties in the same project or relevant locations. In
addition, the management estimated the future costs to complete
the properties held for development and costs necessary to make
the sale by reference to the actual development costs and selling
expenses incurred and the completion status. When assessing
the net realisable value of the properties held for development, the
management will also make reference to the valuations carries out
by an independent qualified valuer which engaged by the Group. If
the actual net realisable values on properties held for development
is less than expected as a result of change in market condition and/
or significant variation in the budgeted development cost, material
write-down may result. Write-down of HK$553,032,000 (2022: nil) on
properties held for development has been recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of properties held for development was HK$15,419,688,000

(2022: HK$16,896,546,000).

ECL for trade receivables (Notes 27(a) and 36)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to the Group’s internal credit ratings. The estimated loss rates
are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes

27(a) and 36(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$6,543,486,000 (2022: HK$6,812,639,000), net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$1,090,600,000 (2022: HK$1,176,760,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C ERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
ECL for debt instruments at FVTOCI

Due to the defaults of a bond issuer in making payments of interest
and principal for its indebtedness, the Directors considered there
was a significant increase in credit risk in the debt instruments at
FVTOCI issued by this issuer. The Group engaged an independent
qualified valuer to assist in the estimation of the ECL provision on the
debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer by determining an
appropriate probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default

rate of each debt instrument and forward-looking adjustments.

For the remaining debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by other
bond issuers, the Directors considered that the credit risk on these
investments is limited as the bonds securities listed on Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”) and Irish Stock
Exchange and were issued by listed issuers in Hong Kong with good
creditability. The Directors assess ECL on these debt instruments at
FVTOCI based on the default rates published by major international
credit rating agencies that are applicable to the respective debts

instruments.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
debt instruments at FVTOCI was HK$861,970,000 (2022:
HK$629,933,000). Based on the assessment, the Group has
recognised impairment loss under expected credit loss model of
HK$2,283,000 (2022: HK$1,579,000,000) in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023, details of which are disclosed in Note

36(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

ECL for loan receivable

During the year ended 2023, due to the defaults of the borrower of
the loan receivable in making payments of interest and principal for
its indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the loan receivable to this borrower. The
Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to assist in the
estimation of the ECL provision on the loan receivable to this borrower
by determining an appropriate discount factor, exposure at default,
probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default rate of the
loan receivable and forward-looking adjustments.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the Group’s loan
receivable was HK$721,591,000 (2022: HK$1,880,000,000). Based
on the assessment, the Group has recognised impairment loss under
expected credit loss model of HK$893,907,000 (2022: nil) in profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023, details of which are
disclosed in Notes 23 and 36(b).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation methodologies and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified valuer to perform the valuation of the Group’s
investment properties. At the end of each reporting period, the
valuation committee of the Group work closely with the independent
qualified valuer to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
methodologies and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value
measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs
where inputs can be observable, other than quoted prices in the
active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will
adopt valuation methodologies that include Level 3 inputs. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of
the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the
price per square metre with reference to recent transactions will affect
the fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information
about the valuation methodologies and inputs used in determining the
fair value of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in Note
14. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of investment
properties was HK$23,801,788,000 (2022: HK$23,449,630,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. For listed equity securities classified as
equity instruments at FVTPL, the fair values of the listed securities are
determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available.
For bond securities classified as debt instruments at FVTOCI, where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors assess the fair value of
the Group’s bond securities listed on the SGX and issued by listed
issuers in Hong Kong based on quoted prices in the over-the-counter
markets at the end of each reporting period. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the equity investments at FVTPL and debt
instruments at FVTOCI, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported
to the Directors. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
equity instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI were
HK$11,124,756,000 and HK$861,970,000 (2022: HK$6,541,077,000
and HK$629,933,000) respectively. Notes 21, 22 and 36(c) provide
detailed information about the valuation methodologies, inputs
and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at
FVTOCI.
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(i) The amount mainly included sales of magnetic products of
HK$325,765,000 (2022: HK$380,631,000).

(ii) Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel
accommodation.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of laminates, PCBs,
chemicals and magnetic products is recognised at a point in time.
Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from
these sales is recognised when customer acceptance has been
obtained, which is the point of time when the goods are delivered
based on the agreed shipping terms and the location specified by the
customers, and when the customer has the ability to direct the use of
these products and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of
these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised over time, as
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
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5. REVENUE 5. EX®
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FREEBNOTAT -
2023 2022
—B==f —EoF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Revenue recognised at a point in time MNE BB S 55
Sales of chemicals SHEC TER 10,567,369 13,186,577
Sales of laminates SHEE IR 13,730,259 15,835,530
Sales of PCBs S E DRI RE IR 11,647,776 13,183,716
Sales of properties SHEYHE 1,281,687 4,970,777
Others (Note i) oA (PR 3ED 339,767 397,792
Revenue recognised over time (Note ii) BERF R A & 288 (3T 145,156 109,625
Revenue from contracts with customers BEPEaHWE 37,712,014 47,684,017
Rental income HelA 1,470,460 1,290,775
Interest income from debt instruments BT AR EWA 38,676 83,926
Dividend income from equity instruments Hem T AR BUMA 491,349 317,183
39,712,499 49,375,901
Notes: BIE -
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REVEN U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers

All sales contracts, apart for sales of properties, have an original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for these contracts is not disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows:
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SHEWME
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, who are the Chief Operating Decision
Makers (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into six main operating
divisions — (i) laminates, (ii) PCBs, (iii) chemicals, (iv) properties, (v)
investments (mainly investment income from debt instruments at
FVTOCI and equity instruments at FVTPL) and (vi) others (mainly
including service income, manufacture and sale of magnetic products

and hotel business).

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment results represent the profit earned
by/loss from each segment with certain items not included (share
of result of an associate, share of results of joint ventures, finance
costs, share-based payments, impairment losses under expected
loss model on loan receivable and unallocated corporate income and
expenses). This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose

of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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RENBHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results (a) oHEEBREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results T RIRBRSME D 2 KAEE
by reportable segments: EREBMERE NI
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-=f+=-A=+—H
HEE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others ~ Eliminations Consolidated
ERER  ORSRR  (IER S RE A HE g&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T Tn T T
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Wifa) (WD) (i)
Seqment revenue HPesE
External sales sER 13,730,259 11,647,776 10,567,369 2,752,147 530,025 484,923 - 30,712,499
Inter-segment sales PEEHER 3452433 - 631,483 - - 5315 (4,089,231) 5
Total 3 17,182,692 11,647,776 11,198,852 2,752,147 530,025 490238 (4,089,231 39,712,499
Resut 54
Segment resuits A5E 1571625 1316141 605765 496585 868,864 4011 4,862,991
Unallocated corporate ncome kAL AFMA 249,190
Undlocated comoraeexpenses  RARZ ATRE (356,096)
Impaiment loss under expected ~ EHIEEERERT
crecitloss moce on ERE
loan recevable RERE (898,907)
Finance costs BENA (1,124463)
Share-based payments GRS (124,008)
Share of resufs of joint ventures~ FE(RASATIEE 85,626
Share of result of an associete Eyb%ﬂ%ﬁz 90,378
Proft before taxation it 2,787,114

—FER



-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

sales of properties and rental income into “Properties” segment
because the financial performance of both businesses are
affected by changes in the property market.

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from
equity instruments into “Investments” segment.

(c) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales
of magnetic products, income from hotel accommodation and

income from other businesses.

Inter-segment sales are charged on a cost-plus basis with an

arm’s length margin.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEBERw
Segment revenue and results (continued) (a) IHEEBEREEZH)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 gz-_E-_—_F#+=-A=+—8
IEFE
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties  Investments Others  Elminations ~ Consolidated!
BAER OBGER  (LIEG VES RE Eff 4 a4
HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS 000
T T T T T T T T
(Note &) (Note b} (Note c)
(Hka) k) (Fike)
Seqment revenue HPesE
External sales hsER 15,835,030 13,183,716 13186577 6,261,562 401,109 507,417 - 49375901
Inter-seqment sales PR HER 4,103,036 - 706800 - - 1496 (4824762 -
Total st 19938966 13183716 13893377 6,261,692 401,109 520343 (4,824,762 49,375,901
Result 5
Segment resuits e 2307013 1088937 2464665 2923224 (1286,131) (1,909 7,465,799
Unallocated comporateincome — &ATLZAFMA 53272
Unalocated coporate expenses ~ &ARZ AFRE (375,556)
Finance costs BEAL (504,272)
Share-based payments RhwARS (125,300}
Share of results of oint ventures (G2 4ATER 81,481
Shareofresult of anassociate  EMBENFER 181,648
Proft before taxaton it 8,777,072
Notes: P sE -
(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (@) EEESYENEEENEERLES

WARZIRMZE D #F - BAERME
EBNFBRBEBURAN Y ET SN S
1t »

(b) ERERER TANSRARER TA
P BN EEEAGIAIRE |80 -

(©) EREMHEMEEREER BEE
BUWAREMEBRAAG -

7 B 2 SHE RSN A IR F A o
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) SHBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities AT BIZBERYEE D 2 AN
by reportable segments: BERBEZSN
At 31 December 2023 R-EBZ=F+=-A=+—H
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties Investments Others  Consolidated
ERER  ORSER tIER nE k5 A &&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Thn Thn Thn THn Thn TEn Thn
Assets BE
Seqment assets HHEE 18,547,282 15,360,143 6,855,028 40034621 11,986,727 640426 93,424,207
Interests in an associate REBRF S 445,132
Interests in joint ventures RAERTZER 2,473,378
Unallocated assets ROELAE
-Cashand cash equivalents’ ~ -B4 REAZEER/
resricted bank deposts RBHROER 1,820,532
- Deferred tax assets ~EEHEEE 3,068
- Taxation recoverable - ERE 32,626
- Others -Efy 769,563
Consolidated fotal assets GREEME 98,966,526
Liabilities B
Segment fabilties NBERE (3151,760) (241,208  (1,127,821)  (1,464,190) - (34170)  (8,189,150)
Unallocated liabilties AlizEE
- Bank borrowings -HkE (22,922,683)
- Taxation payable - fEaitE (1,352,201)
- Deferred tax iabilties -ERfERE (831,828)
- Others —Hfh (1,238,042)
Consolcted ol ebities  £ABELE (34,533.904)

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. T3 ﬁ*ﬂ'(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued) b) PHEEREEE)
At 31 December 2022 R-BZ=-H+=-A=+—H
Laminates PCBs ~ Chemicals ~ Properies  Investments Others  Consolidated
BRER  ORgRR  (IER H %& Hth &h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fhn i Fhn i Thn i FhL
Assets &E
Segment assets NHEE 19,068,337 14,999,064 5015461 42,148,099 7,171,010 704,890 89,106,861
Interests in an associate REENTZER 532,059
Interests in joint ventures RAEDEZER 2,369,699
Unallocated assets ROELAE
-Cashand cash equivalents’ ~ -B4 RESZEER/
resricted bank deposts RRHHTER 3,282,782
- Deferred tax assets ~EEHEEE 201
- Taxation recoverable ~ A EHE 76,159
- Others -Eft 1023,014
Consolidated total assets TREEEE 97,293 151
Liabilities g
Segment liabilties NEaE (64311)  (9,648279)

Unallocated liabiliies FoEzafE

- Bank borrowings ~Hifss (19,747,162)

- Taxation payable —[ESiA (1,682,177)

- Deferred tax liabiities BRLfERE (078,126)

- Others —Efh (541,580)
Congolidated total libiities FRakLE (32,597,320)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and RERSERRER D EBEDEEIR

allocating resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other ° MRAPREEE N BIRRER « REEND
than interests in an associate, interests in joint R ELERIEEE - Al
ventures, deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable, EfE - ETRe MRS EEE
certain cash and cash equivalents and other assets; BUKEMEEN FIBEEED
and BLEEEDH s K&

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . MIRTTEE R EASE -
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation FiTE N E B E Fﬁ'ﬁ%ﬁ
payable and other liabilities. HRELEDES

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ%lgﬁ*sl'(%)
Other information (c) HEH
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZB=-=%+=-A=+—H
LHEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or SFADEMERER D BB ETER
segment assets: S5
Unallocated
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals  Properties  Investments Others amount  Consolidated
BAER  ORSER  LIER g & B AAESE &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tn TAn TAn Tén Tn TAn T#n Tin
Capta addifons BT 1196103 1551222 2303307 846,253 - 10,793 - 5907678
Depreciaton of propery, plantand 41 BR k&7
equipment & (903,414) (698,261) (274,669) (2,508) - (51,218) - (1,930,070
Deprecieion of ight-ofuse assels  EEEEENE (10913) (6,863) (15,968) - - (19,04 - (52,780)
Ganon farvae chenges of equity A TESTABRHERTE
instruments at FVTPL DTEEEIE - - - - 310,84 - s 310844
Geln on disposal of debt instuments ot i ERAFE: AL 2EER
AYTOCI ERTEks - e = = 30,009 = > 30009
Wite-down of PUD HREERE - - - (65303 = o - (®30%)
Impaiment oss under expected credt BENEBERRH TRUETH
loss Mookl on oan receiveble REEE - - - - = - (BB%n)  (890T)
Impaiment oss Under BEEEEREG T RAT AL
ECL model on debt instruments A2 AURHERT AN
atAToc! HEEE - - - = (228 o > (2283
Impaiment loss reversed (ecognised]) - EEEESEEATHEREL
under ECL model on trade receivables Bzt (32) 7 BB R 70,990 (24,235) (650) (175) - a - 4591
Reversal of write-down (wrte-cown) of - 2545 ()
inventories 121,267 30,612 (10,598) - - (355) - 140926
Inerestincome on bark balances, /7% i BFETR
deposts,entrusted oensendoan~~ EREZ ZFBHA
recelvable 35,643 5,126 11,864 15,002 - 115 200,907 268,657
(Loss) gan on cisposal and written offof £ ERiTEEME « BER
propety,plnt and equipment iz EE A (642 6 (759 (60) - 10 5% (30479
Netlossonfairvalue changes of ~~ RAMEATEES,
investment propertes EEsE - - - (11343 - - - (1343
T FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GAMBHEN D
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /]-J\%Bﬁ*sl'(%)
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HERE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 gz-_E-_—_F#+=-A=+—8
IEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or FFADEIEESK DB EEFEN
segment assets: BEE
Unallocated
Laminates PCBs ~ Chemicas  Properfes  Investments Others amount  Consoldated
BRER RS (Izk - 78 B ROREE 8
HKS 000 HK$ 1000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HKS 1000 HK$ 1000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
Tiin Tin Titn Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin
Capial additions AR 2417678 1201315 1,307,901 3,418,669 - 106,392 - 8,491,995
Deoreciaton of propery, plantand 1% BRRkEZ
equipment & W0 EEEY @91 G99 (%) BN - [eBey
Depreciaion o right-ofuse assets.~ EEEENE (14173 (3.806) (1027 - - (16979] - {#68%)
Loss on fa value chenges of equity AT IESHABAHEATE
instnments at FVTPL DTEREEE - - - - - - b
Geln on disposal of debt nstuments ot £ ERAFE AL H2EUER
AITocl e - - - - 1148 - STy
Impaiment oss Under BEEEERE T RAT AL
ECL modelon debt R EAANERTAY
instruments at FVTOCH REEE - - - - (1579000 - - (1579000
Impaiment loss reversed BHEEEEEATHES
(recogpised) under ECL mod BIERR(E2
on frade recefvables REEE 875 (73,069 3739 (1,166) - 8948 - (32759
(Wite-cown) reversel of wrte-down 77 &€ (i) s
ofvenores G451 [8TH T8 1278 - M - )
Inerest moome on berk balances,  $78% - R ZHEER
deposts, enfrusted bans endloan W EFZFEMA
recelvable 31,204 3401 17573 189% 8612 80 159,800 239,866
(Loss) gan on cisposal and written offof £ ERTEENE « BER
property, plant and equipment i EE s (181 (130089) 4400 1797 - 23 - [
Netlossonfairvalue changes of ~—~ RAMEATEES,
investment properties FEE - - - (147,559) - - - (147 559)
The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of AEBEBEBMNPRE(AE
domicile). ZFFEHD) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6.
(c)  Other information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of interest income and dividend
income, the principal place of business of the debtor or
investee:

T
4
b3
)
at
@
5>
all

DEPE R @

) HtER@E
REEREBEEPHEP A -
o i 8 ) S U A R BB A RIAR
BEBATRRE T T EE?
WEH MR P R TN

T

Year ended

31 December

BE+-HA=+—HLEFE

2023 2022

—EC=H —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T BT

The PRC (country of domicile) PR (FTERZ) 34,652,221 44,824,413
Other Asian countries (including Thailand, — E S MEIR (BIERE -

Japan, Korea and Singapore) B« B KETE) 2,531,228 2,119,016
Europe BOM 1,853,185 1,470,017
America EM 675,865 962,455

39,712,499 49,375,901
No single external customer of the Group contributed over HE =K -_ZT-_—_%+—-A4

10% of the Group’s revenue for each of the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets
other than entrusted loans, deferred tax assets, equity
instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI by
location of assets is presented as follows:

=+ BULREFEE -

REBEYEE—2

SNEBE P IE AR B X EEB10% °

BREREER  BEREEE - BAFE
FPABRENER T ARRATERFAR
b2 EWENER TR - REBIER
PEEREEMHRANE5WT

At 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—E_-=5 —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
The PRC (country of domicile) R (FTERZR) 42,303,392 39,960,308
United Kingdom = 8,576,209 8,962,093
Thailand EE| 647,000 420,757
51,526,601 49,343,158

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HiWA ~ W= RkBE

2023 2022
—ECo=5 —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Other income, gains and losses includes: Hiplg A ~ Wz R EEsE
Interest income on bank balances and deposits 847458 R 17282 Fl U A 112,456 63,543
Interest income on entrusted loans ZREERZFBMA 11,939 16,528
Interest income from loan receivable JEUE R Z F B 144,262 159,800
Government grants (Note) BRAT AR 8L (F7E) 59,612 75,056
Loss on disposal and written off of property, HERMEmE - BE R
plant and equipment RiEEE (30,479) (127,400)
Others Hib 21,144 35,202
318,934 222,718
Note:  Government grants are related to unemployment insurance premium MisE :  BTEEA AR B AR TIPS
refunds, import of high technology products, development support and MARERBERE  SFRNTERED
support for stabilising employment received by the Group from relevant TR ERIEREBERESE KB
government departments. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to EAAIZ SRR I G R -

these grants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERAK
2023 2022
—EC=5F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T T
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFR S 1,148,839 527,614
Imputed interest on contract liabilities ERAEZEENE = 26,502
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 329 433
Less: Amounts capitalised in the properties B ETARFEERYEDN
held for development BN &5 (13,170) (34,266)
Amounts capitalised in the construction EFRETRENERE
in progress &5 (11,535) (16,011)
1,124,463 504,272
Bank borrowing costs capitalised during the year include imputed FREBEMNMEZIRITEERABIEAS L
interest on contract liabilities of HK$nil (2022: HK$26,502,000) as BEZHEENEERT(ZE-—
well as, bank borrowing costs arising from the general borrowing pool 26,502,000/ 70 ) M —REEMBES 2
which were calculated by applying a weighted average capitalisation WITEERN  UEBREERS INE
rate of 5.04% (2022: 3.65%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying FEHEARNMEERNKRE.04% (T = —F :
assets. 3.65%)FT &
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. Fif8BimxX
2023 2022
—EC_=5F —EoF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T BT
The amount comprises: SR
PRC EIT R EEPTISH 312,617 1,134,627
PRC LAT AR Bt IR 40,468 657,683
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEEMER 12,485 50,422
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions Hthml AR 2 B8 50,470 42,435
Withholding tax in the PRC TR 158,841 333,725
Overprovision in previous years BT FEBERE (1,479) (6,758)
573,402 2,212,134
Deferred taxation (credit) charge (Note 24) RIERIIE (e ) X (FiEE24) (129,793) 376,384
443,609 2,588,518

—E - FFET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

0. |NCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%

for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5%-10% is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards.
Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was
officially endorsed. Certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC
obtained official endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise
(“Tax Concession”) and with the expiry dates on or before 2025 (2022:

2024).

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the

completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Group has applied the temporary exception issued by the
HKICPA in July 2023 from the accounting requirements for deferred
taxes in HKAS 12. Accordingly, the Group neither recognises nor
discloses information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related

to Pillar Two income taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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|NCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

BEHEERRAA

rEHAXZ e

BEERE - BRAEH MRS TS RA
CHEELAVERRTEEARBEER - W
EFERNEBAE IR AT ERTAETF
#916.5%5 & °

Fh B R E 2 BOB oA B A AR
Z B -

REZZFBHAX G BaRRHR
AN Z SRR T

2023 2022
—E-=5 T F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Profit before taxation MR R B A 2,787,711 6,777,072
Tax charge at the domestic income tax LABI TS 5 225%
rate of 25% (2022: 25%) (Note) (ZB-—F : 25%)5tE
Bk (R3E) 696,928 1,694,268
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AN EBER G2
tax purpose 225,535 434,263
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERB WS 2 RS &
tax purpose (82,857) (85,724)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures I & &R FI¥EE 2 TG E (21,407) (20,370)
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JEMEEE DR B2 (22,594) (45,412)
PRC LAT FR B+ IR (E R 40,468 657,683
Tax effect of PRC LAT AP IR E T 2 B A R 2 (10,117) (164,421)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income AR BIFfI & 2 &7)JE 24A% S A
from PRC subsidiaries HRMTERY 2 & 158,841 333,725
Tax effect of Tax Concession MBEE BB E (423,634) (573,063)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R ERHIEEE 2 HBETE 118,288 120,105
Utilisation of tax losses previously AN ERER
not recognised FiIaEia (150,241) (185,876)
Effect of withholding tax on undistributed TR S BT A B FE (S
profits attributable to the PRC subsidiaries RO IRE T FE - 498,000
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BREIAFTSELERIN -
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other RE A RERE R R A
than the domestic income tax rate B AE 2 TNREBR 2 f 2 (84,122) (67,902)
Overprovision in previous years B FERERE (1,479) (6,758)
Income tax expense for the year RNEE 7 FriSFi sz 443,609 2,588,518

Note: ~ The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) represents the PRC EIT

of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.

BN ERHES%N(— B 4 -
25%) A EEABH LI FHENHHE
DEFTERIE -

B =FFR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. NEERF
2023 2022
—EC-=5F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Profit for the year has been arrived AR R 2 AR (BT A)
at after charging (crediting): LATRIER -
Auditor’s remuneration ZEENEN & 8,000 10,185
Amortisation of intangible assets A R 6,480 6,480
Cost of inventories sold EEFE AR 30,417,477 33,814,727
Cost of properties sold BEEWHEZKAR 1,050,265 2,553,996
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - = M&iEZITE 1,930,070 1,838,625
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 52,786 45,892
Direct operating expenses in relation to BT EYEERANERSERY
investment properties (included in cost of (G ASEE IR ARIER )
sales and services rendered) 240,486 210,953
(Reversal of impairment loss) impairment loss ~ FEHIZEEBERTEZ S
under ECL model on trade receivables, FEUEBR R OB S 1B R E)
net of reversal TRIEETE - FORREEE (45,977) 32,753
Net exchange loss (gain) Ve &8 (Mas) 58 22,349 (14,678)
Total staff costs, including directors’ BETIKALE  BEEEHE
emoluments (Note 11) (MIsE11) 3,862,264 4,285,891
(Reversal) write-down of inventories FE (BEDMOR - 5T AHEKAR
(included in cost of sales) (140,926) 423,141
Write-down of properties held for development {335 R MO, - 5T ASEE KA
(included in cost of sales) 553,032 -

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. B THHERRES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [0,k
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEMS
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: s EMN ZEIS 0T ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Fees e 1,380 1,380
Other emoluments: Him g :
Salaries and other benefits e hEMmETR 17,388 16,171
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme iR (RI&FIET 21 3% 705 646
Performance related incentive payment TERIBAREEE A
(Note i) (P55 85,514 100,013
Share-based payments (Note ii) B& 19 72 A R (B i) 59,354 59,733
Other Hib 11,200 -
175,541 177,943
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors had
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Employees’ emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2023, four (2022: four) of
the five highest paid employees are Directors and the Chief
Executive.

Details of the emoluments of the remaining one (2022: one)
highest paid individual(s) were as follows:

11.

BE . THHEARKEES
B 2 )

(b) THAZME
PN e ) Y KNI EG 1
2 HMER EXWE - &t
NE & BT FTR 2 IRTS
Z3REH o

BE_Z_=FKk-_%F-_—
+ZA=+—RALFE - BET
BN EEFNERRTHET
IS -

) FEEM=
BHE-ZT-=F+=-RA=+—H
IEFE - AfsaieEEPHN
B(ZE-—F  NH)BEEM
THBUHEE, -

BT—R(ZE=F  —8)&
BEATHBE BRI

2023 2022

—EB-=H T F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Salaries and other benefits Ha MEMER 3,192 3,192
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RAR1EFI5TEI{HE 160 159
Performance related incentive payment TERIBIER R 218 20,266 22,266
Share-based payment A& e A 70 8,147 7,805
Total emoluments B¢ 4258 31,765 33,422

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

()

()

Employees’ emoluments (continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

HK$30,000,000 to HK$35,000,000

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

1. B
)

()

30,000,000/ 7T £ 35,000,000/ 7T

E THEBRES
CAC)

=

BEME (&)
FEZENRRFHEET - HFMHE
RIATRABRRAZINT

2023 2022
—E-=5 - —F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAH BB AL

1 1

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were received to or receivable by the Directors or
the Group’s five highest paid individuals, including Directors,
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 44, the Group entered into sale and
purchase transactions with the Directors and subsidiaries of a
shareholder with significant influence on the Group. The price
is to be determined and agreed between the parties from time
to time with reference to the prevailing market price.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing, Mr. Chang Wing Yiu, Mr. Cheung
Kwong Kwan and Mr. Ho Yin Sang, the executive directors,
are interested in these transactions to the extent that they
have beneficial interests in these companies.

Save for the aforementioned transaction, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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EEEEBRA A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHmRMEE
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2023 2022
—E-=4F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Dividends declared and/or paid EiRE, HEIRARE
2023 Interim dividend of HK16 cents ZEZ=FRERE
(2022: HK30 cents) BiEBAR167L
per ordinary share (ZZT==F : 30/8) 177,330 332,637
2022 Final dividend of HK75 cents —E - CEREE
(2021: HK244 cents) Hﬁf‘t B 75781
per ordinary share (ZTZ—F : 24478(1) 831,234 2,705,452
2023 Special interim dividend of HK50 cents fjf_i%%¢%%§
per ordinary share (2022: Nil) B E AR50
(ZZFZ—F : |) 554,155 -
1,562,719 3,038,089
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Dividends proposed EERE
2023 Final dividend of HK36 cents T FREBRE
(2022: HK75 cents) TR AR 36
per ordinary share (ZZE=—F  75%84l) 398,992 831,594

The final dividend of HK36 cents per ordinary share amounted to
HK$398,992,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: final dividend of HK75 cents per ordinary share amounted to
HK$831,594,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022)
have been proposed by the Directors and are subject to the approval
by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

EEEupEE_TS-_=F+=A
=+ —ALEFEIRERPERETRE B

3B — T = —F : RBRESR
LimRT758lL) - £ %8 /398,992,000
BL(ZZTZZF - %zi—f::
F+_A=Z+t—BHIEFEXRHARE
831,594,000/ 7T) - WAFARRIKRE
RIEER MBS K EHE - FO{ER -

B =FFR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

13. BRER

RRRFHE AR BRER LB TR R
BT BIETE

2023 2022
—Eo=5 —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Earnings for the purpose of basic and HREAREERF 2 BT
diluted earnings per share 2,062,971 3,655,220
Number of shares
RHEE
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from share options

BRERBNZ

LR N 1,108,464,448  1,108,791,736
H BB BN BB ESUE
ZEBRTE 2,412 8,479

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share

BREERNZ T RBINE

T8 1,108,466,860  1,108,800,215

Note:

MiFE . AREEETERE S ERREE

The Company’s certain share options can potentially dilute basic earnings
per share in the future, but are not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share because they are antidilutive for the years presented.
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14.

EEEEBRA A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W R R M EE
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14, BEWYE
HK$’'000
T
FAIR VALUE AEE

At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_F—H—H 21,820,016
Exchange adjustments B b, B (1,599,341)

Acquired on an acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) W BE — R B A Rl MRS (P 3E34) 2,834,721
Disposals k= (42,1595)

Transfer from properties held for development B FERYE 583,948
Net loss on fair value changes (Note) N EEEEIEFRE (M) (147,559)

At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-A=+—8 23,449,630

Exchange adjustments ME 5 AR 152,064
Disposals = (140,456)

Transfer from properties held for development EROFEREDE 453,984
Net loss on fair value changes (Note) N EZEEEFEMR) (113,434)

At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+-_A=+—H 23,801,788

Note:

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of

1 to 30 years (2022: 1 to 25 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase

the property at the end of lease term.

Certain properties held for development were reclassified to investment
properties upon changing in use as evidenced by inception of operating
leases to independent third parties (see Note 26). There is an increase in fair
value of HK$263,296,000 (2022: HK$17,130,000) recognised in profit or
loss upon the transfer from properties held for development to investment
properties and this amount is included in net loss on fair value changes.

PR -

REBV E=HFRCEREMEZA
BEY ETHFERVEETSESR
HEWE(HE26) - FHEMEEE
EREVER - BREAER
#1263,296,0008 TL(Z T ZZF :
17,130,000 7T) + Ze BT AR T

VR FE

ERBEETER -

B0 #Y & E A H (

F) e

e

AEBRBELEHENHEZENRE
FAKBESR - BHE—RMENF1E

— = — —

=

“1&25

A & 8 3 48 (R A B 2 Bk i A SN TR
% AAMBHENEEERES AN
REERIME - BHYLTBRESBEER
R,/ SAEEARERREE YN EE

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

14.

PR AR MY

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
have set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group, to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent qualified valuer to perform
its valuations. The valuation committee works closely with the
independent qualified valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The persons in charge of financial
matters report the valuation committee’s findings to the Directors
every quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of
the assets.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2023 and 2022 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent
qualified valuer not connected to the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
The valuation was determined based on direct comparison method
by reference to the market transactions of similar properties taking
in consideration of timing of reference transactions, and property-
specific adjustment factors. There has been no change from the
valuation technique used in prior years.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.
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14, BEWE »
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—HF+-A=Zt+—BoBEAE=ZAR
FEZRERT -

AEEREVENR_ZS_ZFR=_F
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LRI AR AERARETHEZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position hierarchy
FEERNRRIBIAZT ATE
REZIREME BRI
Hong Kong

BB

Industrial properties Level 3
in Hong Kong

REBNIRIE E=1
Commercial properties Level 3
in the New Territories,

Hong Kong

REBH AN RYE B=M

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HERM &
FERAZR

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
BEELETE  BEMS
BRMENR S - YEE
2ELZ SRR R E
BENHERNE - 845
HiER  IRETIERE - MEK
RIERES

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
EELETE  RETS
HRMENR S  WEE
LEZFHREARE
HENREREZ - 6
e - ERETER  MEK
HiEAREE

T
i
e
)
ant
@
5>
al

14, BEWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs
BEANHE

EEPN 6

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$39,676 to
HK$51,064 (2022: HK$39,493
to HK$55,962) per square
metre.
KRS EZE LR YE K
ERAE N REMERNERE
(MNERATIERE - M3 RakiniR
SE)NETHRER N
F¥J75K39,67675 L E51,064
BITL(ZT = 4 : 39,4937
JLE55,962787T) °

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$58,631 to
HK$63,280 (2022: HK$53,120
to HK$62,323) per square
metre.
RAMSEZEANLEMER
EZRMUBNREMERNRZE
(WERETERE - ME K&
RIS NG THKRER -
NTEF 5 K58,631ELE
63,2808 TT(ZE -4 :
53,120/ 262,323 ) ©

Sensitivity

B
5

&
Mt

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERARE LS
KEMENLTEAEANR
A RZIR

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

I AERAE LS
BREMENATETEAE
L RZIR -

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
AEERNGEMBHRER ATE RERM & BRTAEE

HEZRENE R TEHARE BABE BRE

Commercial properties Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in

in Hong Kong Island, Hong
Kong

REATEBNERANE F=4

The PRC
HE

Commercial properties Level 3

in Shanghai

RLEBNEAYE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
EELETE  BETS
HRMENR S LR
SERZNRBARYE
RENHERZ 815
e - BRETIENE  MER
HERIES

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
BELHTE - BETS
HRMENRS - TERE
LEZFHREARDE
HENAEREZ - 0
e - ERETER  MER
HIEREE

market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from HK$175,269

to HK$220,681 (2022:
HK$193,890 to HK$220,660)
per square metre.
RATSEETLRYER
ZRAE A REAMERNREE
(MERHTERE - MR
RIS )N ETHKRER -
NFEFFEHK175,2697%8 L2
220,681 T (ZE 25 -
193,890/ 7T.5220,660/87T) ©

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB25,000

to RMB27,368 (2022:
RMB25,371 to RMB30,000)
per square metre.
KRS EZ I LRYE K
ERAE R EMERNEEE
(MNERETIERE - M3 ekt
REZ)NETHKRER -
NFEF 7 RARE25,0007T
EARME27368L(ZFE =
F o ARBBINTEARYE
30,0007T) °

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BITARERARE LS
REMENATEEANRE
LF RZIAR -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERARE LTS
REMEN AT EEANE
A RZR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERFE BRI K
HEZRENE

Residential properties
in Shanghai

R EBRETY®

Commercial properties
in Guangzhou

REMNEERYE

Fair value
hierarchy
AT

BB

Level 3

=4

i
|
=

Level 3

F=R

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
RERM &
TEHABR

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
ERELETE  BETS
HRNENRS  UERE
SERZNRBARYE
RENHERZ 815
ER - BRETIERE  MER
HHERIES

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property,
and conditions of the
property

BERELETE  BEMS
HRMENRS @ BTERE
2EZR SRRENRE
BRENRAEREZ 88
HE: - ERATER - M
RERMESRRE

T
i
e
)
ant
@
5>
al

14, BEWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs
BRTAEE
BABE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB111,733

to RMB134,043 (2022:
RMB129,496 to RMB195,853)
per square metre.
RATSEETLEYER
ZRE AR EAMERNREE
(WERETEHE - ME K&
FIEZ)NETHKRER -
NFEFHTRARE111,733
TTEARE134,0437L(=ZF
T8 ARB129,4967TF
AR#195,8537T) ©

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB13,400

to RMB23,000 (2022:
RMB14,285 to RMB29,000)
per square metre.

REMSEETLEMER
ZEAEAREMEREEE
(ANEEEER - MERRER
EE) M B R KER
NFHERKARE3,4007T
ZARE23,000T(ZE ==
£ ARB14,285TE AR
29,0007T) °

Sensitivity
BURE

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BITARERARE LS
REMENAFEFEANRE
L RZIR -

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

SEHRBEAELFHEHR
BENEHATET BAE
£ RO ¢

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERFE BRI K
RAEZREN%

Commercial properties
in Shenzhen City

RARYIm R ERYE

Commercial properties
in Qingyuan

3

5
uifi3

ERERNE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Fair value
hierarchy

/A

RIBARR

Level 3

it

Level 3

Tl

=&

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
RERIT &
FEHARIR

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
BELETE - RETS
BRMENR S  TEE
LEZFHREARE
HENAEREZ - 0F
HER - ERETER  MER
BHERES

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
BEELEFE  BETS
HRMENR S TEE
2ELZGHREIARDE
BENHERE - 845
HiER - IRETIERE - MEK
RIBRIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs
BRTAEE
BABUR

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as
road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB12,000

to RMB15,911 (2022:
RMB15,000 to RMB16,035)
per square metre.
RRAMSEETLRYER
ZRUE N REMERNREE
(INERETIBRE - M RaxiniR
BE)NEFFRERE
NFEFHRARE12,0007T
EARE159M1T(ZE ==
F: ARM15,000L2 AR
16,0357 ©

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property
and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB7,594 to
RMB8,042 (2022: RMB9,330
to RMB11,300) per square
metre.
KRAMGEENLBERE
BB A K E A E R H =%
(MNERATIERE - M3 REkiniR
SE)NETHRER N
BYEARARET594TZEA
RE8042T(ZF=2F : A
R 9,330t 2 AR 11,300
L) °

Sensitivity

B

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

SEHKEEARLIBER
RANENAFERBARE
B B2

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

BIHARERARE LS
KEMENLTEAEANR
A RZR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
AEERNGEMBHRER ATE fRERM & BRTAEE

HEZRENE R TEHARE BABE BURE

Commercial properties Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in

in Kunshan City

method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing
of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors,

market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as

road frontage, size of property

and facilities, etc., which is
ranged from RMB6,681 to

the price per square metre
used would result in a

significant increase in the fair

value measurement of the

investment properties, and vice

versa.

such as location, road
frontage, size of property
and facilities
ERLETE  BETS
BRMENR S TEE
LEZFHREARE
HENAEREZ - 0
hER - ERETER  MEK
RIEREE

RMB11,500 (2022: RMB6,597
to RMB11,500) per square
metre.
RAMSEETLEYER
ZRUEAREMEREZ
& (MERATER - MERRIE
REZ)NGTHRER N
FEHTHRARKE,681TE
AREA1,5000 (===
F: ARK659TTEARE
11,5007 ©

RELTHERYE =& BITARERAE LS
REMENATEAEARE

T RZIA -

i

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

14, BEWE »

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs

AEERFEIBHRK ATE RERM & BRTAEE

RAEZREN% BB TEHABR BABUR

The United Kingdom

EE

Commercial properties Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using

in London method based on market market direct comparable
transactions of similar properties and taking into
properties taking into account location and other
consideration of timing individual factors such as
of reference transactions  road frontage, size of property
and property-specific and facilities, etc., which is
adjustments factors, ranged from Great British
such as location, road Pound (“GBP”) 5,741 to
frontage, size of property GBP14,585 (2022: GBP4,973
and facilities to GBP19,181) per square

metre.
S EEEESIEEIES 1 BEMLEFZE  REDTS RATSEZALEMERE

BRNENR S LEE
S2EZXHHERARME
BENRERR B
W - REER - MER
RIEFRE

There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during both years.

B E AR EA AR E &
(InEREERE - MEREER
BE)NFEHKRER N T
GE K, 74158 ([ 58 ])
£14,585HEF(Z T - —F ¢
49735 19,1815 %) »

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in

the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the fair
value measurement of the
investment properties, and vice
versa.

I AERAE LS
REMENATEFTEXE
L RZTR -

MIEFER - WENE=FRANEAKE

H oo

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 December 2023, certain investment properties with a

carrying value of HK$1,848,899,000 (2022: HK$3,815,960,000) have
been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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RERZABRARE -

RZZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 A&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEHEERRAA

15. Y% - BMEKRRE

Property,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Freehold Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor under
lands Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Artwork  construction Total
KA i %8 R
BRI BF HEMERE BRRME e Bt Biin  HRRE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TiEn ThT T TiEn TR ThL Tk TiEn ThR
00ST A
At 1 January 2022 W-Z-—%-f-H 54,937 4,898,646 1611813 27,501,191 2,342,065 156,882 19,110 2444134 39,028,778
Exchange adjustments Ei A% (4,654) (211,004) (214,353 (2,613,994) (251,193 (9,891) (1,221) (65,0100 (3,671,320)
Additions HE - 53,664 117,979 1,050,116 121,608 433 5,144 3,465,411 4,818,258
Disposals and write off HER#E - - (333,574) (795,299) (35,204) (1,128 - (40730)  (1,205,935)
Reclassflications EXipr - - 8,154 1903100 251,891 4,234 - (2167379 -
At 31 December 2022 RZE==§+-f=1-R 50,283 4,741,306 1190019 27,045,114 2,429,167 154,433 23,033 3436426 39,089,781
Exchange adjustments ERAE 5204 (36,317) (8,857) (457,217) (39,706) (1,639 986 (96,783) (634,029)
Addttions RE - 2,858 97,088 674,951 38,829 15,945 7,659 4,105,791 4,943,121
Disposals and write off HE Rl - - (20,101) (925,377) (130,543 (8433 - (112,123 (1,196,577)
Reclassifications ENAR - 13,342 59,069 1,200,085 715,010 2,902 - (1,990,408 -
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=E+ZA=1-8 55,487 4,721,189 1317518 27,537,556 3,012,757 163,208 31,678 5342903 42,182,296
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 January 2022 W-F-—F-f-H - 1,126,647 855284 19,825,048 1,497,803 125,620 - - 23430402
Exchange adjustments Ei A% - (51,743 (181,560)  (1,899,352) (141,893 (9,762) - - (2284310
Provided for the year KEERE 72,899 123,736 1,489,021 142,178 10,791 - - 1,838,625
Eliminated on disposals and HERTEREH
write off - - (263,559) (674,846) (31,344) (484) - - (970,233)
At 31 December 2022 M-B--£+-F=1+-H - 1,147,803 533901 18,739,871 1,466,744 126,165 - - 22014484
Exchange adjustments ExEE - (14,649 (3782) (304,817) (21,794) (912) - - (345,954)
Provided for the year AEERE - 74,792 72,321 1,535,462 238,443 9,052 - - 1,930,070
Eliminated on disposals and HERTHRMH
write off - - (20,101) (719,110) (73,904) (8,188 - - (821,303
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+ZA=1-8 - 1,207,946 582,339 19,251,406 1,609,489 126,117 - - 2717297
CARRYING VALUES EE
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+ZA=1-8 55,487 3,513,243 735,179 8,286,150 1,403,268 37,091 31,678 5342903 19,404,999
At 31 December 2022 W_E-—%+-R=1-B 50,283 3,593,503 656,118 8,305,243 962,423 28,268 23,033 3436426 17,085,297
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than those
under construction or artwork) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account their residual values at the following rates per

annum:

Freehold lands Nil

Buildings Over the remaining unexpired
terms of leases ranging from
twenty to seventy years

Leasehold improvements 10-20% or over the term
of the lease, whichever is
shorter

Plant and machinery 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/3%

Motor vehicles 10-20%

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s freehold lands of HK$55,487,000
(2022: HK$50,283,000) are situated outside Hong Kong.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

15.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

M- BERRE=

BRAEZME  BEMREHBMRIN
Ltz - BE KERER B R AT
HREERAEREEZ TIIFEL RS
RITE

KAERELH &

BgF REBRAHOAFEIBRTH
FHIH20F E70F
&

FHAEWEREE 10-20%sFH H (LAERE
HAEE)

BE RS 10-20%

BRI - RE R 10-33Y,%

B

B 10-20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. f£H

BEHKEERRA A

BEE

Leasehold Leased Plant and
land properties machinery Total
FHE i HENE BERKSS #mEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT FET FET
At 31 December 2023 A B =
t=A=t-A
Carrying amount BRE{E 1,946,895 3,909 674 1,951,478
At 31 December 2022 NR-BE-—F
+=A=+—H
Carrying amount BRHEE 1,902,164 7,183 1,448 1,910,795
For the year ended Bzr-—g—-=%
31 December 2023 +TZA=+—RHLEE
Depreciation for the year KEERE 48,454 3,571 761 52,786
For the year ended B8Ez—F——%
31 December 2022 +=ZA=+—HLEEE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 41,552 3,225 1,115 45,892
2023 2022
—EC-=5F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Expense relating to short-term leases #2258 BATE EARRE RV R X 337 372
Total cash outflow for leases HER SR A% 119,812 256,327
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEENE 117,820 255,028

The Group leases various leasehold land, leased properties and plant
and machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 year to 50 years (2022: 1 year to 50 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased
properties. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed in this note above.

AEEREEHLEHEZHEBAE LS
- HEWMHEAREFE LS o LA
BEEHBANF1FEE0F (2T
1FZE50F )R] o FEGZ @RI E
it ERERS - BIESE TR R
REEAP R E T HESHENRE
B AEBERAGHNTEETETEH
A] 58 HIET TR HARS o

AEETHRAEME L EEE -
RZEZ=FM_FT=_—_F+=A
=+—H SSAEMEEEANTE X
i BapAERS 2 o EHEEHE
e

B =FFR
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16.

17.

PR AR MY

RIGHT'OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$5,011,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$4,581,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: lease liabilities of HK$9,189,000 and related right-of-use
assets of HK$8,631,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

GOODWILL

Carrying value BREME
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and RZE——

31 December 2023

=

=

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

16. FAEEE

TRE PR HI=k 22 5%

oy - RZEZ=F+=—A=+—H "
MR E | (5,011,000 T 75 &
FREEEL581,0008 TER(-Z
— 4 : FAEAE9,189,0008 T A
A& P #E & 78,631,000/8 7T) - HEW
BIEBNERMRZE - EAARER
EEEMERERSRIN - HEEETS
{EBFIRIRAE -

17. &

HK$'000
THAT

F#—HF—H -
F+-A=+—A0K
=#+-A=+—H

2,670,528

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the following groups of CGUs:

SURERAEMS  BEEARGUA TR
SELBMAE

2023 2022

—Eo=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Laminates EHER 390,781 390,781
PCBs ENRI 4R BE AR 2,099,898 2,099,898
Chemicals IEIER 179,849 179,849
2,670,528 2,670,528

The recoverable amounts of the laminates’, PCBs’ and chemicals
CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations.
Cash flow projections were extrapolated based on a five-year (2022:
five-year) period financial budgets approved by the Directors.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17.

PR AR MY

GOO DWILL (continued)

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations for the CGUs of
laminates, PCBs and chemicals business segments are as follows:

Laminates
RHER
2023 2022
“B-=F CZE--fF
Pre-tax discount rate HABE = 14% 12%

Growth rate (for year 110 5) EER(1F56) 2%

0%

17.

—E-=F

12% - 15.7%
0% -29%

el

[SES30)

BAER - EFIREIR R TE R %R
DAL LB (B AEENEEZ
EEHERMT

PCBs Chemicals
ENRIG AR tIER
2023 2022 2023 2022
—Z-- —B-=fF -—ZE--F
12% - 15% 12% 12%
-14%-7% 0% 0%

The key assumptions are determined based on the unit’s past
performance and the management’s expectations for the market
development and the growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow
projections beyond the first five-year (2022: five-year) period do
not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the relevant
industries and growth rates ranging from 0% to 3% (2022: 0% to
3%). The cash flow projections, growth rates and pre-tax discount
rate have been reassessed as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 taking
into consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the
respective year due to how the recovery of industry and economy
after the release of Covid-19 restrictions may volatility in financial
markets.

Since the recoverable amounts of each group of CGUs were above
their carrying amounts, no impairment loss was recognised.

The management believes that any reasonably possible changes in
any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of
each group of CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable amount.

TERERDIEZEMUBERBNEIEE
HmizEE s HERRAEHREERT
ZECF  AF)ERERERE
EXmMET » BT BEaMETEFY
RHEER MEEEENT0%E3I%
T F 0% E3%) c MEKEFE
Al EREMBARREER ==
FR-_E-—_F+-_A=1+—BEHT
it FFREBFERECOovid-19& B R FI
SRR AT ERCEEREEALRS
BMEMESMERNRSEE -G
THEEME -

HREEREELENZAREEES
REREE - SO EERRERE -

ERERE  ZEERUBEAEEE

HEEHE I EEZARSELSEM 2B
FRE(ERRARINEETE -

B =FFR
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KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. BILEE

Customer
base
BPE
HK$’000
FAT
COST IB#N
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R-ZE-_—_F—H—H8 -
31 December 2023 —E-—HF+-A=+—HK
—ZE-=F+=-A=+—H 64,800
AMORTISATION i35
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ=F—HA—H 16,920
Charge for the year AREF 6,480
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_HF+-_A=+—H 23,400
Charge for the year REFHH 6,480
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-_=%+-A=+—H 29,880
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_A=+—H 34,920
At 31 December 2022 RZT-_—F+=-HA=+—~H 41,400
The customer base is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period BPEHMOFNIREFEH -

of 10 years.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

BEHEERRAA

19. REFERFzER

2023 2022
—EC-=8 B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Cost of investments in an associate RABIZE L& ARZ
unlisted in the PRC B 185,066 185,066
Share of post-acquisition profits and other FEIE U B 1B R T R H 2 E
comprehensive income, net of dividends (R BUALE)
received 260,066 346,993
445,132 532,059

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had interests in the
following associate:

Place of

establishment Equity interest held

RZEZ=FR_F-__F+=A
+—H8  NEBEA TS QR

)
N

Bl

Proportion of voting

Name of an associate and operation by the Group rights held by the Group  Principal activities
BENTER B REEbH AEEfFiShE ARERENREEBIL FEEH
2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-=E —T--F CZB-ZE C-ZZT--F

CNOOC Kingboard Chemical PRC 40% 40% 40% 40%  Manufacture and distribution
Limited# H of methanol
RERBRE L IBRARY BUER D T
# The company was established in the PRC in the form of Sino-Foreign # WARTYARING EEE R BT
Equity Joint Venture. BIRAL ©

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (ontinueq) 19. REE AR 2B )
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these NEZEG A ESRE - LN T AR
consolidated financial statements. AT o
CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited RS REE(E T AR A

2023 2022

—EBC-=HF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Current assets TRENVEE 536,895 765,354

Non-current assets ERBEE 737,561 732,243

Current liabilities e EE (161,626) (167,450)

2023 2022

—ECo=H —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Revenue ] 1,406,937 1,690,678

Profit for the year N S A 225,946 454,120

Other comprehensive expense for the year AREEHEMPEES (7,758) (111,534)

Total comprehensive income for the year AFE KR 218,188 342,586
Dividends received from the associate KEEDUEE A RIS

during the year 174,202 168,222

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the LB Y B S A BB AR A B IE IR R A

carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the

SRR A R s 2 REEN S

consolidated financial statements. BE o
2023 2022
—EC-=4F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net assets of CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited #1363 313255k T B R A 7]

BEFE 1,112,830 1,330,147

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest & B F{E 84 MES L T
in CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited BRARER RS L E 40% 40%

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REEFGHREAHEEET
in CNOOC Kingboard Chemical Limited BRAREZ 2 RAE 445,132 532,059

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

T
4
b3
)
at
@
5>
all

20. REE QN TIRER

Details of the Group’s investments in joint ventures are as follows: REBNRESZNAIRIEELBFNT -
2023 2022
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Cost of investment in joint ventures REERAZREKAK 2,503,655 2,503,655
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAG Ui 12 s 18 I A 2 R 2
other comprehensive expense, (BB WEE)
net of dividends received (30,277) (133,956)
2,473,378 2,369,699
Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting period PGSR AEEREE RRIRE
are as follows: BB
Country of Principal Proportion of
incorporation/ place of ownership interest Proportion of voting
Name of entity registration business held by the Group rights held by the Group Principal activity
HMERL/
ERLE ERHER ITEEHY rEESENFEEE AN rEEBANREEEAL  IEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
—BCCE —E-CF Bk —F_CF
Lucky Yuen Ho\ding Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
[EZTERERAR B B business management
NERRRERER
Smart Source Management  British Virgin Islands  United Kingdom 50% 50% 50% 50%  Property holding and
Limited AERIES =5 business management
BREEERAT NERRREBER
Summarised financial information of joint ventures EE QTN BEEREE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

AEBEREE R BENREERN
TX - MIHBERBRIESEARIR
EAVBRREMGROVBEHRE S

BB HRE

—FER
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20.

PR AR MY

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)
Information of joint ventures EENTINER
Lucky Yuen Holding Limited JEE TERBERATF
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Current assets TRENVEE 273,652 277,224
Non-current assets (Note) IEmB A = (F5E) 676,100 676,100
Current liabilities mENEE (240,082) (12,207)
Non-current liabilities FERHBEE - (235,008)
The above amounts of assets FEEDEAENTSIE
include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents Re MR EBEIAR 6,797 13,169
Smart Source Management Limited BREEBRAT
2023 2022
—E-=5F B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
Current assets mENEE 6,023 76,376
Non-current assets (Note) IETRBEE (MisE) 4,251,338 4,020,380
Current liabilities nEEE (20,276) (63,468)
The above amounts of assets and i EERBESREEE
liabilities include the following: AT&IA -
Cash and cash equivalents Re MBS FMEIAR 6,023 76,376
Note:  The amount mainly represents investment properties located in Hong Kong Bi5E -

and United Kingdom.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SHIEBRUNEEREBNRED
#® o



@ BEHEERRAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REEQNTINER @)
(continued)
Information of joint ventures (continued) SELDTRNER @)
The two joint ventures are individually material in relation to the cost ZMEREERBMRERAREEFE
of the investments and net assets of the joint ventures, but the profit MEERNBEXN - EZMREE N EH
or loss and other comprehensive income of each of the two joint BahEMEERED TEXN - FR
ventures are not material respectively and hence disclosed on an AR -

aggregated basis.

2023 2022
—Bo=F —Eo—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Revenue EERE 213,741 194,650
Profit for the year ARE i F 171,253 162,960
Other comprehensive income AFEFEMEEE
(expense) for the year (FA) 219,001 (477,011)
Total comprehensive income AFEzEKE(FAS)
(expense) for the year FEE 390,254 (314,051)
Dividend received from a joint FRABKAEZATE
venture during the year 91,448 71,932
The above profit for the year includes the following: LA FE T EEATIEE -
2023 2022
—E-=5F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Income tax expense TSR 27,685 23,396




@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE
20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. AEERRINER »)
(continued)
Information of joint ventures (continued) SELDTRNER @)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the BB TS B R AR S BT SRR A
carrying amount of the interest in two joint ventures recognised in the EHRMEME A LA RIERZREE
consolidated financial statements: EEIAR -
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Net assets of Lucky Yuen Holding Limited JEE TR ER AR EEFE 709,670 706,109
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest RNEBFLESE TIEIKER A A
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited AR ZLE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AREBAGIERE TTIER B R A A
in Lucky Yuen Holding Limited 27 BREE 354,835 353,055
Net assets of Smart Source BREBERAREEFE
Management Limited 4,237,085 4,033,288
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in - AEE TGS REEAR QT
Smart Source Management Limited AR LE 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REEEEREEAR AR
in Smart Source Management Limited 27 BREE 2,118,543 2,016,644
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PR AR MY

1. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR

ant
@
]
i

. BAFPEFFARmZE

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS g =

2023 2022
—E-=5F - —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REE T2 EREH 10,880,796 6,382,542
Equity securities listed in United States RER 2 ERES 224,998 -
Equity securities listed in Shanghai B8 T2 s 18,962 -
Equity securities listed in Japan =N I o = 168,535
11,124,756 6,541,077

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERERMONA
— Current assets —REEE 8,905,029 4,685,245
— Non-current assets —IEmEEE 2,219,727 1,855,832
11,124,756 6,541,077

HRRAFEFABGRZEREE &
BERABHZSRENZIEREED
BRARBEE - AR A VERF ABa
AEZEREE  URHKREBWME
BEUNDBRIFRPEE -

For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the
management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are
classified as non-current assets.

RZTZ=F+=ZA=+—80 4%
BBz EMEaESFNRATESR
11,124,756,000 8 ;L (= T = =
6,541,077,000/70) * ZEHEIHSRA
Bz MEEARBEREET -

At 31 December 2023, the fair values of the listed equity securities
held by Group, determined by reference to the quoted market
bid prices available, amounted to HK$11,124,756,000 (2022:
HK$6,541,077,000).

B FFR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REPBHRRMEE

22. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 22. RAFEGAREMEE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Uk

INCOME
2023 2022
—Bo=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Listed bond securities at fair value: EWESHES - RAFE -
— listed on SGX and issued by listed issuers — BB LEMEITABITER
in Hong Kong with a fixed coupon WAL BER
interests of 7.5% (2022: 5.40% to 8%) FRIEA7TSE(ZT ==
per annum and maturity dates from F :540BE8E) - WH
11 July 2025 to 11 July 2028 (2022: —E-RF+A+—HBE
12 November 2023 to 11 July 2028) —E-N\FtA+—H
(=T ==F : =%
—=F+—A+ZHE=
TN\FEA+—H) 116,357 629,933
— listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and —BEE LTI ARITIER
issued by listed issuers in Hong Kong EREEFR S LT
with fixed coupon interests of 8% & REEFERSE
per annum and perpetual subordinated X A& (ES A A E iR
contingent convertible securities 3 745,613 -
861,970 629,933
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ARERBRMANA -
— Current assets —REEE = 22,302
— Non-current assets —IEmBEE 861,970 607,631
861,970 629,933
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of the listed bond RZE_ZFR_FE__F+_58
securities are determined by reference to quoted prices in the over- =+—8  ETEFEHFNATFEZRR
the-counter markets at the end of each reporting period. BMEPROBINTISREET -
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PR AR MY

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
|NCOME continued)

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they are held:

Uss$ eV

T
4
b3
)
at
@
5>
all

Bit AHt2mH
BEIA«w

¥
w>
NG

BAHEAREERRE 2 EBTA
&%ETB?\M’%I,\ SRR 2 IREEEIA
SNEREETHEZ B

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
861,970 629,933

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, due to the
defaults of a bond issuer in making payments of interest and principal
for its indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by
this issuer. The Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to
assist in the estimation of the ECL provision on the debt instruments
at FVTOCI issued by this issuer by determining an appropriate
probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default rate of each
debt instrument and forward-looking adjustments.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, this bond issuer
completed a debt restructuring scheme. After the completion of debt
restructuring, related listed bonds extended maturity date originally
due from 18 November 2022-3 September 2024 to 11 July 2025-11
July 2028, and changed the fixed coupon interest rate from 5.875% —
12.375% t0 6.5%.

The investments in listed bonds are held by the Group within a
business model whose objective is both to collect their contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets.
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.

An impairment loss of HK$2,283,000 (2022: HK$1,579,000,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during year ended 31 December 2023.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 36(b).

BHEZZE-_=FK-FT=-_F+=A
=+—HLEFE  B#REFEITARE
REEBINFNERLNSE - EFRABZ
BT ANBITIE A EFAEMEER
mMEFTAMNGEERBR ARSI - A
SEZEBIAERGERN  BEBRET
BEAEAOME SEKTAMNMRHE
KBRENAIE AR - BB hET R
TABITHRAFEFAEMEERE
MEMR LA BHEERBEH -

HE_Z-_—"F+-_A=1+—HILF
[ ZEFETATKESEEFE -
BEEEMATRE Wéﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂ?ﬂ
HHH-_E-_—F+—-A+/N\BZE
—HWHEAR= Hiﬁifgfﬁﬁtﬂ
+—HBEZZ-N\FtA+—8 AH
BFZE A RH5.875EE12.375EF
2K AEB.5E ©

HEMEFHREYHEAEERENA
WER AL B RS I M AR BB A S B F 8
MEZEHBREREUREEZS SR
BEMEBEXNANMSE - Bt - §E
MEHFNRED EAR AT ETAEM
2EWE °

HzEz-_Z-_=Z=F#+=-_A=+—H
LHFE EREZTHIARNES
822830008 L (=& = = F :

1,579,000,000/ 7T, °

R ERHEFEHIFE M FE36(0) ©

B =FFR
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PR AR MY

LOAN RECEIVABLE

Fixed-rate loan receivable at carrying amount
Within one year —F RN

EREEY IR E S EEER

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

3. ERER

2023 2022
—E-=4F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT T
721,591 1,880,000

The unsecured loan receivable was advanced to an independent third
party and carries interest at 8.5% per annum and was repayable in
December 2023.

During the year ended 2023, due to the defaults of the borrower of
the loan receivable in making payments of interest and principal for
its indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the loan receivable to this borrower. The
Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to assist in the
estimation of the ECL provision on the loan receivable to this borrower
by determining an appropriate probability of default rate, the estimated
loss given default rate of each debt instrument and forward-looking
adjustments.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the Group’s loan
receivable was HK$721,591,000 (2022: HK$1,880,000,000). Based
on the assessment, the Group has recognised impairment loss under
expected credit loss model of HK$893,907,000 (2022: nil) in profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023, details of which are
disclosed in Note 36(b).
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ERRERERDEN T 2B LFE=
77 RENERSSEAEAR TR =
FH—RER-

BE_T_=-FILFE - ARNEKRERN
ZIERAREREBEBE A B KA
T BEERRELBRAZERKERNE
EREBAREN - AEEREBIEE
RGERD - BBREESENEORE
BEEBTANGTROBRERATENE
HE - BB R ERAZ BRE R
EHEREERE

R-ZZBE-=%F+—-_A=+—0 - K&
E el E F A R B A& 721,591,000
T (—F = — 4 : 1,880,000,000 %
TL) c ERNFIE c BE-T-=F+—
BA=+—BLFE AXEEEREZE
FIRETESEE B EEERREEE
893,907,000 TT(— T -4 : #&) -
BB FE36(0)F #E °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

24,

IESERIH

J
ant
@
]
i

TRAXRFEMBEFEACHRZE
BREERBRABEREEAREF ZE

years: e
Fair value
change
Fair value of assets
Accelerated Write-down ~ Write-down ~ changeof  arisingfrom  Undistributed ~ Undistributed
tax Tax of of investment acquisition of profits of ~ profits of PRC
depreciation losses PHD  inventories  properties  subsidiaries anassociate  subsidiaries Total
YEHRAT
REWE.  EEMEE -BEEDY  ENRLA
NEFESHE  REEE MAGRENE  MERE  AVERE  QTERE ARWEM  2AAEEA it
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tn Tn Tn Tén Tn Tn TEn TR
A1 January 2022 W-E-2F-F-A 42.29%) 12522 - 146,857 (641,352) (83375) (2,085 - (609,729)
Bxchange adjusiments EiA% 3919 - - - 6,468 - m - 10,564
(Charge)creit o consolcaed statement (4183t A RS EABAR
of proftor loss for heyear Note )~ (fE19) 6,124 - - 105,785 208% 3067 - e pTe3Y
At31 December 2022 RIE-ZEt2f=1-H (46,501) 12522 - 250,642 (613,986) 80,318) (1.908) (498,000) (675,549
Exchange adjusiments EiAE 504 - - @2 7810 - A 11845 1699
(Charge credt to consoldated statement (41l 5T ARERGABRR
of proftorloss for e year Nole )~~~ (4219) (4040 - 1B (16,859 4084 3067 - 088 12979
At31 December 2023 S oy bl [89947) 12522 188,269 230510 (601,892) (1.261) (1,684 (479,067) (628,760)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

VAT 8051 75 B 765 B i A B 2 IR SE A IR

reporting purposes: EERDIT -
2023 2022
—E-=48F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHT
Deferred tax assets EEFRIBEE 3,068 2,577
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBBE (831,828) (978,126)
(828,760) (975,549)

B FFR
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ma

24.

25.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

B SRR MIEE
DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 24. ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁ(%)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of REmERBERER  XEFEATH
HK$785,423,000 (2022: HK$913,234,000) available for offset against BHAREF Z ASERIEER A
future profits. A deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect 785,423,000 F ;L (=T = = :
of HK$50,088,000 (2022: HK$50,088,000) of such losses. No 913,234,000787T) ° HL/E51850,088,000
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining BT (ZZE =% : 50,088,000/ 7T)E
HK$735,335,000 (2022: HK$863,146,000) due to the unpredictability MERELERIBEE - AR KICHEF AT
of future profit streams. All tax losses will be expired gradually within A FER) - #A £E B 45 82 735,335,000 78
five years to year 2028 (2022: within five years to year 2027). TT(—ZF = —4 : 863,146,000/ T ) i
REMELEHEEE - 2HHIBEBEH
RAFREFIBPEZ T _N\F (=
T R AFRNEEZTLF) -
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% or 10% (2022: WIEDEPEMRSRE BZ2ZEZEN
5% or 10%) is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits F—H—H#E BETPHNERQF
earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Based Fr R ER 22 ) B R 2 B B 7B B 41 5% 3%
on the dividend distribution plan of the management, retained profits 10%(—F =4 : 5%810% ) 9780
as at 31 December 2023 amounting to HK$8,094,551,000 (2022: i BIBEEEEBMOKREDIKETE - R
HK$8,048,059,000) will be distributed as dividend in the foreseeable —E-F+-A=+—HBNREBE
future, while the remaining retained profits has been set aside for local #18,094,551,0008 L ( ZF = —4F :
operation and business development. 8,048,059,000/%8 7T ) 4 72 AI i SR VE 7%
REDIK - M MRE R 2 BIERH
EBNMEBER -
INVENTORIES 25. &
2023 2022
—EB=H - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
Raw materials B 1,915,682 1,777,148
Work in progress TR 929,017 909,051
Finished goods UK TR 930,890 825,315
3,775,589 3,511,514

During the year ended 31 December 2023, reversal of inventories
amounting to HK$140,926,000 (2022: write-down of inventories
amounting to HK$423,141,000) has been recognised and included in
cost of sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT  26. S%REY%

Movements of properties held for development are as follows: FEEMEEEBNOT
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 January 2022 R-_E-_—_F—H—H 19,675,817
Exchange adjustments P& A% (1,391,184)
Additions NE 1,749,857
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) HR T EYE (ME14) (583,948)
Transfer to cost of sales 885 HERCR (2,553,996)
At 31 December 2022 W_E-__F+_-_F=+—H 16,896,546
Exchange adjustments PE X (264,253)
Additions NE 844,676
Write off ik (553,032)
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) EREREyE(E14) (453,984)
Transfer to cost of sales R HERA (1,050,265)
At 31 December 2023 MN-E-_=F+-"A=+—8H 15,419,688
Analysis of leasehold land included in properties held for development AAGEEYENHEEI ST
is set out below: T
HK$’000
FAET
At 31 December 2023 REZB=Z=F+=H=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 8,501,798
At 31 December 2022 R=FB==F+=A=+-—H
Carrying amount BREE 9,329,226
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHET
Total cash outflow W& 85 = -
Additions NE - -

B FFR
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PR AR MY

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

(continued)

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured under HKFRS 16
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value
of the leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on
the leasehold land taking into account the estimated residual values as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, properties held for
development with carrying amount of HK$1,050,265,000 (2022:
HK$2,553,996,000) were completed and sold to third parties.
Included in the properties held for developments, the construction
of properties with carrying amount of HK$12,171,744,000 (2022:
HK$12,426,031,000) are completed.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, write-down of properties
held for development amounting to HK$553,032,000 (2022: nil) has
been recognised and included in cost of sales.

One of the Group’s properties development projects with a carrying
amount of HK$2,259,253,000 (2022: HK$2,022,969,000) has been
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for
sale purpose after the completion of construction under the Group’s
normal operating cycle.
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FREYE

ME e AREER B E BB 75 A
A 16 IR AR REHTE R E
UREEERE - SRERBE AR
BHzAHEEEBEET - KFAZE
:Eiiﬁﬂ_?__i-f— A=1+—H#
EterE - TERBEHLHAHRITE -

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HItF
[E - BRTE{E1,050,265,000/8 7T ( ==
— — 4 1 2553,996,00056 70 ) 2 FEHE
MEERILTETFE=T - EEFEREYE
o BRMEIE12,171,744,0008 T (=&
: 12,426,031,0005 7T ) 2 ¥ %
BRETEERT -

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILF
&+ MUR B R ¥ %553,032,00078 7T
(ZZ2==F )RR ABEER
$c

NEBEHRER —BE®BMEA
2,259,253,0008 L2 WI¥HRIER (=
T~ —4F 1 2,022,969,00087T) LA
RIRITRLEA -

EERRFTERMEDBRRDEE -
THREREENTEEERY  £8
ZEMENBNRNTIRRTRIEE -
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A I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(@

Trade and other receivables and prepayments
and entrusted loans

T
4
b3
)
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all

27. Htt e mEE

(@

BEZRAEMEBRERERRE
NHRERETER

2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
Trade receivables B SRR 7,634,086 7,989,399
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,090,600) (1,176,760)
Trade receivables, net B S EWERTF R 6,543,486 6,812,639
Advance to suppliers TESHERE A 202,419 289,233
Entrusted loans (Note) HEEF (M) 199,287 261,693
Prepayment and deposits T FE kRS 318,147 327,618
Value added tax (“VAT”) recoverables AR B E R ([1EFR ) 713,472 535,470
Other receivables H R BR K 180,257 233,865
8,157,068 8,460,518

Less: Non-current portion of entrusted B ZREERSEREI D
loans (Note) (Fff5E) (181,352) (238,863)
7,975,716 8,221,655

As at 1 January 2022, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$10,836,887,000 with allowance for credit losses of
HK$1,257,523,000.

Note:

The entrusted loans of HK$199,287,000 (2022: HK$261,693,000)
are due from certain purchasers of properties developed by the
Group in the PRC through four (2022: four) commercial banks in
the PRC (the “Lending Agents”). The entrusted loans carry interest
at variable rates ranging from 3.43% to 4.9% (2022: 3.43% to
5.39%) per annum, payable on monthly basis and the principal
will be payable on or before 2034 (2022: 2034). The purchasers
of the Group’s properties has pledged to the Lending Agents the
respective properties purchased. These properties are located in
Kunshan, PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, entrusted loans amounting to
HK$181,352,000 (2022: HK$238,863,000) are in respect of
repayments due after 12 months from the end of the reporting
period and are classified as non-current assets.

R-ZE-_—_F—H—H kA%
FEHNE SEKERREAE
#10,836,887,000/8 7T * =B /&5
1B R B1,257,523,000/8 7T °
Mzt BRTFEENR(ZTZ_F:
MR)BAERT(THRERE
ANDEYE TFAREEFERE
P # B 5199,287,00074 7T
(Z= = =% : 261,693,000
BT 2 ELER - ZREERK
22BN EREN FIAERE
49E(ZT==F : NF3.43
[BE5302) 2 FFRFE -
BRARR  AELERE
—NFE(ZF==F: =%
=) KA - ANEE
MEBRECBASEEME
ERTFREREA - ZEY
EMRPEEWL -

RZTE=Z=F+=ZA=+—
B RS R RER
+ZEARIBRZERE
X 181,352,000 L ( = &
— — £ : 238,863,000 JT )
DRERIERBEE -

B =FFR
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A I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(@

Trade and other receivables and prepayments

and entrusted loans (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2022: 120
days), depending on the products sold to its trade customers.
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

27. EME®MEE &)

(@

ESRHEMERKRRRTE
REREZETERE)

rEEGRTEHEFZEE!
HRA120B(ZE==F : 120
H) RTAEESERTE - B
REHESRAL  EHREER
EiERER  BSRKERZE
B ENBEZE DT

2023 2022

—E-=F T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FAET

0-90 days 0&90H 5,568,742 5,862,296
91-120 days 91&120H 736,458 661,031
121-150 days 121&E150H 145,090 201,107
151-180 days 151&180H 23,904 27,241
Over 180 days 180H A E 69,292 60,964
6,543,486 6,812,639

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$2,262,870,000 (2022: HK$1,986,793,000)
which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$200,406,000 (2022: HK$100,594,000)
which has been past due over 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on good repayment records
for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.
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mEMBERRME
27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 27. Ef&ﬁﬁﬂﬁé(@
(@) Trade and other receivables and prepayments @ EZRHEMEWERIZKRTE
and entrusted loans (continued) NRERETERE)
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other BH MEMEIWERER £ EEX
receivables, entrusted loans and bills receivables are set out LAR: FE W IR AR B R R B R
in note 36(b). FHIEE36(D) ©
Included in trade and other receivables are the following B NEMEWEREE T
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional SEERBMAE e IUINE
currency of the group entities to which they relate: MEHE 2 5058
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
us$ x7T 1,956,778 1,796,605
HKS BT 493,348 283,124
Euro dollar (“Euro”) BT (ToT]) 125,499 119,105
(b)  Bills receivables b) EWEE

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 90 days (2022:
90 days) based on invoice date at the end of the reporting
period, and are with a maturity period of less than one year.

REEZ BN ERREENEE
H B A& HIR & R1E M0
H(ZZE=-=F :90R)2ZA -
37 B B EREARR DA —4F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

27. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(c)

Cash and cash equivalents/restricted bank
deposits

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. At 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank
balances and deposits carry interest at the prevailing market
interest rates which range from 0.01% to 5.5% (2022: 0.01%
to 4.35%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances that are placed in
restricted bank accounts in accordance with the applicable
government regulations amounting to HK$10,089,000 (2022:
HK$162,472,000), such balances can only be applied in the
designated property development projects, of which HKS$nil
(2022: HK$32,372,000) are held for mesting short-term cash
commitments and are included in cash and cash equivalents.
The balances carrying interest at variable interest rate at 1.25%
(2022: 1.25%) per annum.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances
and cash that were not freely convertible or were
subject to exchange controls in the PRC, amounting to
HK$2,237,427,000 (2022: HK$2,767,909,000).

Included in the bank balances and cash are the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

uss E7T
HK$ BT
Euro & 7T
GBP s

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

27. EME®MEE &)

()

BeRBEBLEEER 2
PREISRITER
ReMASEEERBEAEE
BEEZRSREFHAAZEA
AT ZREHRITTER - RZF
—=F+-A=t—H K&EH
RIRTTRE B R FFIRRITM S
FRENF0.01ERS5EB(-F
—oF N TF001EEL35E)
AT e

RZZEZ=F+=—A=+—H0"
RIEE A BT ERTAZ R SIE
1TER P RIER7T 4582 210,089,000
BIL(ZFEZZF 162,472,000
BT REERERARET
MEERIBE - AHREET(=
T~ —4F 1 32,372,000/ 7T ) JY
AR RN AEmEE -
AARSRRESFEBEIEE - &
BRERTE I SIRF B) M1 258
—E - {2558 .

RZZEZ=F+=—A=+—H80"
AEETIBHEBNATH
HNEE B I BT IR 2 SRIT 48R Ik
4 52,237,427,0008 (=&
— T4 1 2,767,909,000/87T) °

RITREBRIR B TIIALE
ERIER 2 e BB IAINE R
B2 5

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
922,395 1,241,199
544,496 484,925
8,806 2,514
137,838 188,301
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. B REMENERR

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT ENEEREHNEE
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables and bills payables EZRHMEMNRRRENRE
2023 2022
—EC-= =St =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T
Trade payables B REMNERER 2,790,530 2,935,374
Accrued expenses JEIRE A 1,305,255 1,310,794
Payables for acquisition of property, BEYE WEREHEY
plant and equipment FERTBR R 640,772 374,831
Other tax payables EH A ETER 673,662 839,622
VAT payables FEHEETR 147,294 185,586
LAT payables FERT £ IR AT 572 112,845
Other payables H b B~ 08 753,449 714,599
6,311,534 6,473,651
Bills payables (Note) FERT SRR (B 5E) 661,797 650,061
6,973,331 7,123,712
Note:  Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2023 was payables for Mz : RELE-—ZT-=F+-A=+—RHHE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of HK$109,343,000 (2022: MZEES - 215109,343,0007% 7T (=
HK$32,697,000). T —4F : 32,697,000 7C) BEEY
The following is an aging analysis of the trade payables based on the RNEHREER AL BSENERZ
invoice date at the end of the reporting period: BRI AR B ZHERN T ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
0-90 days 0&90H 2,082,362 2,257,104
91-180 days 91&180H 369,882 412,482
Over 180 days 180H A £ 338,286 265,788
2,790,530 2,935,374

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2022: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group related to trade payables in which the
Group has issued bills to the relevant suppliers for future settlement of
trade payables, which are aged within 90 days (2022: 90 days) at the
end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

Us$ e
HK$ BT
Euro BT

28.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BESRAEMENRRRESRE

(#8)

BEEmMNTHEEHROA(ZE
ZZF:90R) - AEERTHB AR
EEBRRERTEENESIREESRR

+3ZE
I%I:l/ﬁ °

AEERESEMNERBHENENE
% HPEmaEEES L AR
KRGEEE SRR - Rk ARS
HM&ARBHIOR(ZZE =4 : 90A)
ZA e

B LEMENERRENEERBET
FIASEEE R 2 IR B UINESE
FHEZ KA -

2023 2022
—EC-=8F B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
1,324,573 1,384,898
360,070 8,160

- 150
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28.

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities SHEaE
2023 2022
—EC-= B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FiBT
Sales of properties HEWE 314,489 1,049,107
Sales of chemicals HELTEM 740,542 1,201,291
Sales of laminates HEE IR 341,222 351,134
Sales of PCB $HEE ENRI AR B AR 271,990 -
1,668,243 2,601,532

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$5,301,996,000.

The significant decreases in contract liabilities in both years are mainly
due to the recognition of the advances received from customers
when the properties are completed and transferred to the customers
in both years.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, certain amount of contract
liabilities arising from sales of properties are expected to be realised
within one to two years at the end of the reporting period. The entire
amount of contract liabilities of sales of laminates and chemicals are
expected to be realised within one year at the end of the reporting
period.

RZE-_—F—AF—H AHaEsE
/£5,301,996,000/8 7T, °

BREENMEFEANBERD IR
HRAMEFEANERTILRNES
B HER BN P IR RATER

RZEZ=FR-_FT=_=_F+=ZA
=+—H HEDENEHABETS
HHEBENRREPRET —EMFERE
| HEBIMRMEIERNELNE
BB N RS RET —F
WEHR o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

The following table sets out the revenue recognised relates to carried-

forward contract liabilities at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

28. B 5 K H b IR
BNRBEREL

m
W

S8

BREE®E)
FRENR-F-=4R-F-—
+oASt—EEMEHADAEARND
RLELE -

Sales of Sales of Sales of
properties chemicals laminates
SHEME HELIER HEBHER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx TEx FER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ-ZE==
TZA=Z+—-HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included FAZE—C
in the contract liability balance at +-A=1+—HA&H
31 December 2022 BEEBOEER
e 1,049,107 1,201,291 351,134
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ=-ZT=—f
T-A=+—-HLEFE
Revenue recognised that was included FAZE-—F
in the contract liability balance at +-A=+—H&HD
31 December 2021 BEEHNEER
e 3,621,185 1,155,177 249,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms with which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property contract period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities during
the year ended 31 December 2022. As this accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period of
construction, it increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to the
customer.

Sales of laminates and chemicals

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

28.

T
4
b3
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@
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all
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50%MiRE - WHtEFESHERE
W) HOPE BIRERTUCERBR T A #03K
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BMEANBHERANAE
HERPRSR TR RS
Bk

o - REERA - B FRIER
ElHBERBEKS  Fit -
EBEoHEEERAESEEEHE
TECCF+ZA=+—HIEF
ERNEER KA EENY
LR AR o R ERTFRIEIE N
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TR HIEEREZ RN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

29. BANK BORROWINGS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

29. $R1TEE

2023 2022
—E=HF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Bank loans RITER 22,890,426 19,747,162
Trust receipt loans SRR E R 32,257 -
22,922,683 19,747,162
Secured BIER 1,643,802 2,362,303
Unsecured HEPE(R 21,278,881 17,384,859
22,922,683 19,747,162
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Carrying amounts repayable*: AR AT BRI (B8 2 BRE(E™
Within one year —FR 8,145,695 4,508,191
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ —%E A _H{ET#BBM4E
more than two years 6,442,813 3,299,321
Within a period of more than two years but not "4 _HET BB RE
more than five years 7,672,944 10,645,413
Within a period of more than five years HBEAF 661,231 1,294,237
22,922,683 19,747,162
The carrying amounts of bank loans that M 75 ZE P S R (B R O 15 R
contain a repayment on demand clause RITEERAEG ARE
(shown under current liabilities) but repayable: B 1&){BBR A TEIFEEE -
Within one year —FR - 43,200
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ —F A _H{B T EBIBRE
more than two years - 43,200
Within a period of more than two years but not A _ BT BB RS
more than five years - 129,600
Within a period of more than five years HBBEAF - 588,180
- 804,180
Carrying amount repayable within one year I M A B ERRERE D
without repayment on demand clause IERER—FRNENHEREE 8,145,695 4,464,991
Amounts due within one year shown under R—FRNEIHZ 708
current liabilities Y AEREEaE 8,145,695 5,269,171
Add: Amounts shown under non-current m:AAEERESEE A
liabilities 14,776,988 14,477,991
22,922,683 19,747,162

respective loan agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

29.

PR AR MY

BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings amounted to
HK$18,382,212,000 (2022: HK$18,275,332,000) are variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest ranging from Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) + 0.78% to HIBOR + 1% (2022: HIBOR
+ 0.78% to HIBOR + 1.15%) per annum and bank borrowings
amounted to HK$3,946,163,000 (2022: HK$1,417,545,000) are
variable-rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from Loan Prime
Rate (“LPR”) = 1.1% to LPR - 0.55% (2022: LPR - 0.9% to LPR
+ 1.355%) per annum. The remaining bank borrowings amounted to
HK$594,308,000 (2022: HK$54,285,000) carry fixed interest rates at
0.89% (2022: 2.6%).

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, certain bank loans and trust receipt
loans of the Group are covered by corporate guarantees given by
Kingboard Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

The range of effective interest rates per annum (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as
follows:

Effective interest rates S
Variable-rate borrowings TEEE

20.

T
4
b3
)
at
@
5>
all

BITEE

RZZE-_=F+—_A=+—H - R17E
E18,382,212,000 8 (=T == F :
18,275,332,000/8 7T ) &% BUE I%? &
BENTEERTAEFRLEXR(SH
HIRTT H%%}%EJ)MO.?sEiE,ﬁE
TRZEFRBINME(ZZE=_=F : %
RITRIZEFR B I078EEFERITH
EREMIA5E) TE - URBTHE
§3,946,163,0008 T ( — T = =
1,417,5450008 7L ) B ZBEE « F
BRAEFTERENERFIAEEE
%Kﬁ%i&ff%‘ﬁﬁo&@(:%::
F:ERTSEREMEHOIEZER
MIHHEFI L N1.355F ) o ﬁ%TﬁEﬁ
& §594,308,0008 T (- T~ —
54,285,000/ 7T ) 1= [E 7 F| £ 0.89/E2 (=
T & 26E)FE -

RZEZ=FR=_FT=_=_F+=ZA
=+—B AEEETRIERRER
WEEFEAEE —R2EHEHMNEA
AEBIREARARIRHARER -
AEBMRITEEZSFEEMNE(HE
REFTHFE)S@ENT -

2023 2022

—EC-=5 —E-F

3.1% to 6.3%
3.1E%6.3E

2.75% 10 5.5%
2.75]E 5.5

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they relate:

HK$
JPY

BT
=

RITEERETIINEEEREMZ

BEEBLAINE M ETE 2 55
2023 2022
—E-=HF —ET- 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T BT
30,000 415,778
594,308 -

—FEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

30. HEAE

2023 2022
—E-=5 —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FAET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE
Within one year —F RN 3,044 4,478
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ —4 A HB BB E
more than two years 1,106 2,716
Within a period of more than two years but not A HE BB
more than five years 33 1,143
Within a period of more than five years BiBAF 828 852
5,011 9,189
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B RBB AR 218 A R E A
months shown under current liabilities HEENERE (3,044) (4,478)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ERB B G~ 128 A& EIH
shown under non-current liabilities EENDE 1,967 4,711

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
entered by the Group. The incremental borrowing rates applied by the
relevant group entities range from 2.49% to 5.24% (2022: 1.11% to
4.75%). These lease liabilities were measured at the present value of
the payments that are not yet paid.

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies which are same as
the functional currencies of the relevant group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RENBHRME
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BRA
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE ERITREHE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROEE &8 RIEAE &8
HK$’000 HK$’000
THEx FERT
Ordinary shares of BREEIETY
HK$0.10 each: Tk
At 1 January and 31 RZZEZ=F—F—AK
December 2022 +=ZA=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,108,791,736 110,879
Exercise of share options ~ {T{EBEA%#E (f13132)
(Note 32) - - 20,000 2
Repurchase and cancellation B 5] & 5 $5A% 15 (i 7%)
of shares (Note) - - (500,000) (50)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=%F
+=-—A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000 1,108,311,736 110,831
Note:  During the year, the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares through sk : FR - ARREBHMIAMERERGH
Stock Exchange as follows: B -
2023 —ET-=fF
Price per share
BRER
Aggregate
Month of consideration
repurchase No. of Shares Highest Lowest paid
BB A7 BREE BS BIK RELBECH
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT FET
April 2023 —Z- 4R 350,000 24.60 22.95 8,368
May 2023 —E-=%FA 150,000 24.15 23.40 3,558
11,926
All shares issued pari passu with the existing shares in all respects. FERONETHEREROEERSE
TR o

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPTIONS

(@ Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company
The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme (the
“Scheme”) which was approved by the shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27
May 2019. The scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years from the date on which it was adopted. The remaining
life of the Scheme is approximately five years.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to the eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

Under the Scheme which is valid for a period of ten years,
the Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to
subscribe for shares in the Company to Eligible Participants
who contribute to the long term growth and profitability of
the Company. Eligible Participants include (i) any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interests (“Invested Entity”), including any executive director of
the Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
(i) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and (vi) any person or entity who from time
to time determined by the board of directors (the “Board”) as
having contributed or may contribute to the development and
growth of the Group based on his or its performance and/or
years of service, or is regarded as valuable resources of the
Group based on his/it’s working experience, knowledge in the
industry and other relevant factors. The exercise price for the
Company’s share options shall be determined with reference
to the highest of the nominal value of the Company’s shares,
the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of an offer of the grant of the
options and the closing price of the Company’s shares quoted
on the Stock Exchange on the date of an offer of the grant of
the options. The Board, when extending an offer of the grant
of options to a grantee, may impose conditions as it thinks
fit, which may include minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised or other conditions
as the Board may of its absolute discretion determine. The
options must be taken up by a participant within 28 business
days from the date of grant upon payment of HK$1 and are
exercisable over a period to be determined and notified by the
Directors to each grantee, which period may commence from
the date of acceptance of the offer of the grant of the options
but shall end in any event not later than ten years from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@)

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company (continued)

The total number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group (excluding
options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Scheme. The limit on the number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other schemes of the Group must not
exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time to
time. The total number of the Company’s shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each
grantee (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the Scheme or other schemes of the Group in any
12-month period up to the date of grant must not exceed
1% of the Company’s shares in issue at the date of grant
unless approved by the shareholders in general meeting. The
number of options available for grant under the Scheme was
62,445,223 as at 1 January 2023 and 46,405,223 as at 31
December 2023. The number of shares that may be issued
in respect of options granted under the Scheme during 2023
(i.e. 16,040,000) divided by the weighted average number of
issued shares of the Company for 2023 was 1.45%. As at the
date of this annual report, the number of options available for
grant under the Scheme was 46,405,223, representing 4.19%
of the total number of issued shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, there was no participant with share
options granted in excess of the 1% individual limit under the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no option has
lapsed or cancelled under the Scheme, 20,000 (2022:
nil) were exercised and 16,040,000 (2022: 16,370,000)
outstanding share options were granted.

As at 31 December 2023, and as at the date of this annual
report, there were 32,410,000 (2022: 16,390,000) options
outstanding under the scheme, representing 2.92% of the
total number of issued shares of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

Date of grant

RS

Granted fo Directors on:
HjETES.

14 August 2019 Note )
FNENRTRAG)

23 June 2022

28.July 2023
TRIZECACTIR

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
A summary of the movements of the number of share options
under the Scheme for the year is as follows:

Granted

during the
Balance at year ended Balance at Granted Exercised Lapsed
1 January 31 December 31 December during during during
2022 2022 202 the year the year the year

HEE§-E HoEE
W22 tZRz-B toREt-R
-f-AZEH LEERY a8 REREE  MERGE  RERRN

(Notel) (Note (Note )
(k) (B (i)
20,000 - 20000 - (20,000 -

- 12,630,000 12,650,000 - - -

Granted fo employees on (Note :

K TFIBBETES st -
23 June 2022
“5-CERACTER

28.July 2023
TRIZECACTNR

Bercisable ot

KA TABTF R

1 January 2022
“3oIE-A-A

31 December 2022
3
31 December 2028
S s o el

BEHEERRAA

32. BRE e
(@) ARATESEKREEI(E)

FA - ZEEAT ZBEERE

syttt -
Cancelled Balance at
during ~ 31December  Exercise price
the year 02 per share Exercisable period
ik 3
t2Azt-8

REREE 25H SRR 7k9

- - HRSIZ304 14 August 20190 13 August 2029
4T ZEF-AENATRAZ
ZE2NENATZR
- 12650000 HK$30.890 23 June 20220 22 Jung 2032
N8WET 3o EAA-TIRE
S -
- 12,650,000 HK$21.500 28 July 20231027 July 2083
NE0ET  ZEIZELACTNEE

- 3,720,000 HK$30.890 23 June 20220 22 Jung 2032
N8WET 3o ERA-TIRE
oy
- 3,300,000 HKS21.500 28 July 20231027 July 2083
AS0ET  ZFTZEHA-TNRE
:gzzﬁfﬂfﬁfﬁ

- - - 12,650,000 - -
- 3720000 3720000 - - -
- - - 3,300,000 - -
20,000 16,370,000 16,390,000 16,040,000 (20,000 - - 3240000

20,000

16,300,000

32,410,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@ Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
Notes:

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

32. BRE e
AATEEBRESTE(®)

(@)

M

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 16,370,000 options
were granted by the Company on 23 June 2022 under the
Scheme of the Company, of which 14,490,000 options were
granted to directors and/or their associate(s) and 1,880,000 were
granted to employees (excluding any associate of directors).
The closing price of the Company’s shares on 22 June 2022
(namely the date immediately before the aforesaid grant date)
is HK$28.80. The estimated fair value of the aforesaid options
was HK$77,300,000, of which HK$68,423,000 was attributable
to the options granted to directors and/or their associate(s)
while HK$8,877,000 was attributable to the options granted to
employees. The fair value of each of the abovementioned options
was identical, namely HK$4.722. All share options were vested on
the date of grant.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price at grant date

R B R (E

Exercise price

1T

Expected volatility

TEEDR B

Expected life

TREAEFHY

Risk-free interest rate

[ e |

Expected dividend yield
TEERRR B e 3

Early exercise multiple (Directors)
RATTEER (BF)

Early exercise multiple (Employees)

RAITTEGE (BR)

PSE -

(

i

S XEA
it FE |1] 2 o

_.
o
&)
~
o
=)
o
o
=
i
==
58
=

3
q
)

114,490,000 i % 12 3%
FEERKEBEA
1,880,000 & T EE (F
BEAFNESIHEAN) -
ARARBRHBR T —FX
A=Z+=8 (&% Ll
LEBAT—A8) WmEA
28.80# T o Ll iR E 2
st 2AF{EHR77,300,000
T H 68,423,000
TEBRARFESR 3
BEZHBBEAZERE M
8,877,000/ ;L BN T 1B
B ERE - S HER
B RTEER - B4.7228
JC o FT A BB ARAE R A ER
B o

%% A TEIYRA ZIEAM
RIEHE - HAIBAENT -

=R
2022
—EB-_fF

HK$29.65
29.65/# 7T
HK$30.89
30.89/ 7T

34.28%

10 years
105
2.632%

10.42%

1.40x
1.401%
1.23x
1.23f&%

The measurement date of the options disclosed herein is the date
of grant of these options.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
the valuer’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@)

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(i

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 16,040,000 options
were granted by the Company on 28 July 2023 under the Scheme
of the Company, of which 14,160,000 options were granted to
directors and/or their associate(s) and 1,880,000 were granted
to employees (excluding any associate of directors). The closing
price of the Company’s shares on 28 July 2023 (namely the date
immediately before the aforesaid grant date) is HK$21.50. The
estimated fair value of the aforesaid options was HK$75,258,000,
of which HK$66,437,000 was attributable to the options granted
to directors and/or their associate(s) while HK$8,821,000 was
attributable to the options granted to employees. The fair value
of each of the abovementioned options was identical, namely
HK$4.692. All share options were vested on the date of grant and
there was no vesting period and performance targets attached to
the options granted. The weighted average closing price of the
shares immediately before the dates on which the options were
vested was HK$21.25.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The
inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price at grant date

R B R (E

Exercise price

1B

Expected volatility

TEERR B

Expected life

TEEREFHA

Risk-free interest rate
EEBFE

Expected dividend yield
TEEARR B a2

Early exercise multiple (Directors)
RATTEESE(ES)

Early exercise multiple (Employees)

RATTEEHR(ER)

i
4
b3
)
at
<
5>
all

32. BRE e
AATEEBRESTE(®)

(@)

F
i

i)
)

i

—~

S

i
- N EE > 30 m

o TR ||

1,880,00017 ¥ T (&
FEAMESEIHE
ANARHR=ZZT==
—+N\A (AR i A
HpT—H) 8 M B /£21.50
BT o RlBEARE 2 EET D
F (& 475,258,000 7T+ H
1 66,437,000 78 7T 57 B 7 %
FEER/IHBEIHEAN
Z B » 18,821,000 7T
BENETIES ZERE -
Pl F D ERES D TFEAR
A B4.6928 7T - TR
R B EIR B A AT
BRETENTEEDRE
B E o R P B R g
5B B H AT 2 Ik F g kT
BA21.25/87T ©

ZEANFEDSFEAZBRE
BEE - HAMBABENDT ¢
2023
—EB-=F

w2
ke
DH@

HK$21.50
21.50/8 7T
HK$21.50
21.50/%8 7T

35.63%

10 years
106
3.84%

5.55%

1.40x
1.401%
1.28x
1.23f%

The measurement date of the options disclosed herein is the date
of grant of these options.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
the valuer’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(@

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Including the 3,350,000 (2022: 1,840,000) share options of Ms.
Cheung Wai Kam, the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of
KHL. The spouse of Ho Yin Sang is an employee of KLHL. Ms.
Cheung Wai Kam is an associate of Director by virtue of her
relationship with several executive Directors of the Company. In
addition to being the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, she is also the
mother of Ms. Ho Kin Fan and the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wing. Ms. Cheung Wai Kam had a balance of 1,840,000 share
options at the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2023.
She was granted 1,510,000 share options during the year ended
31 December 2023. All 1,510,000 share options were vested
on the date of grant, 28 July 2023. None of the share options
granted were exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

(iv) The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately
before the date on which the options were exercised was
HK$24.15.

(v) The names of the grantees are set out in the section headed

“Share Options” in this annual report.

The Group recognised the expense of HK$75,258,000 (2022:
HK$77,300,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023 in
relation to the above 16,040,000 (2022: 16,370,000) share
options granted by the Company.

The share options outstanding had a weighted average
exercise price of HK$26.24 (2022: HK$30.87), and the
weighted average remaining contract lives of the outstanding
share options are approximately 9.75 years (2022: 10 years) as
at 31 December 2023.

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”)

The share option scheme of KLHL (“KLHL Scheme”) was
approved by the shareholders and the shareholders of KLHL
on 29 May 2017, and the KLHL Scheme took effect upon
obtaining approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange on 2 November 2017. The purpose of the KLHL
Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to the eligible
participants of the KLHL Scheme (as listed below) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of the KLHL Group.
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(b)
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(i) BEEEEEESMRE
FENEBRES X+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

The KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years. The board
of KLHL may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for
shares in KLHL to (i) eligible participants who contribute to the
long-term growth and profitability of KLHL and include any
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-
time and including any executive director), consultants or
advisers of KLHL, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“KLHL’s
Invested Entity”) in which the KLHL and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “KLHL Group”) holds an equity
interest; (i) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of KLHL, any of its subsidiaries or any
KLHL’s Invested Entity; (i) any supplier of goods or services
to any member of the KLHL Group or any KLHL’s Invested
Entity; (iv) any customer of the KLHL Group or any KLHL’s
Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the KLHL
Group or any KLHL'’s Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder
of any member of the KLHL Group or any KLHL’s Invested
Entity.

The exercise price of KLHL’s share in respect of any option
granted under the KLHL Scheme was determined with
reference to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
of KLHL as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option, which must be a
business day; (i) the average closing price of the shares of
KLHL as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares of KLHL. For details, please refer to the announcement
of KLHL dated 23 April 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32 SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon
the payment of a consideration of HK$1. An option may be
exercised at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the directors of KLHL to each grantee, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date upon which the
offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
The directors of KLHL may, at their absolute discretion, fix
any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be
exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the KLHL
Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the KLHL Scheme and any
other share option scheme of KLHL) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares of KLHL in issue
as at the date of approval of the KLHL Scheme by the
shareholders and the shareholders of KLHL (i.e. 312,000,000
shares of KLHL, representing 10.0% of the total issued share
capital of KLHL as at the date these consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue).

The maximum number of shares of KLHL which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of KLHL from time to time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

The total number of shares of KLHL issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the share capital of KLHL then
in issue unless approved by the shareholders of KLHL and
shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 36,900,000
options were granted by KLHL on 23 June 2022 under the
KLHL Scheme, of which 29,000,000 options were granted to
directors of KLHL and 7,900,000 were granted to employees
of KLHL.

As at 31 December 2022, 36,900,000 options remained
outstanding under the KLHL Scheme. The closing price of
KLHL’s shares on 22 June 2022 (namely the date immediately
before the aforesaid grant date) is HK$9.46. The estimated
fair value of the aforesaid options was HK$48,000,000, of
which HK$37,724,000 was attributable to the options granted
to directors of KLHL while HK$10,276,000 was attributable
to the options granted to employees of KLHL. The fair value
of each of the abovementioned options was identical, namely
HK$1.3008. All share options were vested on the date of
grant, 23 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, 72,800,000 options remained
outstanding under KLHL Scheme, representing 2.3% of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, 35,900,000 options were granted
by KLHL on 28 July 2023 under the Share Option Scheme of
KLHL. The closing price of the Company’s shares on 28 July
2023 (namely the date immediately before the aforesaid grant
date) is HK$7.8. The estimated fair value of the aforesaid
options was HK$48,750,000, of which HK$39,378,000
was attributable to the options granted to Directors while
HK$9,372,000 was attributable to the options granted to
employees of the Company. The fair value of each of the
abovementioned options was identical, namely HK$1.3579.
All share options were vested on the date of grant 28 July
2023 and there was no vesting period and performance
targets attached to the options granted. The weighted
average closing price of the shares immediately before the
dates on which the options were vested was HK$7.69. None
of the vested share options have been exercised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

32. BBRE

(b) Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard b)) BEHBEEBWREZERARADQT
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued) (T&EEERDEEERE
BRETE(E)
As at 31 December 2023, there was no participant with share He T _-_=—F+-_A=+—
options granted in excess of the 1% individual limit under the H TFEEREmRAUET
Listing Rules. 1% 18 51| IR 1l 5% T B A i gy 22 B2
e
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no option has REBEEZZT_=F+=A=+—
lapsed or has been exercised, or cancelled under the KLHL BIEFE - BEELERERE
Scheme. As at 31 December 2023, 72,800,000 (2022: EEERIRGT 2L 1T {FEe s
36,900,000) outstanding share options were exercisable. He-MNZBE-_=F+_A=1+—
H + 72,800,000 (ZF ==
4 1 36,900,00017 ) 1 AR 1T{E
AR F1TfE o
A summary of movements of the number of share options FRBEERIRGTEITE T 2B
under the KLHL Scheme for the year was as follows: BHEEHPET
Balance at Granted Balance at Exercise
1 January during 31 December price
Date of grant 2023 the year 2023 per share  Exercisable period
RZB-=F
R=F==% tZRA=t-H . )
R BH —R—Bz&% RERFH ok 33 BRITEE TS
(Note i)
(FzEi)
Granted to the directors of
KLHL on:
ﬁ;ﬁ/ HERTEEEERE
23 June 2022 29,000,000 - 29,000,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to
T -®#XA=-t+=H 9.728/ 7T 22 June 2032
“E--#XA-t+=R%
ZE=-F AZ1ZH
28 July 2023 - 29,000,000 29,000,000 HK$7.800 28 July 2023 to
“E-=%tA-+N\RH 7.800/7T 27 July 2033
S oy AN = Y
“E-=F+A-++H
Granted to employees on
(Note i):
RTFIAHRTES (M) -
23 June 2022 7,900,000 - 7,900,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to
T -#XA=-t+=H 9.728% 7T 22 June 2032
“E--#XA-t+=R%
ZE=FRAZ1ZH
28 July 2023 - 6,900,000 6,900,000 HK$7.800 28 July 2023 to
“E-=%tA-+N\RH 7.800/7T 27 July 2033
S oy AN = EY
“E-=F+A-++H
36,900,000 35,900,000 72,800,000

ANNUAL REPORT 2023




*

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

32. BBRE

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard

Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

Date of grant

REAM

Granted to the Directors
RTEZ

23 June 2022
TE-FRAZ+=H

Granted to employees (Note ii)
RTES (Hizi)

23 June 2022
ZTCHERAZTER

Exercisable at
RAT B F1I(E

1 January 2022
—Z-=%-F-H

31 December 2022
“Z-—F+-fA=+-H
31 December 2023
—E-=F+-A=+—H

Granted
Balance at during Balance at
1 January the year 31 December
2022 (Note i) 2022
R-B-=f R-B=-=F
-A-H RERRE +=A=+-H
&R (Hiiti) ki
- 29,000,000 29,000,000
- 7,900,000 7,900,000
- 36,900,000 36,900,000
36,900,000
72,800,000

(b) BERERERBERAF
(TEEEERDEEESL
BRESTE (e

Exercise
price
per share

BRITEE

HK$9.728
9.7285 7T

HK$9.728
9.728/TC

Exercisable period

Eogcd:
23 June 2022 to
22 June 2032
—E--FEXA-+=HE
“E--FXAZ+=H
23 June 2022 to
22 June 2032
—E--FXA-t=HZ
“E="#XA-+ZH

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b) Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

Notes:

M

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 35,900,000 options
were granted by KLHL on 28 July 2023 under the share option
scheme of KLHL, of which 29,000,000 options were granted to
directors of KLHL and 6,900,000 were granted to employees of
KLHL.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 36,900,000 options
were granted by KLHL on 23 June 2022 under the share option
scheme of KLHL, of which 29,000,000 options were granted to
directors of KLHL and 7,900,000 were granted to employees of
KLHL.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial pricing
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Share price at grant date

R B AR (E

Exercise price

1B

Expected life

TRERSFH3

Expected dividend yield

Ta HARR B s

Expected volatility

TEERR B

Risk-free interest rate

B b N R

Early exercise multiple (Directors)
AT ES(ES)

Early exercise multiple (Employees)

RATTEGH(ER)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

32. BBRE

EEREREZERBRAF
(TEEEERDEEESL

BRET ()
S

(b)

0

HEz-_Z-_=%+=-A1
=+—RHILEFE  BZEEE
BR—ZE-_=F+F -+ N
ARG ETE RS AR AT
&l #% i 85,900,000 17 & A%
& - H 7 29,000,000 17 ¥
RERTFTEEEERES -
6,900,00017 % T E A E R
B8 -

HE-_ZT-_-_+=A
=t+—BLFE BEEE
MR —ZE-_—_FA=-+=
AREREEERERER
% 4% ) 36,900,000 17 8 B%
# - E 29,000,000 15 B
R TFREEEBIRES -
7,900,00017 % F 2 E A B R
(-

ZEANFEIHEAZBERE
BEAGE - BENHAEB
W

As of As of

28 July 2023 23 June 2022
BE-Z-=F BE-ZT-—F
+tA=1+NH ARA=t=H
HK$7.800 HK$9.550
7.8007& T 9.550# 7T
HK$7.800 HK$9.728
7.8007& 7T 9.728%8 7T
10 years 10 years
105 104

5.66% 15.81%
40.463% 39.132%
3.840% 2.632%
1.23x 1.23x

1.231% 1.23F

1.22x 1.22x

1.22f% 1.221%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(i) (continued)

The measurement date of the options disclosed herein is the date
of grant of these options.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
the valuer’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variable and assumptions used in computing the
fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

(ii) Including the interests of 10,800,000 (2022: 5,900,000) share
options of spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL.
The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang is an employee of KLHL. Ms.
Cheung Wai Kam had a balance of 5,900,000 share options at
the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2023. She was
granted 4,900,000 share options during the year ended 31
December 2023. All 4,900,000 share options were vested on the
date of grant, 28 July 2023. None of the share options granted
were exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$48,750,000
(2022: HK$48,000,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023 in relation to the above 35,900,000 (2022: 36,900,000)
share options granted by KLHL.

The share options outstanding had a weighted average
exercise price of HK$8.777 (2022: HK$9.728), and a
weighted average remaining contract lives of the outstanding
share options are approximately 9.75 years (2022: 10 years) as
at 31 December 2023.

T
4
b3
)
at
@
5>
all

B )

(b)

EEREREZERBRAF
(TEEEERDEEESL

BB & ()
fifeE : (4
0 ()

AR AT ER O 3 5T B U
AERHARHREELE
R H A -

TEHR R TR EA R R RE
RBE+FZERKIEE
E o EfEMESHEET
BAFZRHFHERER
Pt FAIEEE - TER
BIRTREERARZZE
A % o

:Iﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%l&%
cHEBERER
Zx%l& E”‘TJ%E’\§$Z
RAEFFA © ﬁ%ﬂﬂ&f“@@f%
LT ERREETE M E
1t -

(i) BEEZHEEESEMKLEL
A BAC1810,800,00010 (=&
— — 4 : 5,900,00019 ) & B
Rz o B AR
BAREERERES - 8=
:2:*¢+ ﬁ*+ =]
WEFED - g egunt V=1
59000001\@%%&“@%%% =
EZT-=F+=-A=+—
Eiﬁﬁ 18 % 4,900,000

D EERIE - AT 4,900,00017
BRERNRHABH-_T==
FHAZ+N\BRE - FRX
BB R AR T
SRS R

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—
AILFE  AEEREEEE
R % A | 4 35,900,000 (=
T~ — 4 : 36,900,000 ) BE P&
1 7 R B 2 4258 48,750,000 7
(== = —4F : 48,000,000
JL) °

RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8"
ﬁ*ﬁﬁ%k%%ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁ@
BAR877T7TET( T -
9.728/8 L) MM ARTTEHE AR
R IR A NF RN A
Q.75F (ZZFE==F : 105F) -

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

33. FFiEkHER

Share-based

Share of payments
net assets of reserve of
subsidiaries a subsidiary Total
—BHBARZ
EEHEAR BRGBER
FEE REE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—%—fF—H 5,666,121 - 5,666,121
Share of net changes arising from debt EERATET ALt 2 ARG ES
instruments at FVTOC! (Note) TAEARMZEFERT) 38,651 - 38,651
Share of exchange differences arising from EEEFBIMIEEMESEZ
translation of foreign operations EHESE (3,371) - (3,371)
Share of exchange differences arising from BERFELREEMEE L
translation to presentation currency EHERE (512,544) - (512,544)
Share of profit for the year JEIEREEEH 533,334 - 533,334
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BRUESEENRAF AR
payments - 48,000 48,000
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of 715 FHIB AR 7 IR 2
subsidiaries %2 (1,115,215) - (1,115,215)
Capital contribution from non-controlling RIEUNGTE ]
shareholders of a subsidiary (16,800) - (16,800)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ$+-A=+-H 4,590,176 48,000 4,638,176
Share of net changes arising from debt RO E AL 2 AREER
instruments at FVTOCI (Note) TAEEREEFAE(M:) (14,810) - (14,810)
Share of exchange differences arising from BERTEEREEMESL
translation to presentation currency EHERE (45,127) - (45,127
Share of profit for the year [ERAERE ST 281,131 - 281,131
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ﬁ@ﬂ NEREENRNH T ANR
payments - 48,750 48,750
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of % 5 F P B2 7l 2 FHER AR 2
subsidiaries e (214,859) - (214,859)
At 31 December 2023 —E-=F+-A=+—H 4,596,511 96,750 4,693,261

Note:  Share of net changes arising from debt instruments at FVTOCI consist

of loss on fair value changes on debt instruments amounting to
HK$11,714,000 (2022: HK$10,212,000) and impairment loss under ECL
model on debt instruments at FVTOCI amounting to HK$71,000 (2022:
HK$48,863,000). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount also
included cumulative gain reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of debt
instruments amounting to HK$3,167,000 (2022: nil).
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BIABREEHKIAZATFEE
E1811,7140008 L (Z T == F :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On June 2022, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in Two
London Wall Place Limited, a company incorporated in the United
Kingdom, from an independent third party (“the vendor”) for a cash
consideration of approximately GBP 302,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,836,318,000). Two London Wall Place Limited is principally
engaged in holding a commercial tower in United Kingdom for rental

purpose.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test in
accordance with HKFRS 3 and concluded that the investment

properties was considered a single identifiable asset.

Consequently, the Group determined that substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents)
acquired is concentrated a single identifiable asset and concluded

that the acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
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34. WIEKE QT

RZEZ—FRA AEBERFR—FE
YE=HTER]) WHETwo London
Wall Place Limited ( — fE 7 & B &
A E R R]) H100% A% 42 - B¢
R A{B #) /& 302,000,000 # 5 (& ©
2,836,318,000/%7T) ° Two London Wall
Place Limited=E 2/t FRERIEE —IE
PEANEELHEMAS -

AEBREZREBEDTEMEHHRERES
SEMEEEETEIR  URA/KRE
WMEGAR R E R EE

Bt - AEBEEEMBBEEE (TR
EReRREEERD)NBRED A
FEETRE-AIBHEE  LRSMHM
W — ARSI B EW IFET o

B =FFR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. WEEKMIB AR (e
(continued)
Consideration transferred: BEENAE:
2022
—E-F
HK$'000
FAET
Cash paid 28 E 2,836,318
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised RUBEAERBEER
at the date of acquisition: ERIEE
Investment properties "EME 2,834,721
Other receivables HAb AR TR 1,422
Cash and cash equivalents Re MReEEEAR 38,850
Other payables HAbERBRFK (38,675)
Shareholder’s loan EN= G (160,795)
Bank borrowings RITIEE (1,136,233
1,539,290
Repayment of shareholder’s loan by the vender EHEERRER 160,795
Repayment of bank borrowings by the vender EHERPBITEE 1,136,233
2,836,318
Net Cash outflow in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary: WE—RBNEBATRIZRE R B
2022
B F
HK$’'000
FAET
Cash consideration paid 2RReRE (2,836,318
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEEAER 38,850
(2,797,468)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

35.

36.

PR AR MY

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, share premium, reserves and retained profits as disclosed in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

35.

36.

T
4
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)
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EXEmEE

BEARREEAREEE R E AR URER
BEBCEHERNEFSEDZFEA
FRMESO®H  EAREE T EELN
FELE  AREZERERREBESF
EAAR °

GRS RS R BRMTNE - AREZ
BERERERRTEEREEAE(
BRRELBLEEERR) RARAFE
ANEGERS (BREEBTRA - ki)
B FERREEN) -

EXELERMELSE - FREH—
Mo BEEBEREARKAE  REZH
REARIERZER - EFERR - NEE
BB IS - BITHR - BEAR
o BITHEXREBRREER - LT
BB AR

EWMITH

(@ =E=®MTAEER

2023 2022
—E=E —E-fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets ERMEE
Amortised cost 18 SRR 7R 14,990,190 19,139,866
Equity instruments at FVTPL BEAFEFABENER TR 11,124,756 6,541,077
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEGFAEMEZEREZ
BERETA 861,970 629,933
26,976,916 26,310,876
Financial liabilities =N
Amortised cost HESHR AR
— trade and other payables — B 5 RHEMEMNR 4,184,751 4,024,804
— bills payables —ENER 661,797 650,061
— bank borrowings —RITEE 22,922,683 19,747,162
27,769,231 24,422,027

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 11.4% (2022: 12.1%) of the
Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entities making the
sale, whilst almost 16.2% (2022: 19.6%) of purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, HK$, Euro and GBP. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase
and decrease in functional currency of respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, excluding the
exposures on balances denominated in US$ of respective
group entities of which functional currencies are HK$, since
the Directors are of the option that such exposures are
not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$. 5% (2022: 5%)
represents the management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only the outstanding monetary items
denominated in foreign currency and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2022: 5%)
changes in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, bank borrowings as well as debt
instruments at FVTOCI. A positive (negative) number below
indicates an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit for the year
where functional currency of each group entity strengthens
5% (2022: 5%) against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5%
(2022: 5%) weakening of functional currency of each group
entity against the relevant foreign currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.
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36. £ I H

(b)

EEREEEEREEK
()

TiSER(E)

EXEs ()

BRE DT
AEBEBMEET B B
TR ESEINE R E R - T
A EES R EREEEE
B SR INEF RS %(ZE ==
F : 5%)MBRE - TRIENEE
EMAETHNSEEEEIUET
SHEMEHRNER - BRETE
EiMn  EFERAEHRRIL
TER - 5%(ZF==F : 5%)
TEBEHINER R IR
BIEZERTE - BURESITE
BIE M AR B BRSNS B (E R B HE
BE - HIRESRER A ZIME
MEES%(—F =45 : 5%) &)
ER AR - RRESTRIEE
S REMBEWEER - RITEH KL
Be  BEFREMEMNER R
TEEUREATFEF AL ME
FREHEETE - FEIESE
EERENIEEEE S BEINEF
BE5%(ZZT - —%F : 5%) - &
FEBRBBSFBAEN - 25
SEEEMNIEE S BEINE
B E5%(— T —4F : 5%)8 -
A FERBEENBERSE
AR E -

2023 2022
—Eo=F —E-fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FiT

Uss ETT (101,601) (70,540)
HK$ BT (27,235) (10,633)
Euro BT (5,647) (3,758)
GBP e (5,795) (5,819)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

EEZR R ARFRERTREBR
FARRE - BEREDITARER
RAERINERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate loan receivable (see Note 23 for details of the loan
receivable), listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest
(see Note 22 for details of these listed bond securities), fixed-
rate lease liabilities (see Note 30 for details of these lease
liabilities) and fixed-rate bank borrowings (see Note 29 for
details of these bank borrowings). The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact
arising from any interest rate movements based on interest
rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances, restricted bank deposits,
entrusted loans and variable-rate borrowings have exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the
prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and LPR (2022:
HIBOR and LPR) arising from the Group’s bank borrowings.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly
risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk
management strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e KR RMEE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. ﬁﬁilﬂ(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEREEEBEREX
policies (continued) (%)
Market risk (continued) miERR(E)
Interest rate risk (continued) Ve AC=P)
Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that are DA AR AN FT 2 SR A FERTA
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI is as follows: Hib 2 sm e E EfER]
BWA WA
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Interest revenue FLEMA
Financial assets at FVTOCI BEAFEFARMEERE
K& RE E 38,676 83,926
Other income HAbA
Financial assets at amortised cost TR ATTEN e EE 268,657 239,866
Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL: SHEATEAEENEREBE
R B
2023 2022
—E-=5 —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHIER AT ENSRAG 1,148,839 527,614

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for entrusted loans and bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis points) increase or 50
basis points (2022: 50 basis points) decrease are used and
represents the management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded
from sensitivity analysis as the Directors consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-
rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2023 would decrease/increase by HK$93,334,000 (2022:
decrease/increase by HK$80,823,000) as a result of the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its entrusted loans and
variable-rate borrowings.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity and debt price risk through
its investments in equity instruments measured at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity instruments
measured at FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI quoted
in the Stock Exchange, Tokyo Stock Exchange, SGX, New
York Stock Exchange, Shanghai Stock Exchange and Irish
Stock Exchange, the management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Other price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would increase/
decrease by HK$928,917,000 (2022: increase/decrease by
HK$546,180,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity investments at FVTPL.

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2022: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would increase/
decrease by HK$86,197,000 (2022: increase/decrease by
HK$62,993,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
investments at FVTOCI.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to
perform their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customer

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors have
delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. The Group monitors any changes
in the credit quality of the trade receivables since the credit
was granted and up to the end of the reporting period. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a
year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables with exposure spread over a number
of customers. However, the Group is exposed to the
concentration on geographic segment in the PRC. At 31
December 2023, approximately 95% (2022: 95%) of the
Group’s trade receivables are arising from the PRC.

Except for credit-impaired trade receivables which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal credit
ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.

Collective assessments

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed collectively as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross carrying
amounts of HK$47,805,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$304,826,000) were assessed individually. Credit-
impairment debtors are fully provided ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHRME
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 36. €T
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEREEEERRE
policies (continued) (58)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EER R ERET(E)
Collective assessments (continued) BRI (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023: HEr—_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—H
IEFE
Gross trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
BEZEW FEHA B SRl
RIS E TR RNAE BEXHE FEEE BRAFRE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Low risk KA 3,757,868 1% - 4% 186,185 3,571,683
Watch list ELERPE 2,939,894 5% - 20% 587,987 2,351,907
Doubtful RER 888,519 30% -40% 268,623 619,896
7,586,281 1,042,795 6,543,486
For the year ended 31 December 2022: HE-Z-_—_F+=-_A=+—H
LIEFE
Gross trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
=0l TEHR B EKR
NEEE TR BRReE  EBRXEE EEEE ERFCFRE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAET
Low risk KRB 4,828,941 1% - 4% 186,537 4,642,404
Watch list B ZE 2,200,402 5% - 20% 437,942 1,762,460
Doubtful REE 655,230  30% —40% 247,455 407,775
7,684,573 871,934 6,812,639

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

NEBEEFTR
Low risk

KR

Watch list

EREE

Doubtful

~ER

Loss

=g

Write-off

s

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by the management to ensure relevant

Description
Eiipus

The counterparty has a low risk of
default
HFFENRRE

Doubtful debtor frequently repays
after due dates but usually
settle in full

BERNFRNEBALETNE
HA®EERRE  BRETEUE
ZEE

There have been significant
increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through
information developed internally
or external resources

BB ER A A S D BRI ER Y
ERENEERR B VIETER
VATRERZE ETF

There is evidence indicating the
asset is oredit—impaireq
BBRETEELRESRE

There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

BRBETREBARAREY
A - BEREEEERESKRD
FIA

information about specific debtors is updated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that

EEHEEBERRA

€MIAw
b)) HERBREEEEREE

(&)
FERRKBERE(E)
TREIIREHOEERSES

has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified Fguﬂzﬁﬁ S HITE R E B SR Y
approach. e
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HEH
=812 =812
(BIEERHE) (FERE) @gt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 N2 —F—HF—H 1,184,629 72,894 1,257,523
Changes relating to trade receivables MZZ = —%F—H—H&EERR
recognised as at 1 January 2022 BHRNEREMANES
— Transfer to credit-impaired - EREEEHE (24,443) 24,443 -
— Net impairment loss reversed —BEREBEFE (446,921) (8,461) (455,382)
— Write-offs —Ji 38 - (5,939 (5,939)
New financial assets originated AEEEENTERMEE
during the year 488,135 - 488,135
Transfer to credit-impaired AEEEREEERE
during the year (237,769) 237,769 -
Exchange adjustments [ 3, 32 (91,697) (15,880) (107,577)
At 31 December 2022 i ::¢+ A=1— 871,934 304,826 1,176,760
Changes relating to trade receivables M-T-=F—F—H#
recognised as at 1 January 2023 BHERESME Hﬁ(ﬁﬁ KH R
— Transfer to credit-impaired —BREEERE (5,374) 5,374 -
— Net impairment loss reversed —BERESEFE (182,552) (268,444) (450,996)
- Write-offs — i - - -
New financial assets originated AEEELNHEMEE
during the year 405,019 - 405,019
Transfer to credit-impaired REEEEEEERNE
during the year (8,580) 8,580 -
Exchange adjustments BE 5 % (37,652) (2,531) (40,183)
At 31 December 2023 —=%+-F=+—H 1,042,795 47,805 1,090,600

—= _7£E/Eﬁ#§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The decrease (2022: increase) of lifetime ECL for trade
receivables that are credit-impaired is mainly due to the
transfer from not credit-impaired trade receivable with a gross
carrying amount of HK$8,580,000 during the year (2022:
subsequent settlement in full of trade debtors with a gross
carrying amount of HK$237,769,000).

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate.

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors have
considered the bills received by the Group with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL by
reference to the external credit rating of relevant banks,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Entrusted loans

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of entrusted loans
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment assessment are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The entrusted loans are pledged by the properties held by
the borrowers. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

At 31 December 2023, 100% (2022: 100%) of the Group’s
entrusted loans are arising from the PRC.

Loan receivable

The Directors estimate the estimated loss rates of loan
receivable based on financial background of the debtor. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors considered
that the ECL of the Group’s loan receivable was insignificant
as the debtor was a listed company in Hong Kong engaged
in property development business. During the year ended
2023, due to the defaults of the borrower of the loan
receivable in making payments of interest and principal for its
indebtedness, the Directors considered there was a significant
increase in credit risk in the loan receivable to this borrower.
The Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to assist
in the estimation of the ECL provision on the loan receivable
to this borrower by determining an appropriate probability of
default rate, the estimated loss given default rate of each debt
instrument and forward-looking adjustments.

At 31 December 2023, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its loan receivable as 100% (2022: 100%) of
the loan receivable is concentrated in one (2022: one) debtor.
The Group’s loan receivable is exposed to credit risk due to
the default of repayment by the debtor. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amounts of the Group’s loan receivable
was HK$721,591,000 (2022: HK$1,880,000,000). Based on
the assessment, the Group has recognised impairment loss
under expected credit loss model of HK$893,907,000 (2022:
nil) in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Restricted bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk for restricted bank deposits and bank balances
exposed is considered minimal as such amounts are placed
with various banks with good credit ratings and there is no
significant concentration of credit risk.

Debt instruments at FVTOC/

At 31 December 2023, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its debt instruments at FVTOCI as 100%
(2022: 95%) of the total debt are concentrated in four
(2022: seven) bond securities listed on SGX and Irish Stock
Exchange (2022: SGX) and issued by two (2022: two) listed
issuers in Hong Kong. The Group’s listed bond securities are
exposed to credit risk due to the default of repayment by the
bond issuers.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, defaults of a bond
issuer in making payments of interest and principal for its
indebtedness indicated significant increase in credit risk and
deterioration of repayment ability. Thus, credit loss allowance
of these debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer are
measured on lifetime ECL basis.

The Group engaged an independent qualified valuer to
perform ECL assessment on these debt instruments by
determining an appropriate probability of default, the estimated
loss given default of each debt instrument and forward-
looking adjustments. The Directors work closely with the
independent qualified valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, ECL on
debt instruments at FVTOCI of HK$2,283,000 (2022:
HK$1,579,000,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI (continued)

For the remaining debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by
other bonds issuers, the Directors considered that the credit
risk on these investments is limited as these bonds securities
listed on Irish Stock Exchange were issued by issuers in Hong
Kong with good creditability. The Directors assess ECL on
these debt instruments at FVTOCI based on the default rates
published by major international credit rating agencies that are
applicable to the respective debts instruments credit grades.
As a result of this assessment, the Directors are of the opinion
that the ECL on these debt instruments is insignificant.

Other items

As at 31 December 2023, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group arising
from the amount of financial guarantees provided by the
Group is disclosed in Note 38.

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts
was HK$322,266,000 (2022: HK$556,851,000) as at 31
December 2023. At the end of the reporting period, the
Directors have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at
an amount equal to 12m ECL. The management considers
the probability of default is low and accordingly, ECL was
considered as insignificant. Details of the financial guarantee
contracts are set out in Note 38.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Directors monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensure compliance with loan covenants during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. At 31 December 2023, the Group has available
unutilised bank borrowings facilities of HK$14,608,037,000
(2022: HK$14,223,181,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

36. £ I H

Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEREEEERRE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRAR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEBNE D ]G R e e 7
Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1year 2years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan ~ morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
SEARE  -ERE O RENL
nEY) KBRS [BTEE  EFEE  fBTEE #iRRS
ERE @AM -f i3 B BBEE  REAE REE
%  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000
ThR TEn TR TR TR T TR
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=E+-F=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilites 3£+ 4RERE
Trade and other payables B ARAERER - 418475 - - - - 4184751 4184751
Blls payables ENZE - 661,797 - - - - 661,797 661,797
Bank borrowings B8
- fived rate -EE 0.89 595,630 - - - - 595,630 594,308
- varigble rate -8 5.39 45415 7418855 7196469 9,391,553 906,199 25208491 22,328,375
Lease abiies HEQE 441 1,024 2099 1,205 kl 107 5,440 501
5808617 7420954 7,157,674 92391592 907,272 30,746,100 27,774,242
Financial quarantee contracts BBERAY 320,266 - - - - 3% -

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. ﬁﬁﬂlf&(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHEREEEERRE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRAR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) TRENE D R E R ()
Qver QOver QOver
Weighted 3 months Tyear 2 years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
effectie  orlessthen  morethan  morethan  more than Over  undiscounted Camjing
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
ZEANE -ENE RENE
MEDy REXY ETEER ETER BTEE AiERS
ERHE  ZRAR - k3 GIE -] S i GEE
% HK$000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000 HKS 000
Thn Thn Thn T Thn Thn Thn
At 31 December 2022 R_E-ZEtZR=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilites 344 RERE
Trade and other payables B ARAERER - 4004804 - - - - 4024804 4024804
Blls payables ENZE - 650,061 - - - - 650,061 650,061
Bank borrowings B8
- fived rate -EE 26 54638 - - - - 54,638 54,285
- Varigble rate -%8 53 1317250 4069243 3610413 12539353 962521 22498780 19692817
Lease abiies HEQE 466 1200 3,406 2975 1318 1120 10014 9,189
604793 4072649 3613388 12540666 963641 27208207 24,431,216
Financial quarantee contracts EBERAD 556,851 - - - - 55851 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2023, the
aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank
borrowings amounted to HK$nil (2022: HK$1,045,134,000).
As the amounts have has been fully repaid in current year,
details of balances as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the
table below:

36. £ I H

(b)

BEKREEBEEZEREEK
(58)

REBESER(E)
TEENE 2 R FEfe K (&)

R EMBEADATFR - [REKK
AR —BHEBEMEA
PME S EE A IGREERITE
E - R-T-_=F+_fF=+—
H EFRITEENRMEAR
SBEATEL(ZE =
1,045,134,000/87T) - R ZE
HIEBRAFERHEE K=
T+ A=+ HNES
FEEANTE

Maturity Analysis - Bank loans with a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

HHRAMT - B2 RERERRA ZRTER (R HENAN)

Less than
1 year

HR-F
HK$000
TR

31 December 2022 —“Z--#+-f=1-H 45,692

1-2
years

-EmF

HK$'000
TER

48,184

2-5
years

WELE

HK$000
T

159,504

Total
Over undiscounted Carrying
5years cash outflows amount
AERRE
k-4 it 2 KaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TR
791,754 1,045,134 804,180

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in Note 29, several of the Group’s HIBOR bank
loans may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform.
The Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR
and HONIA will co-exist.

Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark
interest rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new
contracts entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible. Otherwise, the Group
ensured the relevant contracts include detailed fallback
clauses clearly referencing the alternative benchmark rate and
the specific triggering event on which the clause is activated.

In addition, for a floating rate loan that is linked to HIBOR, the
Group had confirmed with the relevant counterparty HIBOR
will continue to maturity.

The Group is not subject to significant risk arising from the
transaction in relation to the interest rate benchmark reform.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

36. £ I H

(b)

MERREEREERREE
()

Flgeys

i EE20RTR - AL E M E T
BARITRZERBRITERT 4L
BRIMEEEYEOTE - K
EETERTEREBHEE
M 2 @EETE - B ARERTT
RIS ERBER 2 Ak -

BB IRTTIRIZE I

HAD RBEBERBRIFHFIH
F([BEBERIFRFENED S
BRRITRAERE ZBRAE
HERES AR B N BEMBRBRIT
RIZEFFE 28 - BERMZE
MEWFHER - FRRITRESR
BB IR TN AT A
iz o

BEITBRREENTER

ERAEEEERMRE N — &
7o AEERFTHH A K AR
BREENKKFAETIZAE
FENFIREE - TR - AEKE
HERIBAA O RREFANE R
X BARERR A EE R R AN
BRI AR ET -

AN - R EEFBRITRIZERE
HIEFRER - ANEED EA
MRS TFHRBEBRITRENR

BSHEE=DH -

ANER E A MR AR R
BHENZZELNERER -



>

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(c)

BEHEERRAA

36. £ I H

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) =SMIENATEE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are BELEHEERAFEFERZ
measured at fair value on a recurring basis AEEERMEEZAFE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair REFETDEREENSREDR
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table MERE AR A TEE - T%X
gives information about how the fair values of these financial Ml EEETZSEeREEAT
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) Bz HEA(LERFAZGER
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy T & A BiR ) LA K 3% A P AR
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels ERABEBEZIBEREEBAF
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair BitE0 B2 A FESHER
value measurements is observable. (BE—2=fE)2&H -
Relationship of
Significant unobservable
Fair value Valuation techniques unobservable  inputs to
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy and key inputs inputs fair value
EXFUER TUBREAE
SREE RTZA=t-ANATE  AVEEESR MERGRIZAAEE BAYE ENVENEE
2023 2022
ZB-cF S
HK$'000 HKS'000
TiEn TEL
(| Listed equity securities classified 11,124,756 6,541,017 1 Quoted bid prices in active N/A N/A
as equity instruments at FVTPL market
i) PEARLTE A BRMERIA REETRMH EANE TERm TER
L ETBAES
(i) Listed bond securities classified 861,970 629,933 2 Quoted prices in the over- N/A N/A
as debt instruments at FVTOCI the-counter market
) AERRRTETALbZEREN MBI BT HE TER TER
EBIA tmESES
There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 during the REE-ZT - =FK T -—F
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. +ZA=+—HLtFER " F—
RELEE — A o [N fR SRS o

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost approximate to their fair values.

EXZR R HAIRBIHRATR
MEREELSRBENKREE
EENFERE

B =FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

37. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS  37. B4R HMiE&iE
2023 2022
—E-=5 —E -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not FEETAVE RN G B SRR
provided in the consolidated financial ERBE 2 EART S ¢
statements in respect of:
— acquisition of property, plant and —EEWE - BELRE
equipment 1,126,342 575,776
Other expenditure contracted for but not FEETAVERINRE B HRER
provided in the consolidated financial ERBE 2z A
statements in respect of:
- acquisition and other expenditures relating —BAFEEMEY
to properties held for development WS K2 Eo A i s2 334,360 658,912
1,460,702 1,234,688

38. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
CONTRACTS

The Group provided guarantees amounting to HK$322,266,000 (2022:
HK$556,851,000) as at 31 December 2023 to facilitate mortgage
bank loans applications of purchasers of the properties that were
developed by the Group.

The guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of registration of the relevant
mortgage properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39.

PR AR MY

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017, Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the KLHL.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

The trial was originally listed for a five-day hearing from 16 January
to 20 January 2023. On 7 December 2022, the Petitioner made an
application for a letter of request to be issued by the Supreme Court
of Bermuda and addressed to the Supreme Court of Singapore
(the “Singapore Letter of Request”) for its assistance in the ordering
against two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents
in their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period at least two months. Further to a hearing on 14
December 2022, the issue of the Singapore Letter of Request and
the adjournment were order by the Court. Despite the adjournment,
expert reports were exchanged in 16 November 2022, and a joint

expert report has been filed on or around 22 December 2022.

On 27 July 2023, the Petitioner made another application for a Letter
of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 24 August
2023, the issue of the Hong Kong Letter of Request was ordered by

the Court on 7 September 2023.

On 18 September 2023, the Petitioner filled a Notice to Admit Facts
requiring the Group to admit several facts related to and/or referred to
in the evidence in support of the Hong Kong Letter of Request. On 28
September 2023, the Group filed a Notice of Non-Admission. The trial

of this matter is to be relisted.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the Board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability

has been made in connection with the claim.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERRME
40. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 40. KEHERHE
2023 2022
—ECo=5 T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
The Group as lessor: AEEERHEA :
Rental income credited to the consolidated RERNFTAGREBEERZ
statement of profit or loss during the year el A 1,470,460 1,290,775
The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for REBZIREYEIRBREEECER
periods up to thirty years (2022: twenty five years) at fixed pre- MeWHTE=R HEBHEERRA=TH
determined amounts. TEICF ZFRF) e
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: BEAHERNEBCREVRAENFHAT
2023 2022
—EC-=H =St =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within one year —F R 1,089,273 1,001,486
In the second year WE—F 810,928 761,289
In the third year RE=F 655,312 601,884
In the fourth year REIF 568,410 507,792
In the fifth year RERF 467,468 444 452
After five years AF% 2,758,590 2,730,457
6,349,981 6,047,360
41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 41. EEEH

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following assets
pledged to banks to secure the banking facilities of the Group:

RREHEERER  AEBETIEE
EERTRT - FRAKERITRERN

iR
2023 2022
—EC-=5F T4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Investment properties "EME 1,848,899 3,815,960
Properties held for development Ry 2,259,253 2,022,969
4,108,152 5,838,929

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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42.

PR AR MY

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group and are invested in the
funds under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme are
members of both the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after December 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme. The ORSO Scheme was funded by
monthly contributions from both employees and the Group at 10% of
an employee’s salary. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees and each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 (2022: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payrolls to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the
state-sponsored pension schemes of HK$247,354,000 (2022:
HK$263,727,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As at
31 December 2023, contributions of HK$15,413,000 (2022:
HK$16,937,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the end of
reporting period. There is no forfeited contributions that may be need
to reduce the existing level of contributions under the Group’s ORSO
Scheme, MPF Scheme and state-sponsored pension schemes.
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43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 43. MEEHEEZEEZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING HER
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRFVNAEBMEEDEE 2 BEE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 8 BIEESNIERSEH - gELH
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EX7EERRERECR KRR
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s ESHREBNANERNGEIRETRERD
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HARMEBETEMERESTENEAE -
activities.
Lease Bank Interest Dividends
liabilities borrowings payable payable Total
HEaE RITHEE EFFIE EfRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAL FHL T FAL
At 1 January 2022 il bl =] 10,403 18,405,934 16,666 866,769 19,299,772
Financing cash flows BERLRE (4,826) 1,345,650 (526,470) (4,564,651) (8,750,297
New leases entered MAHE 3,899 - - - 3,899
Interest expenses recognised PNRABRREIN
in the consolidated statement FEEZ
of profit or loss 433 - 503,839 - 504,272
Interest expense capitalised BRI BT - - 23,775 - 23,775
Dividend declared on ordinary shares 25 R % @RI S - - - 3,088,089 3,038,089
Dividend declared to non-controlling 2 [&)H B A & 2 SFEARAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries BRZRE - - - 1,115,215 1,115,215
Exchange adjustments R (720) (4,422) - - (5,142)
At 31 December 2022 W-ZE-—#+-A=+—H 9,189 19,747,162 17,810 455,422 20,229,583
Financing cash flows BERERE (4,453) 3,201,611 (1,110,903) (1,452,393) 633,862
New leases entered HHE 34 - - - 34
Interest expenses recognised NRABRERETN
in the consolidated statement FlEFX
of profit or loss 329 - 1,124,134 - 1,124,463
Interest expense capitalised BRI ERS - - 24,705 - 24,705
Dividend declared on ordinary shares B8k Z IS - - - 1,562,719 1,562,719
Dividend declared to non-controling 2 [EIHi B A 7 2 3EERARE
shareholders of subsidiaries Bk ZIE - - - 214,859 214,859
Exchange adjustments I 5 % (88) (26,090) - - (26,178)
At 31 December 2023 oy e 5,011 22,922,683 55,746 780,607 23,764,047
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Sales of goods to subsidiaries of a shareholder

with significant influence on the Group
Purchase of goods from subsidiaries of a
shareholder with Significant influence
on the Group
Sales of goods to a non-controlling

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year.

M REEAERTE NN
RV R RIS E S M
M REBEASERTZE NN
PR EVH B R RIRIE & M

A —FE Y 8 2 B 2 FFHR AR AR

44.

shareholder of a subsidiary HEEMR
Purchase of goods from an associate m—AEE A RREE .
Sales of properties to Director MEEHEME

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEALRS

BiRa MR E MO TREESN
REBRFREFBTIZATERAR
2

o

2023 2022
—E-=4F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T T
455,085 534,466
928,238 971,470
24,590 39,016
260,066 301,334

- 82,434

The transaction above constituted continuing connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments at
31 December 2023 was an amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of HK$6,332,000 (2022: HK$9,365,000)
which was in trade nature. The Group allowed credit periods of up
to 120 days (2022: 120 days), depending on the products sold to its
related parties.

Included in trade and other receivable as at 31 December 2023
was an amount due from an associate of HK$6,148,000 (2022:
HK$3,772,000) which are trade-nature. Included in trade and other
payables as at 31 December 2023, was an amount due to a joint
venture of HK$137,500,000 (2022: HK$137,500,000) which are non-
trade-nature. Both amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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R-ZZBE-=ZF+-_A=+—H EBHZK
HEWERRBNREREBRE
SEE 7 EW— KB AR Z FEER
&% B 50786,332,000/8 0 (Z T = =4
9,365,000/8 7T ) ° ANEE M EEEEA T
BRHZEEHREA120B8(=E ==
F :120H) - RFAHEZERME °

R-ZBE-=ZF+-_A=+—H EBHZK
HEmERERREERNE S EE 2 IR
— [EB 4 A B FRIE6,148,0008 T ( — &
— = :3,772,0007C) c R=ZZT ==
F+-A=1+—8 BSRHEHMENE
REEBRESHEZ BN —MaED
¥ FXIE 137,500,000 L (ZE = —4F :
137,500,000/ 7T) © :ZFA BUIA A%
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@ BEHEERRAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
AY ——
44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44, BEAETRF @)
(continued)
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASME
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key FR EENHMTEEBEASZHS
management during the year was as follows: PN
2023 2022
—Bo=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Short-term employee benefits EHEB R 192,508 222,528
Post-employment benefits RINERET] 1,648 1,569
Share-based payments & AT R 59,354 59,733
253,510 283,830
The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by EFEERTETHRABZMeLEFMNEZE
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of SERENEIRREAMSBEEE
individuals and market trends. JE °

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(@

General information of subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

HELRER

Jamplan (BVI) Limited

Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates Co. Limited
BIF () BERARAA

Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates Co. Ltd.

R (%) BESRARLT

Kingboard (Hebei) Cokechem
Company Limited
MR RERARAT

Golden Concept Development Limited
(“Golden Concept’)
B ERARANA ([818])

Two London Wall Place Limited

Kingboard (Hengyang) Indlustrial Co., Ltd.
B (85) E2ERAT

Kingboard (Guangdong) Electronic
Special Materials Co. Ltd
B (BX) STERIHARRA

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
L/
BERESNE

B
REBRUES

PRC!
B8

PRC!
o

PRC'
RE

Hong Kong
B

Jersey Island?
i
PRC!

o

PRC!
o

45.

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered capital

DETRARRA/EMER
2023 2022
ZECCE “EoCE
US$1,000 US$1,000
1,000%7 10007
US$29,466,000 15$29,466,000
29,466,000 7 29,466,000% T
US$17,936,576 US$17,936,576
179365765 70 17,936 5765
RMB620,000,000 RMB420,000,000
AR$620,000000%  AK%420,000,00070
HK$10,000 HK$10,000
10,0007 10,0007
GBP36,587,021 (GBP36,587,021
36,587,021345 36,587,021 5
HK$214,000,000 HK$214,000,000
214,000,000387 214,000,000 7T
US$13,700,000 US$13,700,000
13,700,000% 7 13,700,000% T

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

AARNETEMBELARAZ

15

(@ MEBATN—RER
KRB ZFR T —F+—
A=+—8 ARAEEHRBR
A EFBWT -

Effective equity interest

held by the Group Principal activities
IEERAERRE  IEER
2023 2022
“B-cF -ZoCF
% %
100* 100*  Investment holding
RERR
73.76 73.76 Manufacture and distrioution
of laminates
HERAERRER
73.76 73.76 Manufacture and distrioution
of laminates
HERAERRER
100 100 Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals
HERS B IER
85 85 Property developments
nERE
100 100 Property investments
MERE
100 100 Manufacture and distribution
of caustic soda
SERAHER
73.76 73.76 Manufacture and distrioution
of glass fabric
SERABRR AN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@)

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

KBCF

Kingboard Investments Limited

BRREERAR

KLHLA
BERERERERLR

Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) Co., Lid.

/I k/a T&ﬁﬁ N ﬂ

Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical Co., Ltd.
B (%) {t LERAT

Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) Co., Ltd
L/Ej * (tbm EE

Qing Yuan Kai Rong De Electronic
Special Materials Co., Ltd
FRIXEZTERMHARAA

Kai Rong De (Shaoguan) Glass Fiber. Co Ltd

A (B8 JRBAARLA

Qing Yuan Chung Shun Century
Electronic Materials Co., Ltd
BREAEHEEFIHARLA

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
AL/
BEREENY

Bermuda #
BRE:

Hong Kong *

Cayman Islands *

REES
PRC'
A

PRC'
AR

PRC'
AR

PRC'
AR

PRC'
A

PRC'
A

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

45.

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered capital

BRARARRE/HREAR
2023 2022
—ECCE “E-oCE
US$72,250,000 US$72,250,000
72,250,000% 75 72,250,000% 70
HK$8,000 HK$8,000
8,000%7 8,000/
HK$312,000,000 HK$312,000,000
312,000,000 7 312,000,000
HK$242,800,000 HK$242,800,000
242,800,000/ 7 242,800,000
US$32,000,000 1S$32,000,000
32,000,000%7 32,000,000%7
US$32,010,000 15$32,010,000
32,010,000%7 32,010,000% 7
RMB130,000,000 RMB130,000,000
AR¥130,000000%  AK%130,0000007
RMB142,000,000 RMB142,000,000
ARE142000000%  AK%142,0000007
US$72,319,600 US$72,319,600
72,319600% 7 72,319 60057

72
==

i3

4
b
J
ant
@
]
Il

7 EMBELT 2

(@ HEIAN-—RERE

Effective equity interest

held by the Group

FEEGEZERRE
2023 2022

“E-cE -E-C
% %
73.76 7376
100 100
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
73.76 7376
100 100
73.76 7376

Principal activities

IEER

Investment holding
BB

Investment holding
BB

Investment holding
BB

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

SERDHBHAR

Manufacture and distribution
of chemicals
LERAHLIER

Manufacture and distribution
of laminates

SERDHBHAR

Manufacturing and distrioution
of glass fabric

SEERDHARGEN

Manufacturing and distribution
of glass fabric

HEERDHAREEN

Manufacturing and distribution
of glass yam

HEERDHRREEYG



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45. X NBFEME AT Z
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY FH185 0
(continued)
(@  General information of subsidiaries (continued) (@ KBARN—RER®E
Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid Effective equity interest
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
AL/
WEARER BEREENY BRIRARNE/HRER IRERAERRE  IEER
2023 2022 2028 2002
it “E--fF ZECZE O ZE-C
% %
Kaiping Elec & Eftek Company Limited PRC? US$55,570,000 1S$55,570,000 9% 9% Manufacture and distribution
ELFREETARAT i 55,5710,000£ 70 55 5700005 T of PCBs

RERDHEDRIGHRR

Kaiping Elec & Eftek No. 3 Company Limited ~ PRC? US$87,800,000 1S$87,800,000 9 9% Manufacture and distribution
R EARLT i BTO00ORT 6780000057 OIpCEs
SERAHIRIRER

Kaiping Elec & Eftek No. 5 Company Limited ~ PRC? US$61,750,000 US$61,750,000 9 9% Manufacture and distribution
AT ERART i BITS00ORTE  G6150000%T OIpCEs
SERAHIRIRER

Express Electronics (Suzhou) Company PRC! US$41,908,800 US$41,908,800 100 100 Manufacturing and distrioution
Limited e 41,908,800 41,908, 80057 of PCBs

#5587 BN BRAT SERARERIFER

Kin Yip Technology Electronics PRC! HK$460,000,000 HK$460,000,000 100 100 Manufacturing and distrioution
(Huizhou) Co., Ltd R 460,000,000 460,000,000 of PCBs

BERRET (EM) ARAA BERAHEIRIRE R

Huizhou Chung Shun Chemical PRC! US$40,290,000 1U5$40,290,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Company Limited il 40,290,000%7 40,290,000% T of phenol/acetone

BMBELIERAR BERAHER /AN

Shi You Chemical (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd PRC! US$134,117,000 US$134,117,000 100 100 Refining and distribution of

BRI (BM) BRAR RE 134,117,000£ 7 134,117 00020 chemicals

HERABNIER

Kingboard Electronic Raw Material PRC! US$30,000,000 1U5$30,000,000 73.76 7876 Manufacture and distribution
(Jiang Yin) Co,, Ltd R 30,000,000% 7 30,000000% of laminates

RES TR (IR) ARAT SERAEERER

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
(@) General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Place of
incorporation/
registration Issued and fully paid
Name of subsidiary and operation share capital/registered capital
AL/
KRAAER BERERNE BRARERRA/HRER
2023 2002
kS 3 -5 -
Kingboard (Guangzhou) Advanced Materials ~ PRC! RMB250,000,000 RMB250,000,000
Co. Ltd. e AE#250,000000%  AKH250,000,0007C

B (RM) EFIHEERR AT

The Company directly holds the equity interest in Jamplan (BVI)
Limited. The Company’s equity interest in all other subsidiaries is
held indirectly through Jamplan (BVI) Limited.

# These are investment holding companies which have no specific
principal place of operations.

a These companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprises. the English names of these
companies are for identification purpose only.

2 The subsidiary was acquired during the year ended 31 December
2022 as detailed in Note 34.

8 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture. the English names of these
companies are for identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

i3

(@)

72
==

T
4
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)
at
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5>
all

7 EMBELT 2

FiE AR —RER ()

Effective equity interest

held by the Group Principal activities

ARENECERRE  IEER

2023 2022
“E-cE -E-C
% %

73.76 7376 Manufacture and distribution

of chemicals

RERN B TER

* A RE BRI Jamplan (BVI)
LimitedZ f&#& AR 2 BRET
AEMK B QR 2 REE S
i@Jamplan (BVI) Limitedf&#
EeX=I

’ WEREREZERRQT  TE
e ERIZEME -

o UEE A BIRBE R PR £ ©

! FZERFAINEBERET
ARPBKL - ZERFH
B ATHIER -

2 ZHBARRBE=T==
F+-A=Z+—RHLEFEWK
88 - FHIEEAMIFESS ©

3 ZERRARINEGERAR
2= AVARE =N [0
LIRS -

ERFDISEERRIBZENR
SEXEREEZAR TW%“
A EERAIILEMHER
ZHRBEEBERITE -

R

S

BB A Rl R AR AR T THE
fAIEREES o



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45, A TEEWE’\ A2z

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY F1E =

(continued)

(@)  General information of subsidiaries (continued) (@ MBATN—RERE)
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other HARNRW FAEBANEMMHER
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal A o ZEMB AR T BEKE
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows: AMEAT -

Number of subsidiaries
MEARSA
Principal activities Principal place of business 2023 2022
FEEK FTEEEMEB —E-=fF —EICF
Manufacture and sale of laminates PRC 33 32
B3 R SHE B IR E R A EY
Macau 1 1
BT
Thailand 1 1
ZrEl
35 34
Manufacture and sale of PCBs Hong Kong 4 4
U3 T $H 6 EDRI 4R R AR BB
PRC 15 15
H
Macau 2 2
JBFT
Thailand 1 1
ZrEl
22 22
Manufacture and sale of chemicals PRC 20 20
BlERHEE(CIER AR
Properties Hong Kong 18 18
S BB
PRC 52 52
H
United Kingdom 6 6
=
76 76
153 152

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests:
Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting
and principal rights held by
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests
B FERERSERTRERES
HEAREH REBEEBY RREEEIN
2023 2022
ZB-CE ZE-CfF
KLHL* Cayman Islands 26.24% 26.24%
RERER REHE
Golden Concept Hong Kong 15% 15%
e Bk

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

AR ER . BT EANBAR

%.$A R FEMBARZ

(b) HEEERFEREZZF
ERENBLRFE
TREHNEE BRI R 2
AEEFZEWBRRFS

Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests
ARIFERER
2ER(E8) Rt ERER
2023 2022 2023 2022

—B-cf —F--F CZB-ZE -ZI--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT FiEn THEx T
238,102 500807 3,023,204 3,931,791

2,052 11,951 463,160 461,108

40,977 20,576 306,897 245,217

281,131 533,334 4,693,261 4,638,176

# excluding non-controlling interests of KLHL subsidiaries.

# TREREEERIE QR
R SRR R o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

45.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests (continued)

KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

ZISATEEMTE"TZ

Hth

(b) ERERFEREZZHE
EREMEARFREE

KLHL and subsidiaries EEBERRRME AR
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Current assets TRENVEE 13,816,935 13,721,293
Non-current assets JEMBNE E 9,745,949 10,578,519
Current liabilities mENBEE 5,595,311 4,707,566
Non-current liabilities IERBEE 2,992,336 4,520,255
Equity attributable to AREEHE AELER
owners of the Company 11,028,031 11,117,101
Non-controlling interests of KLHL BUETEE R IEE AR 3,923,204 3,931,791
Non-controlling interests of EEEERA M E AR
KLHL’s subsidiaries FEFERR M A 24,002 23,099
Revenue Wz 16,750,248 22,363,680
Cost of sales, expenses, HEMRA « FI -
other gains and losses E s & EsiE 15,841,604 20,454,296
Profit for the year NEEEA 908,644 1,909,384
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that

have material non-controlling interests (continued)
KLHL and subsidiaries (continued)

BEHEERRAA

E310)

%.$QEEEWEQEZ

) BEREEXRFEZEREZRZHF
2EREMBLRAFEE)
BEEEERKHWELR(E)

2023 2022
—E—=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Profit attributable to owners of the Company AKRAREHB ARG T 669,300 1,408,362
Profit attributable to the non-controlling EETE ERIEIE AR A
interests of KLHL i tapiawl 238,102 500,807
Profit attributable to the non-controling BEREERNMB AR
interests of KLHL’s subsidiaries FE2E AR 7 FE A i 1,242 215
Profit for the year ARE =T 908,644 1,909,384
Other comprehensive expense attributable AAEFEH AEREM
to owners of the Company 2HEMAX (178,949) (1,281,185)
Other comprehensive expense attributable BEEER IR R
to the non-controlling interests of KLHL EEEMEERY (63,660) (453,575)
Other comprehensive expense attributable EEBEERME R A
to the non-controlling interests of SEPE RS M RS R E A
KLHL'’s subsidiaries 2EMAXZ (339) (2,204)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AREEHEMPEFES (242,948) (1,736,964)
Total comprehensive income attributable ViN/NEIESY DN A
to owners of the Company 2HRERE 490,351 127,177
Total comprehensive income attributable BERERE IR E R
to the non-controlling interests of KLHL iR EWRESERE 174,442 47,232
Total comprehensive income (expense) EEEERMBAR
attributable to the non-controlling IR (G R E
interests of KLHL’s subsidiaries LONGEPL L 903 (1,989)
Total comprehensive income for the year NEEZ P EK R 665,696 172,420
Dividend paid to non-controlling AR ETEEEER
interest of KLHL VIR 2 = (1,553)
Net cash inflow from operating activities TR B AR 823,721 5,992,106
Net cash outflow from investing activities HEFESREE L FHE (739,325) (2,330,141)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BB EEIRE R 5 (1,320,734) (3,143,214)
Net cash (outflow) inflow R (R RNFSR (1,236,338) 518,751

B FFR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45. KRB EEHB AT Z

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY H1E

(continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that ) HBEEREEREZZIE
have material non-controlling interests (continued) 2EEEWBLRAFR @)
Golden Concept A&

2023 2022
—Bo=F —Eo—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Current assets TRENVEE 2,916,548 2,843,317
Current liabilities mHAE 1,801,595 143,608
Equity attributable to owners KARFE AEEER
of the Company 947,710 2,294,753
Non-controlling interests IEFE IR i o 167,243 404,956
Revenue Wz 52,683 288,732
Expenses, other gains and losses X - Hialiazm REE 39,006 209,057
Profit for the year AR 13,677 79,675
Profit and total comprehensive income KRR B ARG &
attributable to owners of the Company EEESAA%E 11,625 67,724
Profit and total comprehensive income JEFE IR S R (s I &
attributable to the non-controlling interests 2 Ej Y25 4858 2,052 11,951
Profit and total comprehensive AREF R &
income for the year 2 HKEREE 13,677 79,675
Net cash inflow (outflow) from LETRENIESIRA
operating activities (fEH ) 588 173,685 (123,135)
Net cash outflow from investing activites & EEIR S m L HEE (1,180) (849)
Net cash outflow from financing activites & & EHIR & m H 58 (152,979) (95,227)
Net cash inflow (outflow) B RACKT ) F5E 19,526 (219,211)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

b
J
ant
@
]
i

46. A1z B ik K
B

2023 2022
—EB-=5 —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT

Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIE 1,880,215 1,913,057
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR B A T RIA 21,593,501 22,160,440
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEGFABENER LA 465,915 402,997
23,939,631 24,476,494

Current assets MEEE
Other receivables Hh fEU AR R 107,041 112,553
Amounts due from subsidiaries i NGB/ 12,350,000 11,050,000
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEFAEZEOER TR 1,303,542 1,170,327
Cash and cash equivalents BE MRS EEER 150,181 193,758
13,910,764 12,526,638
Current liabilities mENEE

Other payables H b e 508 1,255,487 1,260,355
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEIHTB A RFIA 8,650,000 3,037,048
Bank borrowings — amount due within one year BT & — —F R 2|H 2 708 200,000 1,100,000
10,105,487 5,397,403
Net current assets MENEEFE 3,805,277 7,129,235
Total assets less current liabilities EERERTBEE 27,744,908 31,605,729

Non-current liabilities JEREAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHE A RIFRIA 20,899,715 24,844,877
20,899,715 24,844,877
6,845,193 6,760,852

Capital and reserves AR A R
Share capital %N 110,831 110,879
Reserves (Note) (B aE) 6,734,362 6,649,973
6,845,193 6,760,852

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

46. 2D T
CEE

Bt 5 AR O3 D A

Note: BifEE -
Share-
Capital based
Share Translation redemption payments Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
MRAHR
REE EffE ELEERE ARGEE REEF @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT FET FAL FET FHL
Balance at 1 January 2022 RIZ-—F-F-RAz&E8 6,630,959 67,684 1911 90 520,320 7,220,964
Profit for the year AEEHR - - - - 2,573,422 2,573,422
Exchange difference arising on RNEESREEMEEL
translation to presentation currency EREE - (183,624) - - - (183,624)
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AFEE M2 (FX) KE@E
for the year - (183,624) - - 2,573,422 2,389,798
Recognition of equity-settled ANEREENROHT AR
share-based payments - - - 77,300 - 77,300
Final dividend for the year ended B2-Z--%+-A=t-H
31 December 2021 IFEEZRERE - - - - (2,705,452) (2,705,452)
Interim dividend for the year ended BE-T--&5+-fA=t-B%
31 December 2022 FEZRERE - - - - (332,637) (332,637)
- - - 77300 (3088089  (2960,789)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-Z-—E+-f=+—A74&H 6,630,959 (115,940) 1,911 77,390 55,653 6,649,973
Profit for the year REZHT| - - - - 1,616,224 1,616,224
Exchange difference arising on R ER2REEMEEL
translation to presentation currency EXESR - (32,842) - - - (32,842)
Total comprehensive (expense) AEEEMEE(RR)
income for the year limes - (32,842) - - 1,616,224 1,583,382
Issue of new shares from exercise R REm S THRN
of share options 434 - - (90) - 344
Repurchase and cancelation of shares e LR (11,876) - - - - (11,876)
Recognition of equity-settied BRNEREERNRH AR
share-based payments - - - 75,258 - 75,258
Final dividend for the year ended (Z2-Z--F+-F=1-H
31 December 2022 HEE 7 KR - - - - (831,234) (831,234)
Interim dividend for the year ended H2-T--F+-fA=+-HZ
31 December 2023 FEPERS - - - - (731,485) (731,485)
(11,442 - - 75168 (1562719)  (1,498999)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-A=t—RA2&H 6,619,517 (148,782) 1,911 152,558 109,158 6,734,362
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@ BEHKEERRA A

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for RNEBE FEBREREMETNTE -
investment:

Group’s interest

rEESEER
Total
area (m?) 2023 2022
Location Existing use Tenure HWEE
b 2 B AR FHE (EFXK) Z=BZ=F —FT__fF
% %
Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Commercial Medium term lease 33,000 100% 100%
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong [(EES FREATHERTEE
BEANRY BAPIRREREENE
5-7/F, Overseas Trust Bank Building Commercial Medium term lease 2,000 100% 100%
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong ~ #g2 FREATHERTEE
ABSTITE16058IMEERITRE
5-71&
9-14/F, Overseas Trust Bank Building, Commercial Medium term lease 4,000 100% 100%
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong &2 FHIFEEA &
BEBELTITE16058IMEFERITRE
9-1442
Unit Nos.2301-2308, 26/F, 27/F, and Commercial Medium term lease 1,800 74% 74%
Car Parking Space No. 9 and No. 10 &% REAMHEATEE
on 2nd Floor, Overseas Trust Bank
Building, No. 160 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong
BEBETITE16058IMEFEIRITRE
2301-2303EM7 ~ 261 - 271E i 2iE
9& 109k BAL
One Aldgate, No. 1 Aldgate, London, Commercial Freehold 5,000 100% 100%
EC3N 1AA, United Kingdom GES K AEERE
88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, Commercial Freehold 8,000 74% 74%
5 and 7 Carlisle Avenue and EES KAERE
Part of Saracens Head Yard,
London, EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom
Moor Place, Fore Street, Commercial Freehold 21,500 100% 100%
London EC2Y 5BJ, United Kingdom g% KA EERE
Two London Wall Place Central London,  Commercial Long term lease 17,400 100% 100%
United Kingdom [EES REHHAE
Shanghai Modern Plaza, Commercial Medium term lease 17,000 100% 100%
369 Xian Xia Road, Changning District, % FRERTRERRE
Shanghai, the PRC*
B BB RERIIEK3699
HERRES
“ECFFR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following tables set out the Group’s material properties held for RNEBFEREREMENNTER - (8)
investment: (continued)

Group’s interest
rEERE#ER
Total
area (m?) 2023 2022
Location Existing use Tenure WA
ith B B AZR Eizh:t (EHXK) =B-=F =T
% %

Guangzhou Dongzhao Building, Commercial Medium term lease 91,000 100% 100%
No. 515 Dong Feng Central Road, [EES REATAEAEE
Yuexiu District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*
IR R E BN S I R E A
5165% BMERR A=

Guangzhou Kingboard Plaza, Commercial Medium term lease 72,000 100% 100%
Zhujiang New Town 1I-3, Tianhe District, &% FRERFHERTE E
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC*
FR B BRI T RO [ RT3
-3 BN EES

Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase |, Commercial Medium term lease 297,000 100% 100%
224 Xin Jing Road, Changning District, 7 FRHIAAIAE
Shanghai, the PRC*

T EEhRERINEEK22455%
FERERES 5

Huagiao Kingboard Plaza Phase |, Commercial Medium term lease 178,000 100% 100%
Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province, [EES FREAAEAEE
the PRC*

REDT#E I e B RS —H

Kunshan Centre Phase |, Zhong Hua Commercial Medium term lease 136,000 75% 75%
Yuan Road South and Huang Shan EES FREATAERTEE
Road West, Development District,
Kunshan City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC*
BT #E R IR ERREE R
=mILAEREILFO—H

Guanzhou Zhan Wang Digital Plaza, Commercial Medium term lease 58,000 100% 100%
No. 8 Shi Pai West Road, [EES h I E
Tianhe District Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province, the PRC*
Fh Bl B B A N T RO [ A W PR A 85
)N R SR B 255

Shanghai Kingboard Plaza Phase I, Commercial Medium term lease 87,000 100% 100%
Xie He Road and Fu Quan Road [EE FRERFAHATEE
Xinjing Town, Changning District
Shanghai, the PRC*
FE e RERINSERME &
=R DBEE RS
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@ BEHKEERRA A

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES
SEYEER

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for RNEBFBEHFERERMEINTE
development:

Group’s interest

Total ARG
Location Expected use area (m?) 2023 2022
o B st A% HERE(FF5K) —E-=F e~k 5
% %

Kingboard Qianhai Building, Commercial 88,000 100% 100%
Neighbourhood 5, Area 4, [EES
Guiwan District, Shen Gang
Xian Dai Services Cooperation
District, Qianhai, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC*
B ER G R TADERBERN
R A EEEERENE T
HFTERERE

Kunshan Centre Commercial 760,000 75% 75%
South of Zhong Hua, [EHES
Yuan Road, West of
Huang Shan Road,
Development District, Kunshan City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
F BT &R E B LU T A 3 2R [ B
FAHIE ILFE PR AR L0

Jing Ting, West of Furong Road, Residential 299,000 100% 100%
South of Nan Wei Road, =
Lujia Town, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC*
BT &R & FERER R B A -
EREARNEE

Pu An Garden, West of Yuan Guo Road, Residential 171,000 100% 100%
North of Jin Song Road, *=
Huagiao Development District
Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
RENTI A CMAEE - REEAE -
SMEILEERER

* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * FREY 2 2 SO B B R s
purposes only

B =FFR



@ KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

RESULTS E 35

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=t-HLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF —ECEF —E-F —ECCF —BC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FAT FAT FHT FHET FTET
Revenue EEE 41,160,851 43,510,274 56,755,274 49,375,901 39,712,499
Profit before taxation S hwl 5,122,913 7,936,416 15,576,660 6,777,072 2,787,711
Income tax expense FTiSHiFAX (1,353,933) (2,108,063) (3,022,599) (2,588,518) (443,609)
Profit for the year REZHEF 3,768,980 5,828,353 12,554,061 4,188,554 2,344,102
Attributable to: AT ALIEIG(AEE
Owners of the Company P/NCIES YN 3,094,421 4,702,884 10,778,032 3,655,220 2,062,971
Non-controlling interests FEERR iR 674,559 1,125,469 1,776,029 533,334 281,131
3,768,980 5,828,353 12,554,061 4,188,554 2,344,102
DIVIDEND AND BASIC RERER
EARNING PER SHARE EREF
Dividend per share for the year A [E FAILE HK138 cents  HK228 cents  HKB00 cents  HK105cents HK102 cents

1387811l 228751l 3007811l 105781l 102781l

Basic Earning per share based  LABEE 45 F 5t & #
on reported net profit BRERZF HK$2.850 HK$4.257 HK$9.729 HK$3.297 HK$1.861
2850770 4.2578 7T 9.72978 7T 3.207% T 1.86178 T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
®+=—A=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—ZT-NEF —EC-EE —T-—F —ERC-CF —E-=f
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAEL FAEL FHET FET FTER
Total assets BERTE 97,035,126 93,249,138 103,815,768 97,293,151 98,968,526
Total liabilities BEBE (39,065,476) (32,450,432) (35,132,475) (32,597,320) (34,533,904)

57,969,650 60,798,706 68,683,293 64,695,831 64,434,622

Equity attributable to ANSESTSUN A
owners of the Company i 50,188,565 55,864,903 63,017,172 60,057,655 59,741,361
Non-controlling interests FEiERR R 7,781,085 4,933,803 5,666,121 4,638,176 4,693,261

57,969,650 60,798,706 68,683,293 64,695,831 64,434,622

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



I< g2 8 % AR 2 7
KINGBOARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
BERNMALHAMTBH=RNEERE=1T=1&

Tel EFE : (852) 2605 6493 Fax {85 : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail £ : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #8341t © http://www.kingboard.com
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